The prevalence of Leptospira interrogans infection in

mature cattle in the United States

IS4 1989 M615 c. 3

by

David Alan Miller

A Thesis Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department: Veterinary Microbiology and Preventive Medicine Major: Veterinary Preventive Medicine

Signatures have been redacted for privacy

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pag	ze
-----	----

INTRODUCTION	1
EXPLANATION OF THESIS FORMAT	3
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Taxonomy of the Genus Leptospira	
Leptospirosis: A True Zoonosis	
Occurrence of <u>L</u> . <u>interrogans</u> Serovars in the United States	11
Leptospirosis in Animals	
Host species and serovars incriminated	13
Clinical manifestations and pathogenesis	15
Leptospirosis in Cattle	19
Serovars incriminated	19
Clinical manifestations	21
Prevention and control	26
Laboratory Diagnosis of Leptospirosis	31
Serological tests	31
Isolation	40
Fluorescent antibody tests	49
Other diagnostic methods	52
PART I THE EFFECT OF TRANSPORTATION TIME ON ISOLATION OF Leptospira interrogans FROM BOVINE KIDNEYS	55
SUMMARY	57
INTRODUCTION	58
MATERIALS AND METHODS	60

RESULTS		62
DISCUSSION		65
REFERENCES		67
PART II A	SURVEY TO ESTIMATE THE PREVALENCE OF <u>Leptospira</u> nterrogans INFECTION IN MATURE CATTLE IN THE NITED STATES	69
SUMMARY		71
INTRODUCTIO	ON	72
MATERIALS A	AND METHODS	75
RESULTS		79
DISCUSSION		91
REFERENCES		96
PART III H	RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> PREVALENCE RATES IN CATTLE AND REGIONAL, CLIMATIC, AND SEASONAL FACTORS	101
SUMMARY		103
INTRODUCTIO	ON	104
MATERIALS A	AND METHODS	106
RESULTS		108
DISCUSSION		116
REFERENCES		118
GENERAL SUN	MMARY AND DISCUSSION	120
LITERATURE	CITED	123
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		150

INTRODUCTION

Leptospirosis is an infectious disease of domestic animals, humans, and wildlife with almost worldwide distribution (Torten, 1979). The annual loss due to leptospirosis in United States livestock has been estimated at \$215 million (Stalheim, 1976). Losses occur due to abortions, stillbirths, infertility, acute and chronic illnesses, decreased milk production, and death. Cattle and swine are the species principally affected among the domestic animals in the United States. Horses, sheep, goats, and dogs are also susceptible. Infected domestic animals and wildlife are potential sources of infection for other animals and humans (Hanson, 1982).

The Leptospira interrogans serovars most frequently isolated from domestic animals in this country are <u>canicola</u>, <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u>, and <u>pomona</u>. On a worldwide basis, over 200 pathogenic serovars have been isolated and characterized, and all of them could potentially infect domestic animals or humans (Torten, 1979). The ability of leptospires to colonize the kidney and be shed in the urine for long periods is the most important factor in the dissemination of leptospirosis (Baldwin and Atkins, 1987). Shedding has been demonstrated for periods of months in cattle, swine, sheep, and horses and for years in dogs (Hanson, 1976a). Transmission of leptospirosis occurs directly by contact of urine from infected animals with mucus membranes or abraded skin (Michna, 1970), and indirectly through urinary contamination of food, water, or soil (Babudieri, 1958).

Historically, the diagnosis of leptospirosis has been difficult. Serological tests have been used since the early 1900s, but the interpretation of results has been complicated by cross-reactivity among <u>Leptospira</u> serovars, uncertainty as to what is a diagnostic titer, and failure of some infected animals to seroconvert. Improvements in media formulations and culture techniques have increased the probability of isolation of leptospires from clinical and post mortem specimens (Thiermann, 1984).

Serological surveys for prevalence of leptospirosis in cattle have been conducted in several states and the data have been tabulated to estimate prevalence in some regions (Stoenner and Glosser, 1975). Prevalence surveys based on isolation have been limited to states or small areas surrounding outbreaks (White et al., 1982; Nelson et al., 1973). A nationwide survey for prevalence of leptospirosis in cattle based on serological tests or isolation of leptospires has not been done.

The first objective of this study was to determine the effect of transportation time on isolation of leptospires from bovine kidneys (Manuscript 1).

The second objective was to estimate the prevalence of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States (Manuscript 2).

The third objective was to determine the relationships between leptospira prevalence rates in cattle and regional, climatic, and seasonal factors (Manuscript 3).

EXPLANATION OF THESIS FORMAT

This thesis consists of an introduction, a literature review, three separate manuscripts, a general summary and discussion, and a list of references. The candidate, David Alan Miller, is the senior author and principal investigator for each of the manuscripts.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Taxonomy of the Genus Leptospira

Leptospira is the single genus in the Family Leptospiraceae of the Order Spirochetales. Leptospires are obligately aerobic, tightly coiled, motile, rod-shaped bacteria that are 0.1 um in diameter and 6 to over 12 um in length and characteristically have one or both ends hooked (Johnson and Faine, 1984). The cells consist of a helical protoplasmic cylinder contained by a cytoplasmic membrane. An external membrane envelopes the whole organism. A flagellum referred to as an axial filament is inserted subterminally at each end of the protoplasmic cylinder. The flagella extend toward the middle of the organism and do not usually overlap. Leptospires have a characteristic rotatory motility that may be accompanied by flexing, boring, or serpentine movements (Faine and Stallman, 1982). Leptospires stain poorly with the aniline dyes and the unstained organisms cannot be seen by brightfield microscopy, but can be visualized by darkfield or phase-contrast microscopy (Johnson and Faine, 1984). The organisms may be observed with silver and Giemsa stains (Faine and Stallman, 1982).

Leptospires can be cultivated in media containing serum, serum albumin, or long-chain fatty acids with 14 carbons or more as sources of carbon and energy. They utilize inorganic ammonium salts, but not amino acids, as sources of nitrogen (Faine and Stallman, 1982). Thiamine (vitamin B_1) and cyanacobalamine (vitamin B_{12}) are required for growth (Wooley and Van Eseltine, 1968). The optimum pH range is 7.2 to 7.6 and the optimum growth

temperature range is 28 to 30 C (Faine and Stallman, 1982). Purines, but not pyrimidines, are utilized. Therefore, leptospires are resistant to the inhibitory action of 5-fluorouracil to which other spirochetes are sensitive (Johnson and Rogers, 1964). Growth appears as faint turbidity in liquid media, bluish-gray subsurface discs in semisolid media, and diffuse to discrete surface or subsurface colonies in soft agar plate media (Faine and Stallman, 1982).

Two species are currently recognized. <u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u> includes leptospires which are pathogenic to humans and animals. <u>L</u>. <u>biflexa</u> includes leptospires which are not pathogenic, but are commonly found in soil and water. The basic taxon of both species is the serovar which is determined by antigenic composition based on serological tests (Johnson and Faine, 1984) and cross agglutinin-absorption tests (Wolff, 1954). Another classification scheme based on DNA hybridization has been proposed (Yasuda et al., 1987). Comparison of fragments after digestion of genomes with restriction endonucleases has become a widely used method of identification of isolates (Marshall et al., 1981; Robinson et al., 1982; Hathaway et al., 1985; LeFebvre et al., 1985; Thiermann et al., 1986; Thiermann and Ellis, 1986; Gregoire et al., 1987; LeFebvre et al., 1987). Some serologically indistinguishable serovars have been shown to be genetically different (LeFebvre et al., 1987). Serovars within species cannot be differentiated on the basis of biochemical tests (Alexander, 1985).

<u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u> and <u>L</u>. <u>biflexa</u> can be differentiated on the basis of pathogenicity, serological tests, growth at 13 C, resistance to

8-azoguanine, and conversion to spherical forms in 1 M NaCl (Johnson and Faine, 1984). A third species, <u>L</u>. <u>illini</u> (Hanson et al., 1974), differs from <u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u> and <u>L</u>. <u>biflexa</u> in some phenotypic characteristics and in DNA annealing tests (Johnson and Faine, 1984). A new genus, "<u>Leptonema</u>", has been proposed for <u>L</u>. <u>illini</u> (Hovind-Hougen, 1979), but it is currently included in the Genus <u>Leptospira</u> as a *species insertae sedis* (Johnson and Faine, 1984). "<u>L</u>. <u>parva</u>" is somewhat different from other leptospires in morphology and DNA base composition, and has been proposed to be included in the genus <u>Leptospira</u> as a *species nova* (Hovind-Hougen et al., 1981).

The species <u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u> currently contains 214 recognized serovars (C. R. Sulzer, Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA, personal communication, 1988). New or previously unrecognized serovars are being characterized and reported frequently (Santa Rosa et al., 1972; Santa Rosa et al., 1975; Everard et al., 1980; Jones et al., 1982; Sulzer et al., 1984; Jones et al., 1984; Schmid et al., 1986; Coghlan and Kmety, 1987). Antigenically related serovars are classified in serogroups, and there are currently 23 recognized serogroups.

Leptospirosis: A True Zoonosis

A zoonosis is defined as a disease which is naturally transmitted between vertebrate animals and humans. Leptospirosis is an infection with one or more serovars of <u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u>, and has been described as the zoonosis with the widest geographical distribution. Pathogenic serovars have

been isolated in 77 countries and clinical or serological evidence indicates that the disease is present in domestic animals and humans in almost every country in the world (Torten, 1979). Human infection is not essential for maintenance of leptospirosis in nature (Walton, 1985). Humans appear to be accidental hosts who become infected through occupational exposure, invasion of wildlife environments, or close contact with infected pets (Hanson, 1982). Infected humans may shed leptospires in the urine for periods of weeks or months; shedding for a period of 11 months was reported in one case of serovar <u>australis</u> infection (Michna, 1970). Although transmission of leptospirosis among humans has rarely been documented, one case of intrauterine transmission (Faine et al., 1984), one case of suspected venereal transmission (Michna, 1970), and one case of transmission from mother to infant through breast feeding (Songer and Thiermann, 1988) have been reported.

Leptospirosis was first described as a distinct clinical entity in humans in 1886 by H. A. Weil, a German physician, 30 years before the etiological agent was shown to be a spirochete (Inada et al., 1916). The term "Weil's disease" became a widely used common name for the malady described as "a febrile illness with jaundice in epidemic or endemic form", and is usually associated with serovar <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> infections. The recognition that serovar <u>pomona</u> infections were transmitted from swine to humans led to the term "swineherd's disease" in Europe (Alston and Broom, 1958). Over 20 other synonyms for leptospirosis based on clinical signs ("hemorrhagic jaundice", "pretibial fever"), locations of outbreaks ("Fort

Bragg fever", "swamp fever"), or occupations of patients ("cane cutter's disease", "fish handler's disease") have been used (Torten, 1979). Although Stimson (1907) described a spirochete observed in tissues of a patient suspected of having yellow fever, the first proven case of human leptospirosis in the United States was not reported until 1922 (Wadsworth et al.). Stiles and Sawyer (1942) showed a definite association between activities or occupations of individuals (swimmers, sewer workers, fish handlers, farmers, abattoir workers, and veterinarians) and the occurrence of leptospirosis. The disease has also been described as one of soldiers. Much of the epidemiological data that are available came from leptospira infections of military personnel in training exercises or combat zones in swampy tropical or subtropical areas (Noguchi, 1918; Jeghers et al., 1934; Gochenour et al., 1953; Wisseman et al., 1955; McCrumb et al., 1957; Calero et al., 1957; Berman et al., 1973; Torten, 1979). The prevalence of leptospirosis has been characteristically higher in males than in females (Stiles and Sawyer, 1942; Giestfield, 1975; Martone and Kaufmann, 1979; Swart et al., 1983; Everard et al., 1984).

The unsuspected animal carrier of leptospirosis has been described as a major hazard for humans (Walton, 1985). Contact with rats and dogs was recognized early in the recorded history of the disease as a source of human infection (Jeghers et al., 1934; Meyer et al., 1938). Robertson et al. (1981) reported an outbreak of leptospirosis in trout farm workers in which there was evidence of rat infestation around ponds and feed storage sheds. Shenberg et al. (1977b) described five cases of serovar hardjo infection in

dairy farmers in Israel and demonstrated leptospira titers in the dairy cows and in rats and hedgehogs trapped in the vicinity. Serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection has been described as endemic in the majority of New Zealand dairy herds (Ryan et al., 1982) and over 1,000 human cases have been reported there annually (Deas, 1981). Heath et al. (1965) analyzed 483 human cases that occurred in the United States between 1949 and 1961 and observed that the majority of patients with serovar <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> infections had been exposed to rats, those with serovar <u>canicola</u> to dogs, and those with serovar <u>pomona</u> to cattle and swine. Swart et al. (1983) diagnosed leptospirosis caused by serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u> in 208 of 2,516 patients in Australia suspected of having some zoonosis and observed that 101 of the patients were farmers, 44 were meat workers, and 11 were meat inspectors.

Of 138 reported cases of human leptospirosis in the United States between 1971 and 1973 for which there was a probable source identified, 55% were associated with dogs, 21% with cattle and swine, 14% with rodents, and 9% with wildlife (Giestfield, 1975). An outbreak involving 19 human cases in Florida was reported in 1978, in which the source was identified as dairy cattle shedding the serovar <u>balcanica</u> (Martone and Kaufmann, 1979). Many human outbreaks involving significant numbers of people have been associated with swimming in ponds or streams to which domestic animals had access (Schaeffer, 1951; Cockburn et al., 1954; Williams et al., 1956; Braun, 1961; Gillespie and Ryno, 1963; Nelson et al., 1973). The majority of these outbreaks were traced to infected cattle and swine, although there

was evidence of infection in dogs, horses, and mules in some cases.

The incubation period of human leptospirosis may range from 3 to 30 days, but is usually 10 to 12 days (Alexander, 1985). Symptoms may vary widely. Among the most frequently observed symptoms in 746 cases reported between 1971 and 1978 in the United States were fever, headache, myalgia, jaundice, and stiff neck. Less frequently observed were nausea and vomiting, chills, anuria, rashes, and conjunctivitis. Initial clinical impressions in these cases indicated that leptospirosis accounted for approximately 26% of the diagnoses. Other common diagnoses were meningitis, fever of unknown origin, hepatitis, encephalitis, viral syndrome, and pneumonia (Giestfield, 1975; Martone and Kaufmann, 1979). Other clinical manifestations of leptospirosis may be interstitial nephritis (Lai et al., 1982), acute renal failure (Winearls et al., 1984), pulmonary involvement (Pathy, 1960), anterior uveitis (David and Barkay, 1976; Heath et al., 1965), extensive rashes over the pretibial areas of the legs (Bowdoin, 1942; Daniels and Grennan, 1943; Gochenour et al., 1952), anemia, cardiac involvement which may be severe enough to cause dilatation or left ventricular failure, delirium, hallucinations, psychoses, and mania (Edwards and Domm, 1966). Although most recognized cases of human leptospirosis are those with acute manifestations, Nicolescu and Andreescu (1984) observed that human infections may become chronic.

Giestfield (1975) stated that leptospirosis is undoubtedly underdiagnosed in the United States because it is not usually suspected by clinicians and is difficult for laboratories to diagnose. Prevalence estimates

in many countries probably lack accuracy because leptospirosis is not a reportable disease (Szatalowicz et al., 1969; Szyfres, 1976).

Occurrence of L. interrogans Serovars in the United States

Thirty-one pathogenic serovars belonging to 13 serogroups of leptospires have been isolated from humans, animals, or environmental sources in the United States. Other leptospires have been isolated and identified as to serogroup, but not to the serovar level (Ward et al., 1956; Roth et al., 1962; Gorman et al., 1962; Roth, 1964; Redetzke and McCann, 1980). Serovar <u>dakota</u> of the Icterohaemorrhagiae group has been isolated only from water (Alexander et al., 1962).

Serovars of the Autumnalis (Gochenour et al., 1952), Canicola (Meyer et al., 1938), Icterohaemorrhagiae (Wadsworth et al., 1922), Mini (Goley et al., 1960), and Pomona groups (Hale and Cathey, 1958; Nelson et al., 1973) have been isolated from human infections. Serovar <u>bratislava</u> of the Australis group has been isolated only from swine, and has not been associated with clinical signs of leptospirosis in the United States (Ellis and Thiermann, 1986). Other serovars isolated from swine were <u>canicola</u> (Ward et al., 1956), <u>grippotyphosa</u> (Hanson et al., 1971*a*), <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> (Schnurrenberger et al., 1970) and <u>copenhageni</u> of the Icterohaemorrhagiae group (D. A. Miller, National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Ames, IA, unpublished data, 1986), and <u>pomona</u> (Gochenour et al., 1952) and <u>kennewicki</u> (Thiermann et al., 1985) of the Pomona group. Serovars canicola (Turner et al., 1958), grippotyphosa (Hanson et al.,

1964*a*), <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> (Schnurrenberger et al., 1970), <u>copenhageni</u> (Miller, 1985), <u>szwajizak</u> of the Mini group (Glosser et al., 1974), <u>pomona</u> (Baker and Little, 1948), <u>kennewicki</u> (Nelson et al., 1973), and <u>hardjo</u> (Roth and Galton, 1960) and <u>balcanica</u> (White et al., 1982) of the Sejroe group have been isolated from cattle. Serovars isolated from dogs include <u>canicola</u> (Meyer et al., 1938), <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>ballum</u> (Cole et al., 1982), <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> (Randall and Cooper, 1944), and <u>pomona</u> (Murphy et al., 1958). Serovars <u>pomona</u> (Bryans, 1955) and <u>kennewicki</u> (D. A. Miller, National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Ames, IA, unpublished data, 1987) have been isolated from horses, and <u>pomona</u> has been isolated from goats (Hirschberg et al., 1956).

Twenty-four of the 31 serovars have been isolated from wildlife. Serovars <u>australis</u> of the Australis group, <u>autumnalis</u>, <u>mooris</u>, and <u>rachmati</u> of the Autumnalis group, <u>arboreae</u> of the Ballum group, <u>paidjan</u> of the Bataviae group, <u>orleans</u> and <u>louisiana</u> of the Louisiana group, <u>mozdok</u> of the Pomona group, <u>myocastoris</u> and <u>zanoni</u> of the Pyrogenes group, <u>sejroe</u> of the Sejroe group, and <u>atchafalaya</u>, <u>atlantae</u>, <u>bakeri</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u> of the Tarassovi group have been isolated only from wildlife (Roth, 1964; Galton, 1966; Sulzer, 1975; Zygmont, 1981). Of the 50 States, <u>sejroe</u> has been isolated only in Hawaii (Minette, 1964).

Leptospirosis in Animals

Host species and serovars incriminated

Although the etiology was unknown, leptospirosis was first recognized as a clinical entity in animals in 1850. A leptospirosis epidemic began in dogs in Stuttgart, Germany, in 1898 and the resulting name "Stuttgart disease" has been widely used as a synonym for canine leptospirosis (Torten, 1979). After the discovery of Inada et al. (1916) that spirochetes were the etiological agents of Weil's disease, it was observed that Stuttgart disease and Weil's disease were caused by identical microorganisms. Within 3 years after the discovery of the etiological agent, leptospires were shown to cause a severe icterohemorrhagic disease in puppies (Torten, 1979). Peaks in the widespread European epidemic occurred from 1921 to 1925 and from 1946 to 1952, and attracted considerable attention to the clinical manifestations of leptospirosis (Hartman, 1984). Kirkwood and Horning first reported canine leptospirosis in the United States in 1923, and observed that the disease which they referred to as "sore mouth" was spread by the urine of infected rats. Many surveys done since the advent of serological tests have indicated a worldwide distribution of canine leptospirosis (Michna and Ellis, 1973). The first reported case in cattle occurred in Russia in 1935 (Michin and Azinov, 1937), and it was observed that the etiological agent resembled the spirochetes isolated from cases of Weil's disease in humans. Jungherr described the first recognized cases of leptospirosis in cattle in the United States in 1944, and concluded that cattle should be considered in addition to humans, dogs, and rodents in the

transmission of the disease. During the 1940s and 1950s, leptospirosis was established as a disease of major significance in veterinary medicine (Torten, 1979).

Leptospires have been isolated from 220 host species and have the potential to infect all mammals. Both intraspecies and interspecies dissemination of leptospirosis are possible. Some species appear to be more important than others as carriers of leptospirosis in certain areas (Torten, 1979). As examples, raccoons are carriers of serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> and swine are reservoirs of serovar <u>pomona</u> in the United States (Roth, 1964; Martin et al., 1967; Hanson, 1984), hedgehogs appear to be reservoirs of serovar <u>bratislava</u> in England (Hathaway et al., 1983), and dogs are carriers of serovar <u>canicola</u> in many countries (Rosenberg, 1951; Michna and Ellis, 1973; Hartman, 1984). Rats appear to be almost universal carriers of leptospires of the Icterohaemorrhagiae group, and have been incriminated in many leptospirosis outbreaks on a worldwide basis (Jeghers et al., 1934; Meyer et al., 1938; Babudieri, 1958; Shenberg et al., 1977b; Robertson et al., 1981; Thiermann, 1981a).

The serovars which affect domestic animals vary widely from country to country. Generally, <u>pomona</u>, <u>tarassovi</u>, <u>canicola</u>, and <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> infections are common in swine (Michna, 1967), <u>hardjo</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and <u>grippotyphosa</u> in cattle, <u>pomona</u> in sheep, goats, and horses, and <u>canicola</u> and <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> in dogs. Although antibodies against several serovars have been detected in cats, clinical feline leptospirosis has rarely been reported (Michna, 1970). Experimentally infected birds are capable of

producing antibodies, but do not react clinically or become shedders (Torten et al., 1965).

In a particular region, an animal species may be infected by serovars maintained by that species, or by serovars maintained by other species. The prevalence of incidental interspecies infections is determined by opportunities for contact and transmission provided by management and environmental factors (Ellis, 1986). The concept of susceptibility of a particular host species to infection by a given serovar, or a definite host-serovar specificity, is no longer accepted as valid. Endemic leptospirosis may occur in cattle and swine herds, sheep flocks, and dog kennels and may be transmitted from one species to others and to humans (Michna, 1970). The host-serovar relationships in some areas have been shown to change, in that a particular leptospira serovar may replace one that had been recognized for a long period of time as most predominant in a given host species. The converse has also been observed in which the apparent host of a particular serovar may change over a period of time (Shenberg et al., 1977a; Torten, 1979).

Clinical manifestations and pathogenesis

Michna (1970) stated that leptospirosis may occur in animals in at least four clinical forms. Subclinical infections may occur in rodents, wildlife, cattle, and swine which appear to be healthy carriers. Acute or subacute forms may be manifested by fever, depression, anorexia, loss of milk production in lactating cattle and swine, icterus and hemoglobinuria in calves, dogs, and pigs, and neurological signs in dogs and cattle.

Reproductive disorders may appear in the form of sporadic or epidemic abortions which are more common in cattle and swine and less common in ewes and mares, or breeding difficulties and mastitis in cattle. Ocular disease occurs more frequently in humans and horses, but may affect swine in the form of iridocyclitis and cataracts.

Leptospires colonize the proximal convoluted tubules of the kidney and are shed in the urine (Marshall, 1976). Transmission of the disease occurs by contact of urine from infected animals with abraded skin or mucus membranes of the eyes, nose, mouth, or genitalia (Michna, 1970). Entrance through the intact skin is unlikely (Hanson, 1976a), but it has been suggested that leptospires can penetrate water-softened skin (Michna, 1970). Indirect transmission may occur through urinary contamination of food, water, or soil (Babudieri, 1958). Inhalation of aerosolized urine droplets has been suggested as a possible mode of transmission (Baker and Little, 1948). Evidence that venereal transmission may occur has been provided by the isolation of leptospires from the genital tracts of sows and boars (Ellis et al., 1985a) and from the semen of bulls (Sleight et al., 1964; Kiktenko et al., 1976). It is unlikely that transmission occurs through artificial insemination with leptospire-infected semen because of the dilution of semen, antibiotics in the extender, and the temperatures at which semen is stored (Sleight, 1965). Leptospires may be shed in the milk of infected cattle (Ellis and Michna, 1976; Higgins et al., 1980; Thiermann, 1982), and human outbreaks have resulted from the consumption of raw milk (Michna, 1970). Leptospires have been isolated from the mammary glands of

sows and hamsters, and evidence indicates that transmission of leptospirosis from sows to nursing pigs through milk probably occurs (Tripathy et al., 1981). Vectors are not usually considered important in the transmission of leptospirosis, although serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>canicola</u> have been isolated from ticks, and it has been suggested that flies may act as mechanical vectors (Michna, 1970).

After entry into a susceptible host, leptospires are transported to the visceral tissues through the blood stream (Jungherr, 1944). The bacteremic stage is relatively short, usually lasting 4 to 5 days (Michna, 1970). Primary infection and multiplication occur in the liver. After an incubation period of 2 to 16 days, an elevation in temperature of 2 to 5 F may occur which persists for 6 to 48 hours. When the acute disease occurs, hemorrhages, anemia, icterus, hemoglobinuria, malaise, and agalactia may be observed. Meningitis and encephalitis occur less frequently (Hanson, 1976a). A noninflammatory mastitis may be seen in cattle (Hanson, 1984). Nephritis and hepatitis are common in dogs (Baldwin and Atkins, 1987). Signs associated with the acute stage result from multiplication of leptospires in various tissues and toxic reactions (Hanson, 1976a).

Infection of the kidneys results in an acute nephritis followed by a chronic infection which may persist for months or years. Leptospires appear in the urine within a few days after infection and increase in number during the first week. Following a period of weeks in which large numbers of leptospires are shed in the urine, shedding may become intermittent for an extended period. The period of shedding depends on the

serovar involved and host factors, particularly urine pH. Shedding of serovars <u>pomona</u> and <u>tarassovi</u> from swine has been demonstrated for up to one year, and <u>pomona</u> from cattle, horses, and sheep for 100 days, 3.5 months, and 9 months respectively (Babudieri, 1958). Thiermann (1982) demonstrated shedding in cattle experimentally infected with serovar <u>hardjo</u> for a minimum of 30 days and in one cow for at least 542 days. Dogs have shed serovar <u>canicola</u> for over 4 years (Hanson, 1976*a*) and rats have been shown to shed serovar <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> for years, probably throughout their lifetimes. Survival of leptospires is usually longer in the urine of herbivorous animals which has a neutral or slightly alkaline pH than in the urine of carnivores which is usually acidic. The acidic urine of rats and dogs is normally fatal to leptospires, but a predominantly vegetable diet can raise the pH of the urine to a point that will allow leptospires to survive (Babudieri, 1958).

Ocular lesions commonly develop in some hosts, and may vary from acute to chronic with mild to severe visual impairment (Hanson, 1976*a*). For many years, recurrent uveitis, also referred to as iridocyclitis, periodic ophthalmia, and moon-blindness, was believed to be the major clinical manifestation of leptospirosis in horses (Hanson et al., 1969).

Abortion is the most commonly recognized sequela of leptospirosis in cattle, swine, horses, sheep, and goats, and frequently occurs without premonitory signs (Hanson, 1976*a*; Kirkbride, 1984; Ellis, 1986). Leptospires are transported through the maternal blood to the placenta and then migrate to the fetus. The results may be an active infection which results

in fetal death and subsequent expulsion or a nonlethal infection which persists after birth. Infection during the first trimester does not usually interrupt fetal development. Abortions and stillbirths are most common in animals infected in the last trimester of pregnancy. Fetuses may be retained for 2 to 5 weeks prior to expulsion (Hanson, 1976a).

Leptospirosis in Cattle

Serovars incriminated

Cattle, as well as other domestic animals, could potentially be infected by any of the known pathogenic serovars (Torten, 1979). Generally, serovar <u>hardjo</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and <u>grippotyphosa</u> infections are common in cattle (Faine, 1982). Serovar <u>pomona</u> infections have been frequently demonstrated in the cattle of many countries since the 1940s (Baker and Little, 1948; Hoag and Bell, 1954b; Hadlow and Stoenner, 1955; Spradbrow and Seawright, 1963; Higgins and Cayouette, 1978; Carter et al., 1982; Herr et al., 1982). On a worldwide basis, serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection has emerged as one of the most frequently diagnosed leptospiroses in cattle (Carlos et al., 1979; Higgins et al., 1980; Aycardi et al., 1982; Bahaman et al., 1984; Thiermann, 1984; Ellis et al., 1985b; Schonberg et al., 1986; Bahaman et al., 1987; Skilbeck et al., 1988).

Bovine infections with serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> have been reported less frequently (Hanson et al., 1964*a*; Diesch et al., 1967; Burdin, 1963; Michna, 1970). Other serovars associated with bovine leptospirosis are <u>australis</u> and <u>peruviana</u> of the Australis group (Kita et al., 1960; Galton,

1966), <u>autumnalis</u> of the Autumnalis group (Kita et al., 1960), <u>ballum</u> of the Ballum group (Sulzer, 1975), <u>argentiniensis</u>, <u>bataviae</u>, and <u>paidjan</u> of the Bataviae group (Galton, 1966; Sulzer, 1975), <u>canicola</u> and <u>galtoni</u> of the Canicola group (Turner et al., 1958; Sulzer, 1975), <u>guaracuris</u>, <u>goiano</u>, <u>hebdomadis</u>, and <u>kremastos</u> of the Hebdomadis group (Kita et al., 1960; Sulzer, 1975), <u>copenhageni</u> and <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> of the Icterohaemorrhagiae group (Schnurrenberger et al., 1970; Sulzer, 1975), <u>szwajizak</u> of the Mini group (Glosser et al., 1974), <u>kennewicki</u> and <u>mozdok</u> of the Pomona group (Nelson et al., 1973; Sulzer, 1975), an unidentified serovar of the Pyrogenes group (Sulzer, 1975), <u>balcanica</u> and <u>sejroe</u> of the Sejroe group (White et al., 1982; Galton, 1966), and <u>tarassovi</u> of the Tarassovi group (Galton, 1966).

In the United States, <u>pomona</u> was recognized as the most common serovar in cattle from the time of its identification as an etiological agent in bovine leptospirosis in 1948 (Baker and Little) until 1968 when serological test results began to indicate that serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection was of approximately equal prevalence (York et al., 1957; Hanson et al., 1964b; Morter et al., 1967; Morter et al., 1968). Isolations of serovars <u>canicola</u> (Turner et al., 1958), <u>hardjo</u> (Roth and Galton, 1960), <u>grippotyphosa</u> (Hanson et al., 1964*a*), <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> (Schnurrenberger et al., 1970), <u>szwajizak</u> (Glosser et al., 1974), and <u>balcanica</u> (White et al., 1982) from cattle provided evidence that the etiology of bovine leptospirosis in the United States was complex. By 1971, the serovars <u>canicola</u>, <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u>, and pomona were recognized as important in

cattle (Hanson et al., 1971b). By 1975, <u>hardjo</u> was recognized as the most prevalent serovar in United States cattle (Stoenner and Glosser, 1975).

Clinical manifestations

Investigators disagree as to the classification of clinical features of bovine leptospirosis, but most agree that the disease may vary from clinically inapparent to a severe icterohaemorrhagic syndrome. According to Freund (1947) bovine leptospirosis may occur in three clinical forms. The peracute form is seen mainly in calves and is characterized by a sudden onset, anorexia, high fever, hemoglobinuria, icterus, uremia, and possibly death in 3 to 5 days. Acute and subacute forms have a slower onset, last about 2 weeks, are characterized by nephritis, mastitis, and reduced milk production, are often followed by a slow recovery, and are usually seen in older cattle and lactating cows. In the chronic and recurrent form, abortions, retained placentas, and breeding difficulties may be seen or there may be no apparent clinical signs. Amatredjo and Campbell (1975) classified the clinical forms as acute, subacute, and chronic, observed that abortions may occur in the acute stage as well as in the chronic stage, and added stillbirths and weak calves to the list of chronic signs. Mazzonelli (1984) divided the clinical patterns into five categories: peracute, characterized by a sudden onset, icterus, hemoglobinuria, and death within a few hours; acute, seen more frequently in calves, and characterized by icterus, hemoglobinuria, leucopenia, neurological signs, abortions, a course of 2 to 10 days, and possibly death; subacute, occurring mainly in adult cattle, with signs similar to the acute form but less severe, lasting 2 to

7 days, with abortions less common than in the acute form; chronic, resulting from acute or subacute forms, persisting for months with recurring icterus and hemoglobinuria, weight loss, and reduced milk production, with a few deaths occurring 7 to 8 months after the onset; and occult disease, the most common form in endemic areas, characterized by mild or unrecognizable clinical signs, possibly some febrile episodes, frequently diagnosed only by serology, and having abortion as the only constant feature.

Clinical signs in cattle may vary with the serovars involved and with the degree of herd susceptibility. Distinct differences may exist between leptospiroses caused by serovar hardjo and those caused by serovars pomona and grippotyphosa (Hanson, 1984). Although morbidity in hardjo outbreaks may be high, mortality in adults is rare (Thiermann, 1980). Two clinical conditions have been reported in cattle infected with hardjo: an agalactia of sudden onset associated with bacteremia, and abortion which occurs as a sequela to a chronic infection. In dairy herds with endemic hardjo infection, new clinical cases may be seen only in replacement heifers (Ellis et al., 1985c). The severe signs of acute leptospirosis are often associated with pomona and grippotyphosa infections. Serovar pomona, which has swine as a reservoir, usually produces a more severe infection of short duration while hardjo, which has cattle as its natural reservoir, produces infections which are less severe but persist longer (Hanson, 1984). Mortality in pomona epidemics in some herds has reached 10% (Stoenner, 1976). The high prevalence of hardjo infections and the lower prevalence of pomona infections in some areas suggests that hardjo infection is endemic and

<u>pomona</u> infection is sporadic in cattle (Bahaman et al., 1984). Epidemics in cattle caused by <u>grippotyphosa</u> have been reported in Russia, Israel, and Hungary, and have been associated with high mortality in calves (Michna, 1970).

Leptospires usually produce their major effects on the kidneys, causing acute nephritis followed by chronic nephritis that may persist for months or years (Hanson, 1976a). Acute nephritis results from penetration of leptospires through interstitial spaces into the glomeruli and proximal tubules and is characterized by edema, hemorrhages, and cellular necrosis. The lumen of the proximal convoluted tubules is the primary site of multiplication of leptospires in the kidney. Extensive interstitial nephritis may result if the disease progresses (Hanson, 1976b). The kidneys may be grossly enlarged and uremia may develop in the terminal stages (Michna, 1970). Hemorrhagic nephritis resulting in hematuria and anemia has been observed in some outbreaks (Hanson, 1976b). When only scattered renal lesions develop, no clinical signs are apparent (Hanson, 1984). A hostparasite equilibrium may be established with little effect on the kidney or renal function (Michna, 1970). Chronic infections are characterized by interstitial nephritis with marked infiltration of lymphocytes, plasma cells, and fibrous connective tissue (Hanson, 1976a). Chronic changes appear to result from hypersensitivity reactions (Hanson, 1976b).

The immune response may be effective in controlling the acute disease or may contribute to the development of chronic lesions (Hanson, 1976*a*). IgM antibodies against serovars <u>hardjo</u> and pomona in cattle have been

detected within 3 to 8 days and peaked at 10 to 20 days post-inoculation (Fairbrother, 1985a). The initial antibody response leads to a reduction in the level of leptospiremia, localization of leptospires in the kidney tissue, and the subsequent leptospiruria (Hanson, 1976a; Michna, 1970). In relapses, leptospires have been detected in the blood simultaneously with significant levels of antibodies (Taylor et al., 1970). IgG antibodies appear later but persist for longer periods than IgM (Negi et al., 1971a). Fairbrother (1985a) found that IgG against serovars hardjo and pomona was the predominant class of antibodies detectable at 35 to 80 days postinoculation, and the peak total antibody level occurred at 10 to 30 days post-inoculation. The total antibody level against serovar hardjo remained relatively high for 240 days post-inoculation, but that against serovar pomona declined to a low level after 30 days and remained there until at least 63 days post-inoculation. Antibodies have been demonstrated in naturally infected cattle for months after infection (Michna, 1970), and as long as 6 years in one herd infected with hardjo (Hanson et al., 1972). The immune response has been associated with adverse inflammatory and degenerative reactions in chronic infections and may contribute to the development of chronic nephritis and ocular lesions (Hanson, 1976a).

Abortions and stillbirths are the signs most frequently recognized in bovine leptospirosis (Hanson, 1976b). Stalheim (1976) observed that 20 to 40% of cattle infected in the last trimester of pregnancy may abort. Ellis et al. (1985c) diagnosed leptospira infection, which was almost entirely <u>hardjo</u>, in 57% of 505 calves in Ireland which included 472 aborted fetuses,

20 stillbirths, and 13 perinatal deaths. Higgins et al. (1981) studied 92 bovine abortions in Canada and associated leptospirosis with 28% of them. Although abortions may be preceded by icterus, hemoglobinuria, anemia, agalactia, or fever, they frequently occur without premonitory signs. Abortions are most common in the last trimester of pregnancy, but may occur at any stage of gestation. Placentitis occurs rarely, and the fetus may have icterus, interstitial nephritis, or a mild suppurative pneumonia. The fetus may be born alive and weak, soon after death, or may be retained up to 72 hours after death (Kirkbride, 1984). Periods between fetal death and expulsion in experimental infections have ranged from 16 to 30 days (Mazzonelli, 1984).

Leptospira infection of the bovine udder produces a characteristic clinical syndrome. The udder becomes flaccid and the milk may be thickened, yellow, and blood-tinged. Although leptospires can be isolated from the milk, the so-called "cold mastitis" is noninflammatory. The lesions are primarily degenerative with only minor infiltration of lymphocytes and plasma cells. An agalactia which may be severe follows the mastitis and may persist for 1 or 2 weeks (Hanson, 1984). The occurrence of mastitis in leptospirosis outbreaks varies considerably and prevalences of 5% (Ellis et al., 1985c), 10% (Durfee and Allen, 1980), 15% (Hathaway and Little, 1983) and 50% (Higgins et al., 1980) have been reported. Infection with <u>hardjo</u> may result in a sudden decrease in milk production with uniformly flaccid udders (Durfee and Allen, 1980). Unexplained low milk production and

agalactia without typical signs of leptospira mastitis may occur in some herds with hardjo infection (Higgins et al., 1980).

Abortions, stillbirths, decreased milk production, and death cause obvious losses in cattle, but losses may also result from less apparent or less frequent problems. Infertility has been associated with various serovars (Michna, 1970), but more commonly with <u>hardjo</u> and <u>szwajizak</u>. Retained placentas commonly occur following abortions and may contribute to infertility problems which result from chronic low grade infections. Decreased weight gain may be seen in calves (Hanson, 1984). Meningitis (Hoag and Bell, 1954*a*; Stoenner et al., 1963), ocular lesions (Hoag and Bell, 1954*b*; Hanson, 1976*a*), orchitis, lymphadenitis, pneumonia, enteritis, peritonitis, skin necrosis (Michna, 1970), necrosis of ear tips, photosensitization, stomatitis, and diarrhea (Mazzonelli, 1984) may occur.

Prevention and control

Methods employed in the prevention and control of bovine leptospirosis fall into five categories: serological testing, vaccination, use of antibiotics, simultaneous vaccination and use of antibiotics, and carrier and environment control.

Stoenner (1976) suggested that breeding stock replacements should be seronegative and originate from herds shown to be free of leptospirosis on the basis of a complete herd test. Efforts to certify herds as being free of leptospirosis have been proposed and are based on the methods used for brucellosis eradication with modifications to fit the unique problems of

leptospirosis (Stalheim, 1976). Annual serological testing may be a useful method of estimating progress in a long term control program in which vaccination is primarily used for prevention (Amatredjo and Campbell, 1975). Serological testing may be of limited value in <u>hardjo</u> infections. Ellis et al. (1981) demonstrated titers below the commonly used screening titer of 100 in 46% of cattle proven to be renal carriers.

Since the recognition in the early 1950s that leptospirosis caused economic loss due to abortion, vaccination of cattle has been widely practiced (Hanson, 1973). Bacterins should contain the specific serovars affecting individual herds, since there appears to be little or no crossprotection among serovars (Amatredjo and Campbell, 1975; Thiermann, 1980). In the United States, bacterins usually contain serovars canicola, grippotyphosa, hardjo, icterohaemorrhagiae, and pomona. Vaccination of entire herds at 6- or 12-month intervals has been suggested as the most economical preventive procedure (Hanson, 1976b). Morter (1972) observed that the duration of immunity after vaccination may be limited to 6 months. In endemic herds where new additions are common, vaccination at 6-month intervals is suggested (Hanson, 1981). Vaccination of calves under 4 months of age is generally avoided since maternal antibodies transferred to calves in colostrum may interfere with development of active immunity (Hanson, 1976b). Adult cattle should be vaccinated to provide the greatest degree of protection in the last two-thirds of gestation, and feedlot cattle should be vaccinated and held in isolation for 2 weeks before being mixed with other cattle (Stoenner, 1976). McDonald and Rudge (1957) showed

that vaccination of dams in late pregnancy prevented infection of calves during the first month of life. Vaccination usually induces immunity which is adequate to prevent losses due to death, abortions, stillbirths, weak calves, and reduced milk production, but does not prevent infection, bacteremia, and leptospiruria (Hanson et al., 1972). However, vaccination appears to prevent leptospiruria in some cattle and shorten its duration in others (Mackintosh et al., 1980). Hancock et al. (1984) showed that only 2.7% of heifers vaccinated at 9 to 10 months of age developed leptospiruria after natural challenge compared to 58.5% of unvaccinated controls. Killinger et al. (1976) showed that renal tissue damage was less severe in vaccinated cattle challenged with pomona than in unvaccinated controls.

Elimination of leptospires from the kidneys of carrier cattle with penicillins, streptomycin, and tetracyclines has been attempted for many years and reports indicate conflicting results (Michna, 1970). Cameron (1977) found 14 New Zealand isolates highly susceptible to benzyl penicillin *in vitro*. Amatredjo and Campbell (1975) stated that large doses of penicillin early in the course of the disease may be required to be effective. However, Watt et al. (1988) demonstrated significant differences in human patients receiving penicillin late in the course of leptospirosis when compared to patients receiving placebos. After establishment of bovine renal infection, dihydrostreptomycin (DSM) appears to be the drug of choice (Amatredjo and Campbell, 1975). Broughton and Flack (1986) found amoxycillin and erythromycin much more effective than tetracycline or oxytetracycline against an <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> isolate *in vitro*. Prescott and

Nicholson (1988) demonstrated the susceptibility of 18 Canadian hardjo isolates to penicllin G, ampicillin, tetracycline, erythromycin, and streptomycin in vitro. Alexander and Rule (1986) demonstrated leptospires in surviving hamsters infected with bataviae which were treated with doxycycline, chlortetracycline, cyclacillin, and piperacillin, but not in those treated with ampicillin, bacampicillin, mezlocillin, cefotaxime, or moxa-Initial treatment of mature cattle with tetracycline followed by lactam. DSM has been shown to be somewhat successful in epidemics caused by pomona (Stoenner, 1976). Stalheim (1969) concluded that bovine renal leptospirosis could be successfully treated with one dose of DSM. However, Ellis et al. (1985d) demonstrated hardjo infections in the kidneys or genital tracts of heifers after one or two doses of DSM. Since neither negative serological status nor DSM treatment insure against the purchase of carrier cattle, Ellis et al. (1985d) suggested that a combination of the two methods may be the best approach currently available.

South and Stoenner (1974) reported that simultaneous vaccination of all cattle in a herd and treatment of pregnant cows with one injection of DSM were effective in controlling leptospirosis when the disease was diagnosed early in an outbreak. The rationale for this approach was that during the period that the cattle were protected by the antibiotic, active immunity was being stimulated by the vaccine. Vaccination without concurrent antibiotic therapy may be of questionable value in an outbreak, since assembling and confining cattle for vaccination may increase exposure to the urine of infected animals (South and Stoenner, 1974; Stalheim, 1976).

Stoenner (1976) suggested that feeder cattle which originate from infected herds should be vaccinated, treated with DSM, and segregated for 2 weeks before being mixed with other cattle. Endemic infections with <u>hardjo</u> may be more difficult to contain than <u>pomona</u> infections, but semi-annual vaccination along with a single treatment of cows with DSM during the dry period may be effective (Hanson, 1984).

Stoenner (1976) stated that control of leptospirosis is possible with proper herd management and consideration for the complex epidemiology of leptospirosis in developing a control program. Once cattle become infected, the disease may remain on the premises for years, and the elimination of carriers, especially rodents, is important (Michna, 1970). Cattle appear to be exclusive shedders of serovar hardjo, and the maintenance of closed herds could be expected to prevent the entry of hardjo into a herd. However, cattle, swine, skunks, raccoons, opossums, and dogs may be carriers of pomona and the maintenance of closed herds would not be expected to prevent entry of that serovar (Roberts, 1958; Stoenner, 1976). Other livestock, such as swine, sheep, and goats, should be considered as potential carriers and tested for leptospira antibodies (Hanson, 1981). Sanitary measures, especially the removal of animal secretions and wastes and disinfection of premises in confinement operations, appear to be valuable in eradicating leptospirosis (Michna, 1970). Direct sunlight, desiccation, chemical disinfectants, detergents, soaps, and high salinity are rapidly detrimental to leptospires. The organisms are destroyed within 5 minutes at 50 C (Michna, 1970). Leptospires may survive in diluted bovine urine

for 35 days and up to 6 months in soil saturated with urine. Bovine milk appears to be leptospiracidal within 3 days, but leptospires may survive in diluted milk up to 60 days. Diluted bull semen without antibiotics has been shown to support leptospires up to 60 days at 2 C (Michna, 1970). Diesch (1971) observed that <u>pomona</u> survived in cattle manure for 61 days during the summer and 18 days under winter conditions. Since leptospires may survive in surface water such as ponds and streams, either limited access or fencing cattle away from these sources completely may be necessary (Hanson, 1981).

Laboratory Diagnosis of Leptospirosis

Serological tests

For many years, the only accurate methods of diagnosing leptospirosis other than by clinical signs were isolation of leptospires from blood in acute cases or from urine several weeks after an acute attack, and demonstration of seroconversion or increasing titer by serological methods. Since culture techniques were considered impractical or impossible in the field, serological tests were the only practical aid to diagnosis (Roberts, 1958).

The agglutination-lysis (AL) test described by Schuffner and Mochtar (1926) which utilized live cultures as antigens, became the basis for many test procedures used for the detection of leptospira antibodies. The "lysis balls" were considered to be remnants of leptospires which had first agglutinated and then lysed, but were later recognized as clumps of

leptospires which had agglutinated very strongly (Lawrence, 1955; Babudieri, 1961). Since 1953, the AL test has been modified, simplified, and adapted to general diagnostic use (Roberts, 1958), and during this period the procedure became known as the microscopic agglutination test (MAT) (Galton et al., 1965). Wolff's (1954) modification of the AL tube test into a procedure conducted in porcelain plates gave results which were difficult to reproduce in some laboratories (Sulzer and Jones, 1973a). The MAT was modified into a microtechnique utilizing smaller quantities of reagents in disposable microtitration plates by Galton et al. (1965) and Sulzer and Jones (1973*a*). Other modifications have been suggested to aid in the reading and interpretation of the degree of agglutination (Carter and Ryan, 1975). In addition to serum, the MAT has been used for detection of leptospira antibodies in milk (Van Der Hoeden, 1955; Carbrey and Packer, 1961), whey (Hussaini, 1976), urine (Stuart, 1956), and semen (Lyle et al., 1972).

The MAT technique described by Cole et al. (1973) and refined by Cole et al. (1979) is the reference serological test for leptospirosis in animals (Ellinghausen, 1979; Diesch, 1980). The test procedure consists of reacting standardized antigens grown in liquid media (Ellinghausen and McCullough, 1965; Johnson and Harris, 1967*a*) with serum diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) in microtitration plates. Reactions are read under a darkfield microscope and endpoints are determined as the greatest serum dilutions in which 50% of leptospires are agglutinated. Sera are usually screened at 1:50 or 1:100 dilutions and are titrated against

reacting antigens in serial two-fold dilutions from 1:100 through 1:12,800 (Higgins and Cayouette, 1978; National Veterinary Services Laboratories, 1987). MAT titers \geq 100 are generally considered significant. Leptospira infection may be diagnosed when a majority of seropositive animals in a herd have titers \geq 1000, or when paired samples show a four-fold rise or fall or a conversion from negative to positive (Cole et al., 1979).

The MAT detects both IgM and IgG immunoglobulin fractions (Morris and Hussaini, 1974; Fairbrother, 1985a). Treatment of sera with 2-mercaptoethanol has been used to estimate the contribution of IgM to the agglutination reaction (Ellinghausen, 1979; Fairbrother, 1985a). Paradoxical and prozone reactions may occur, making interpretation of results difficult (Galton et al., 1958; Malkin, 1984). Malkin (1984) found that heating sera to 56 C for 10 minutes eliminated prozone reactions and increased the number of serological positives in sheep and goat sera by 9%. This finding indicated that complement may interfere with the agglutination reaction to some extent. Although the MAT has been described as being relatively serovar specific (Morris and Hussaini, 1974; Fairbrother, 1985a), crossreactivity may be seen among serovars especially in sera with high homologous titers. There is also evidence that Campylobacter (Stoenner, 1954), Shigella (Rothstein, 1957), and Treponema spp. (Miller et al., 1989) have antigens in common with Leptospira serovars and may cross-react in the MAT. Heat-inactivated and formalized antigens tend to lose homogeneity during storage and commonly result in nonspecific reactions (Kelen and Labzoffsky,
1960). Titers with killed antigens are usually lower than with live antigens (Babudieri, 1961).

Agglutinating antibodies may persist for months after infection and may produce high titers in animals that have recovered and are no longer shedding (Hodges and Ris, 1974). In a study of a large herd of cattle by Roberts (1958), agglutinins were found to persist for years or even for the lifetime of some animals, and no animal with a high titer ever became serologically negative thereafter. The interval between clinical infection and abortion in hardjo infections may be 6 to 12 weeks, and the titer is frequently falling at the time of abortion (Ellis and Michna, 1977). Vaccination history must be considered when MAT results are interpreted (Cole et al., 1979). Most animals develop lower MAT titers after vaccination than after infection (Tripathy et al., 1976). However, some cattle may develop significant post-vaccination titers which are not distinguishable from titers produced by infection (Morter, 1980; Diesch, 1980; Ris and Hamel, 1982; Stringfellow et al., 1983). The MAT appears to be more accurate in the detection of infections due to serovar pomona than to hardjo. Elder et al. (1985) were able to show a correlation between high pomona MAT titers and abortions in cattle, but found no significant relationship between levels of hardjo titers and the occurrence of abortions. Ellis et al. (1981) found that 46% of hardjo carrier cattle had MAT titers < 100, and approximately 20% of them had no detectable titers. Thiermann (1983a) isolated hardjo and grippotyphosa from the kidneys of seronegative cattle. Kingscote (1985b) found hardjo infection of the kidneys and cerebrospinal

fluid to be independent of the presence or level of MAT titers in cattle.

Several macroscopic agglutination tests which utilize formalized antigens have been described. Stoenner (1953) described a capillary tube test which compared favorably in sensitivity and specificity with the AL test. Macroscopic tests have been conducted on plates (Hoag et al., 1953; Stoenner, 1954; Lepherd, 1969; Sandhu and White, 1972), in tubes (Howarth, 1956; Muraschi, 1958), on slides (Starbuck and Ward, 1942; Galton et al., 1958; Rao and Murthy, 1983), and on cards (Bragger and Adler, 1976). Muraschi (1958) described a latex agglutination test which was evaluated by Kelen and Labzoffsky (1960) utilizing antigens which were formalized, boiled, ultrasonicated, or pyridine-treated. Pooled antigens have been commonly used in the macroscopic tests for screening purposes (Muraschi, 1958; Galton et al., 1958; Lepherd, 1969; Bragger and Adler, 1976; Rao and Murthy, 1983). Although most investigators found macroscopic tests to be comparable to the AL test or MAT, Starbuck and Ward (1942) noted that the slide test was less sensitive, and Babudieri (1961) stated that macroscopic titers are usually 5 to 10 times lower than MAT titers. Cross reactions have also been observed with macroscopic tests (Stoenner, 1954; Howarth, 1956; Galton et al., 1958; Sandhu and White, 1972). Solarzano (1967) attributed an increased incidence of canicola and icterohaemorrhagiae reactions in bovine serum to over-sensitivity of plate antigens. Sandhu and White (1972) concluded that the plate test was unreliable for detection of canicola antibodies because of false positive reactions. Stoenner (1972) noted that hardjo plate antigen is weakly antigenic, and peak

antibody titers are usually < 40. Ellis et al. (1982*a*) observed that 31% of cattle which aborted <u>hardjo</u>-infected fetuses were serologically negative on the plate test, and concluded that the plate test has no value in testing sera from cases of hardjo abortion.

Complement fixation (CF) tests for leptospira antibodies were developed by Pot and Dornickx (1936) and Boerner and Lukens (1941), which eliminated the need for maintenance of live antigens used in the AL test. Randall et al. (1949) described a CF test utilizing sonicated cells which improved the sensitivity and specificity of the test. York (1952) and Robertson and Boulanger (1963) found the CF test useful for diagnosis of leptospirosis in cattle. The CF test may be more useful than agglutination tests for detection of recent infections. CF antibodies have been detected primarily during the period of maximum urinary shedding of pomona in pigs (Hodges, 1973). A closer association with the duration of leptospiruria in calves was found with CF antibodies than with agglutinating antibodies (Hodges and Ris, 1974). Screening bovine sera for a variety of serovars in a single CF test with polyvalent antigen has been suggested (Hodges, 1974). A semi-automated CF procedure for testing large numbers of serum samples has been described (Hodges and Weddell, 1977) which compared favorably with the MAT in the detection of infected cattle (Hodges and Carter, 1979). Like the agglutination tests, cross-reactivity among serovars has been observed with the CF test (Hodges, 1973; Hodges and Ris, 1974).

In their evaluation of an indirect immunofluorescence (IF) test, Sandhu and White (1972) observed good correlation with the MAT and

suggested the IF as a screening test for <u>pomona</u> antibodies in bovine serum. The indirect hemagglutination (IHA) test described by Cox (1955) detects primarily IgM and may be useful in the diagnosis of recent infections (Morris et al., 1977). The hemolytic (HL) test described by Cox (1955) appears to be useful in diagnosing human infections, but lacks the sensitivity necessary for detection of antibodies in animal sera. The hemagglutination (HA) test (Negi et al., 1971*a*) also appears to detect IgM and may be more sensitive than the MAT (Negi et al., 1971*b*). The passive microcapsule agglutination (MCA) test described by Arimitsu et al. (1982) also appears to be more sensitive than the MAT, but is less specific.

Tests employed for the detection of infection may not be sufficient for the detection of protective antibodies produced post-vaccination (Tripathy et al., 1971). The passive hemagglutination (PHA) test described by Sulzer and Jones (1973b) did not detect significant differences between vaccinated gilts and controls (Dawe et al., 1976). An *in vitro* growth inhibition test, also referred to as a neutralization test, described by Tripathy et al. (1971) appeared to be more sensitive than other serological tests in gilts (Dawe et al., 1976). The hamster passive protection test (Huhn et al., 1970) and the leptospiracidal activity (LA) test (Johnson and Muschel, 1966; Johnson and Harris, 1967b; Bey and Johnson, 1978a) have been found effective in evaluating the protection afforded by bacterins (Huhn et al., 1975; Bey and Johnson, 1978b). The LA test appeared to be more sensitive for detecting antibodies against <u>canicola</u> and <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> than the MAT, but little difference in sensitivities was observed for

pomona and grippotyphosa antibodies. Both the hamster passive protection test and the LA test appear to be more sensitive than the MAT for detection of antibodies against <u>hardjo</u> (Bey and Johnson, 1978b).

Several enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) procedures for detection of leptospira antibodies have been described. Antigens used in ELISA have been whole cells (Cursons and Pyke, 1981; Fairbrother, 1984; Takase and Yanagawa, 1988), sonicated cells (Adler et al., 1980; Adler et al., 1981; Waltman and Dawe, 1983; Fairbrother, 1984; Banfi et al., 1984; Cousins et al., 1985; Milner et al., 1985), formalized and sonicated cells (Fairbrother, 1984), ethanol extracts (Fairbrother, 1984; Pappas et al., 1985), heat extracts (Terpstra et al., 1985), alkali extracts (Fairbrother, 1984), desoxycholate extracts (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982), phenol extracts (Thiermann and Garrett, 1983; Thiermann, 1983b), outer envelope proteins (Hartman et al., 1984a), and sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) extracts (Biancifiori and Cardaras, 1983; Hartman et al., 1984a). Reactions have been read visually (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982; Hartman et al., 1984b; Pappas et al., 1985) and photometrically (Thiermann and Garrett, 1983; Biancifiori and Cardaras, 1983; Milner et al., 1985). Antigen quality appears to be a critical factor in the ELISA (Banfi et al., 1984; Terpstra et al., 1985).

Although the ELISA appears to measure a different antigen-antibody system (Adler et al., 1981; Adler et al., 1982; Biancifiori and Cardaras, 1983; Ballard et al., 1984; Milner et al., 1985), it has frequently been compared to the MAT. The ELISA has the advantages of the use of killed

antigens, objective reading of results, measurement of both IgM and IgG responses (Cousins et al., 1985), and automated reading and analysis of results with a computer (Milner et al., 1985). The IgM-specific ELISA appears to be more useful than the MAT for detection of recent infections (Adler et al., 1982; Ballard et al., 1984; Cousins et al., 1985; Terpstra et al., 1985). Adler et al. (1982) suggested that a positive IgM-ELISA indicated infection within the previous month in cattle. The ELISA has been reported to be more sensitive than the MAT (Adler et al., 1980; Thiermann and Garrett, 1983; Biancifiori and Cardaras, 1983), and may detect an IgM response earlier than the MAT (Hartman et al., 1984b; Mailloux et al., 1984; Milner et al., 1985). However, some infected animals have been found positive with the MAT but negative with the ELISA (Adler et al., 1981; Thiermann and Garrett, 1983). Cousins et al. (1985) observed that ELISA results did not correlate any better than MAT results with leptospiruria in cattle. Urinary antibodies have been detected in swine with the MAT when the ELISA was negative (Ballard et al., 1984). False positive reactions may also occur with the ELISA (Adler et al., 1981; Waltman and Dawe, 1983; Hartman et al., 1984b; Pappas et al., 1985). Cross-reactivity among Leptospira serovars (Adler et al., 1980; Cursons and Pyke, 1981; Kirkbride and Halley, 1982; Thiermann and Garrett, 1983; Thiermann, 1983b; Terpstra et al., 1985) and with other genera (Pappas et al., 1985) have been observed. The degree of cross-reactivity appears to depend upon the method of antigen preparation (Hartman et al., 1984a). Difficulties in distinguishing between post-infection and post-vaccination immune responses

have also been experienced with the ELISA (Thiermann and Garrett, 1983; Hartman et al., 1984*a*; Thiermann et al., 1984).

Schonberg et al. (1980) evaluated a sensitivity test for the diagnosis of leptospirosis by injection of leptospirin intradermally into humans, cattle, goats, pigs, horses, and dogs. The leptospirin contained antigens of serovars <u>canicola</u>, <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u>. Although the test results correlated well with MAT results in humans, a few false positive reactions and many false negative reactions were observed in animals.

Isolation

Isolation of leptospires has been described as essential for an unequivocal diagnosis of leptospirosis (Nervig and Garrett, 1979; Everard et al., 1980; Thiermann et al., 1984). The recovery and identification of isolates is necessary for diagnosis, epidemiological studies, selection of bacterins for prophylaxis, and selection of antigens for serological tests (Everard et al., 1980; Thiermann et al., 1984; Kingscote, 1985a; Ellis and Thiermann, 1986). Isolation has not been commonly used as a diagnostic method due to the difficulties in media preparation, the low percentage of isolates recovered from suspected cases of leptospirosis, the cost of culturing large numbers of specimens, and the delay between collection of field specimens and receipt in laboratories (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982; Thiermann et al., 1984; Palmer et al., 1984; DeLange et al., 1987). In recent years, the likelihood of isolating leptospires from clinical or post mortem specimens has been increased by the development of better quality

media (Ellinghausen and McCullough, 1965; Johnson and Harris, 1967*a*; Palmer et al., 1984; Ellis et al., 1985*d*), the commercial availability of media concentrates (Thiermann et al., 1984), and improvements in culture techniques (Orr and Little, 1979; Thiermann et al., 1984; Palmer et al., 1984; Kingscote, 1985*a*; Ellis et al., 1985*d*).

Leptospires can be cultivated in liquid media (Wolff, 1954), semisolid media containing 0.2 to 0.5% agar (Alston and Broom, 1958; Turner, 1970), and soft agar plate media often referred to as solid media containing approximately 1.0% agar (Cox and Larson, 1957; Turner, 1970). Gellan gum has been successfully used as a replacement for agar (Rule and Alexander, 1986). Since the growth of leptospires in semisolid media is more rapid, reaches a greater density, and is sustained longer than in liquid media, the semisolid media are preferred for isolation. Although the exact mechanism by which agar increases the multiplication of leptospires is unknown, it has been suggested that agar may absorb leptospira metabolites or inhibitory substances in the inoculum (Turner, 1970). The motility of leptospires has been shown to be more rapid and more efficient in viscous environments than in water (Berg and Turner, 1979). Solid media are frequently used for isolation of leptospires from contaminated specimens and for recovering leptospires from contaminated cultures (Roth et al., 1961; Turner, 1970). Thiermann (1981b) found solid media superior to semisolid media for isolation of leptospires of the Hebdomadis group from milk, but noted that more isolates from urine were obtained with the semisolid form. Solid media have not been routinely used because the solid form tends to be less

reliable and the greater volume of solid media used in plates is more expensive than semisolid media in tubes (Turner, 1970).

Serum was used as an enrichment factor in the semisolid media of Vervoort, Chang, Korthof, Fletcher, Noguchi, Stuart, and Cox (Cox and Larson, 1957; Roth et al., 1961; Turner, 1970). Sera from horses, cattle, bovine fetuses, sheep, swine, and guinea pigs have been used, but use of rabbit serum has been most successful (Turner, 1970). Rabbit serum may have undesirable properties such as the presence of specific or nonspecific antibodies (Turner, 1970) and inconsistent physical and nutritional qualities (Johnson and Sieter, 1976). Formation of a film on the surface of media, formation of particulate matter from lipids (Turner, 1970), denaturation and subsequent precipitation of globulins upon aeration (Johnson and Sieter, 1976), and difficulties in sterilization (Bey and Johnson, 1978c) have been observed with media containing serum.

Ellinghausen-McCullough (EM) medium containing bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a substitute for rabbit serum and polysorbate 80 as a source of fatty acids (Ellinghausen and McCullough, 1965) and modifications of this medium referred to as EMJH (Johnson and Harris, 1967*a*; Johnson et al., 1973) have been widely used for isolation of leptospires (Johnson and Sieter, 1976; Schotts, 1976; Everard et al., 1980; Thiermann et al., 1984). The shelf life of the polysorbate 80-bovine albumin (P80-BA) media has been shown to be at least 36 months, and may be as long as 5 years at 25 C (Ellinghausen, 1975). The antigenicity, immunogenicity, and virulence of leptospires cultivated in P80-BA media do not differ from those grown in

media containing serum (Johnson and Sieter, 1976). Leptospires have been isolated in P80-BA media which could not be isolated in media containing serum (Turner, 1970; Johnson and Sieter, 1976; Orr and Little, 1979; Herr et al., 1982). Conversely, leptospires have been isolated in P80-BA media with rabbit serum that could not be isolated in the conventional P80-BA media (Tripathy et al., 1980; Ellis et al., 1982b; TeBrugge and Louw, 1985). Ellis et al. (1982b) achieved a significantly higher number of <u>hardjo</u> isolates from cattle with freshly prepared EMJH medium as compared to Stuart's, Korthof's, Fletcher's, or commercially prepared EMJH media. The T80/40/LH medium described by Ellis et al. (1985d) contains both polysorbate 80 and polysorbate 40, lactalbumin hydrolysate, superoxide dismutase, and rabbit serum in addition to the basic ingredients in P80-BA media. Leptospires have been isolated in T80/40/LH medium which could not be isolated in EMJH medium (Ellis and Thiermann, 1986).

Several serum-free, chemically defined, synthetic media have been described (Vogel and Hutner, 1961; Shenberg, 1967; Van Eseltine et al., 1967; Bey and Johnson, 1978c). Shenberg (1967) was successful in serially subculturing 52 strains belonging to 12 serogroups in a protein-free medium, but noted some difficulty in maintaining growth of <u>ballum</u>, <u>javanica</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u> strains. Bey and Johnson (1978c) evaluated a protein-free medium with serial subcultures of five serovars and observed that difficulties in growing <u>grippotyphosa</u> could be overcome by addition of 0.1% BSA to the medium. Schonberg (1983) evaluated protein-free media containing ingredients used in both the media of Shenberg (1967) and Bey and Johnson

(1978c), and observed that the growth of <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>tarassovi</u> was not satisfactory. Mazzonelli et al. (1984) also observed difficulties in growing <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>tarassovi</u> in the medium of Bey and Johnson (1978c) and in modifications of it.

Turner (1970) observed that different strains of the same serovar and different serovars have different nutritional requirements. Since there is no standard medium which can provide optimal requirements for all strains, the use of at least two different types of media will increase the likelihood of isolating leptospires from clinical or post mortem specimens (Ellis et al., 1982*b*; Alexander, 1985; Kingscote, 1985*a*; TeBrugge and Louw, 1985; Ellis and Thiermann, 1986).

Contamination with other microorganisms is likely to reduce the chances of isolating leptospires by direct culture due to overgrowth of contaminants or production of substances lethal to leptospires (Turner, 1970), and is a major problem when attempts are made to culture urine or aborted bovine fetal tissues (Adler et al., 1986). In some cases, contaminants seem to have little adverse effect while growing along with leptospires (Turner, 1970), but interfere with the subsequent identification of isolates by serological or restriction enzyme methods (Babudieri, 1971; Marshall et al., 1981). Sulfadiazine, sulfaguanidine, sulfanilamide, dihydrostreptomycin, chloramphenicol, sulfathiazole, neomycin sulfate, actidione (Cousineau and McKiel, 1961), 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) (Johnson and Rogers, 1964), furazolidone (Myers, 1975), naladixic acid (Ellis et al., 1985d), fosfomycin (Oie et al., 1986), bacitracin, polymyxin B, and

rifampicin (Adler et al., 1986) have been used either singly or in various combinations in efforts to develope selective media. Although the growth of some strains of leptospires has been slowed or inhibited by 5-FU (Ris, 1974; Alexander, 1985), it has been commonly used in media for primary isolation of leptospires (Turner, 1970; Schotts, 1976; Johnson and Sieter, 1976; Ris and Hamel, 1978; Thiermann, 1984). Ingredients in Fletcher's medium have been found to annul the bacteriostatic action of 5-FU (Ris, 1974; Kingscote, 1985a). Some specimens may have a level of contamination beyond the ability of 5-FU to control (Thiermann et al., 1984; Kingscote, 1985a). Ris (1974) found that more contaminants survive in media containing 5-FU when incubated at 20 C than at 30 C. The combination of 5-FU and naladixic acid has been successfully used in T80/40/LH medium (Ellis et al., 1985d; Ellis and Thiermann, 1986). No inhibitor has been found which would prevent the overgrowth of <u>Pseudomonas</u> spp. while allowing growth of leptospires (Adler et al., 1986; Oie et al., 1986).

The isolation of leptospires from animal tissues and fluids requires a medium in which growth from a small inoculum can be effectively initiated (Johnson and Sieter, 1976). Fastidious serovars such as <u>hardjo</u> have been found to be extremely demanding of high quality media (Ellinghausen, 1975). Of the ingredients in the P80-BA media, the quality of BSA has been found to be most critical (Ellinghausen, 1975; Thiermann and Ellinghausen, 1981). Thiermann and Ellinghausen (1981) evaluated five lots of BSA from commercial sources and found that only two lots supported growth of a recently isolated <u>hardjo</u> strain, although all five lots supported the growth of

laboratory adapted strains. Ellinghausen (1982) found that the effect of BSA quality was not apparent when $\geq 2 \ge 10^6$ leptospires/ml were used as inocula, but became a limiting factor when lower numbers of leptospires were used. Ris and Hamel (1978) tested media with serial ten-fold dilutions of <u>pomona</u> and found that growth occurred in all cultures inoculated with ≥ 10 leptospires and in two of three cultures inoculated with 1 leptospire. Thiermann and Ellinghausen (1981) suggested that acceptable quality media should be capable of growing a culture from 100 cells of a recently isolated field strain of leptospires within 60 days.

Leptospires have been isolated from kidney (Orr and Little, 1979), liver, spleen, brain (Turner, 1970), lung (Hathaway and Little, 1983), eye (Ellis et al., 1982b), renal lymph node (DeLange et al., 1987), urethra, seminal vesicles, bulbo-urethral gland, prostate, testes, placenta (Ellis et al., 1985a), oviduct, uterus, vagina (Ellis et al., 1985b), blood (Turner, 1970), cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Kingscote, 1985a), milk (Higgins et al., 1980), urine (Ris and Hamel, 1978), aqueous humor (Thiermann, 1984), vitreous humor (Ryan et al., 1977), amniotic tissue, placentomes, fetal pleural fluid, peritoneal fluid, stomach contents, liver, kidney, and blood (Smith et al., 1970). From live animals, specimens for isolation are limited to blood, urine, milk, and CSF. In the leptospiremic phase, blood and vascular organs such as liver, spleen, and kidney, and CSF are specimens of choice (Turner, 1970). Since leptospires are often present in the blood only during the first 7 to 10 days after the onset of infection, and the acute stage of the disease is frequently inapparent in animals, blood

cultures are not usually successful (Turner, 1970; Schotts, 1976; Alexander, 1985). Culturing CSF may have value since leptospires have been isolated from CSF in chronic infections (Kingscote, 1985b). During the leptospiruric phase, kidney tissue and urine appear to be the most productive specimens (Turner, 1970). Leptospires have been isolated from bovine urine collected after an intravenous injection of furosemide that could not be isolated from urine collected by manual stimulation (Nervig and Garrett, 1979). A decrease in the osmolarity of urine leading to increased survival of leptospires (Nervig and Garrett, 1979) or an effect on the kidney characterized by flushing of leptospires from the tubules (Schnurrenberger et al., 1970) have been suggested as reasons for success in culturing urine from cattle treated with diuretics.

Various culture techniques have been successfully used to isolate leptospires. Fluids have been inoculated directly into multiple tubes of media or serial dilutions of the fluid made in buffered saline or 1% BSA diluent have been used as inocula (Schotts, 1976; Sulzer and Jones, 1980; Kingscote, 1985b). Urine has been cultured directly (Sulzer and Jones, 1980) or the sediment obtained after centrifugation has been cultured (Kingscote, 1985a). Small sections of tissue (Ris and Hamel, 1978), tissue scrapings (Schotts, 1976), or larger blocks of tissue (Thiermann, 1984) have been used to prepare inocula. In most cases, tissues have been ground or homogenized in some physiological diluent and serial ten-fold dilutions of the suspension inoculated into multiple tubes of media (Schotts, 1976; Orr and Little, 1979; Sulzer and Jones, 1980; Ellis et al., 1981).

Buffered saline (Sulzer and Jones, 1980), liquid culture media (Orr and Little, 1979), and 1% BSA solution (Ellis et al., 1981) have been used as diluents. One percent BSA solution has also been used as a transport medium for shipment of both fluid and tissue specimens from field locations to laboratories (Flint and Liardet, 1980; Ellinghausen and Painter, 1976) and appears to have a protective effect on leptospires (Ellinghausen, 1973).

Dilution of specimens prior to culturing has been used to dilute substances which may be toxic to leptospires. Stalheim (1965) showed that crude lipids, phospholipids, triglycerides, and fatty acids in homogenized renal tissue or whole milk rapidly lysed the serovar <u>pomona</u>. The destruction of leptospires by urine and products of tissue autolysis was demonstrated by Fairbrother (1985b) who observed that the rate of destruction proceeded more rapidly during storage at 20 C than at 4 C. Turner (1970) suggested that inocula should be made in small volumes or diluted in order to avoid the inhibitory effects of antibodies present and the anaerobic culture conditions created by autolyzing tissues. Flint and Liardet (1980) proposed the dilution of urine in a medium containing 5-FU to decrease the toxic effect of urine on leptospires and to control contaminant bacterial growth. The control of contaminants with extensive dilution and use of 5-FU was also suggested by Sulzer and Jones (1980), Thiermann (1984), and DeLange et al. (1987).

Cultures should be incubated at 28 to 30 C in a dark area for 5 to 6 weeks or more (Sulzer and Jones, 1980). Leptospires have been detected

within 6 to 14 days of incubation (Alexander, 1985), but periods of 19 to 21 days (Higgins et al., 1980), 28 to 131 days (Te Brugge and Louw, 1985), and 1 to 26 weeks (Ellis et al., 1985d) have been reported. Cultures have usually been examined by darkfield microscopy at weekly or biweekly intervals (Ellis et al., 1985d; Ellis and Thiermann, 1986) for the presence of leptospires.

Inoculation of clinical or post mortem specimens into laboratory animals has been used for indirect isolation of leptospires. Although guinea pigs, chicks, and gerbils have been sucessfully used, the weanling hamster appears to be the animal of choice (Sulzer and Jones, 1980). Following intraperitoneal inoculation, blood withdrawn from the heart at 3- to 4-day intervals from day 4 through day 20 may be inoculated into semisolid media (Alexander, 1985). Alternatively, the urine, kidney, liver, or brain may be cultured when the animal shows a rise in temperature or at 21 to 28 days post-inoculation (Sulzer and Jones, 1980). Leptospires have been recovered from contaminated cultures by culturing heart blood drawn from hamsters 10 to 15 minutes after intraperitoneal inoculation (Sulzer and Jones, 1980; Alexander, 1985). Ris and Hamel (1978) examined urine specimens from infected cattle with darkfield microscopy, hamster inoculation, and culture methods and concluded that hamster inoculation was the least sensitive method for demonstration of leptospires.

Fluorescent antibody tests

Detection of leptospires in animal tissues and fluids with fluorescent antibody (FA) conjugates has been attempted for many years with

investigators reporting varying degrees of success. Sheldon (1953) demonstrated the serovar icterohaemorrhagiae in human muscle and concluded that the muscle lesions observed in Weil's disease were caused by leptospires. Moulton and Howarth (1957) demonstrated canicola in experimentally infected hamster kidneys and showed that fluorescence could be blocked by treatment of the tissue with unlabeled leptospira antiserum prior to staining with an FA conjugate. White and Ristic (1959) demonstrated pomona with an FA test in the urine of experimentally infected guinea pigs and cattle. Leptospires were observed by immunofluorescence in the urine of 14 of 17 (82%) naturally infected dogs from which canicola and icterohaemorrhagiae were subsequently isolated (White et al., 1961). Boulanger and Robertson (1961) found leptospires in 2 of 19 (11%) swine kidneys from which pomona was isolated. Ellis et al. (1985b) demonstrated hardjo infection by FA in 10 of 12 (83%) calves from experimentally infected heifers. Miller et al. (1989) demonstrated leptospires with an FA test in 9 of 21 (43%) naturally infected bovine kidneys from which hardjo, grippotyphosa, and pomona were isolated. Both the direct (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982; Ellis et al., 1982b) and the indirect (Cook et al., 1972) FA tests have been successfully used to demonstrate leptospires.

Various methods of antiserum and conjugate preparation have been described. Single serovar antisera (Maestrone, 1963*a*; Smith et al., 1966; Kirkbride and Halley, 1982), antisera against multiple serovars (Boulanger and Robertson, 1961), pooled single serovar antisera (Miller et al., 1989), and monoclonal antibodies (Stevens et al., 1985; Ainsworth et al., 1985)

have been labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate. Whole globulin preparations (Hodges and Ekdahl, 1973) and IgG fractions (Hookey et al., 1987) have been used to prepare conjugates. To eliminate nonspecific fluorescence, absorption of conjugates with various proteins (Maestrone, 1963*a*; Coffin and Maestrone, 1962; Kirkbride and Halley, 1982), and counterstaining with nonspecific rhodamine conjugates (Smith et al., 1966), eriochrome black (Smith et al., 1967), Evan's blue, Congo red (Cook et al., 1972), and flazo-orange (Miller et al., 1989) have been used.

Fluids and tissue homogenates (Smith et al., 1966), tissue scrapings (Cook et al., 1971), sediments obtained by centrifugation (Boulanger and Robertson, 1961), frozen tissue sections (Sheldon, 1953), tissue impressions (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982), and formalin-fixed specimens (Cook et al., 1972) have been used in FA tests. Maestrone (1963b) suggested that formalinized specimens were suitable for the FA test if they were treated with ammonium hydroxide or sodium bisulphite. The use of an incident-light rather than a transmitted-light fluorescent microscope has been suggested as a critical factor in leptospira FA tests (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982; Ellis et al., 1982b).

Smith (1973) suggested that the detection of leptospires with the FA test depends on the presence of a relatively large number of leptospires in specimens. Although the FA test does not appear as sensitive as culture techniques (Boulanger and Robertson, 1961; Miller et al., 1989), advantages of the FA test include screening large numbers of specimens in a relatively

short time (Hookey et al., 1987) and detection of non-viable leptospires in autolyzing tissues and contaminated specimens (Smith et al., 1967).

Other diagnostic methods

Leptospires may be detected by darkfield microscopic examination of fluids and tissue homogenates. The routine darkfield examination of blood is not recommended due to the low numbers present (Faine, 1982) and the possibility of mistaking cellular fibrils and fibrin strands for leptospires (Schotts, 1976; Smith et al., 1979; Faine, 1982). Schotts (1976) suggested that the technique is most useful for examination of specimens which contain high concentrations of leptospires, such as peritoneal fluid or tissue homogenates from animals used for indirect isolation. Podgwaite et al. (1955) observed leptospires in peritoneal and thoracic fluids from aborted bovine fetuses infected with pomona. Hoare and Claxton (1972) observed leptospires in centrifuged urine samples from 10 of 14 (71%) cattle which had recently shown clinical signs of leptospirosis. Ris and Hamel (1978) examined 46 urine samples from infected cattle and detected leptospires in 28 (61%) by darkfield examination and 35 (76%) by culture methods. Cordes et al. (1982) and Herr et al. (1982) also reported higher percentages of bovine urine samples positive with culture methods than with darkfield examinations. However, Kingscote (1985b) reported a higher rate of detection of leptospires in bovine kidney tissue homogenates and cerebrospinal fluid with darkfield examination than with culture methods. Schotts (1976) stated that the failure to detect leptospires by darkfield

examination does not rule out their presence and a diagnosis based on darkfield examination alone should not be considered confirmatory.

Several staining techniques have been used to demonstrate leptospires in tissue specimens. The more commonly used techniques involve silver impregnation or deposition on tissues and may be valuable in situations where cultural or serological procedures are not possible or have proven ineffective (Schotts, 1976). Bridges (1958) successfully used a modified Warthin-Starry silver stain to demonstrate leptospires in fetal membranes and aborted bovine fetuses. Shive et al. (1969) demonstrated leptospires in kidney and liver tissues with a Warthin-Starry stain in three fatal cases of icterohaemorrhagiae infection in Barbary Apes. Smith et al. (1970) demonstrated leptospires in the spleen, liver, kidney, and placentomes of infected ovine fetuses with a Warthin-Starry technique. Ellis and Michna (1977) demonstrated leptospires in the kidneys and cotyledons of infected cattle with Faine's (1965) silver staining technique. Slee and Skilbeck (1983) demonstrated leptospires with a Levaditi silver stain in the liver, kidney, intestine, and heart of bovine fetuses experimentally infected with hardjo. Elliott (1988) observed that silver stains of leptospires in paraffin sections often lacked specificity, it was not often possible to find well stained leptospires, and some serovars were more difficult to demonstrate than others. Congo red and Giemsa stains have also been used to demonstrate leptospires (Babudieri, 1961). Herr et al. (1982) concluded that darkfield examination of wet smears was a more sensitive method for detection of leptospires in urine than Giemsa-stained smears.

However, the detection rates reported by Ris and Hamel (1978) were equal for unstained and Giemsa-stained preparations of urine. Schotts (1976) observed that staining has the same limitations as darkfield microscopy in that relatively high numbers of leptospires are required.

Several techniques utilizing the hybridization of labeled DNA and genomic DNA of leptospires have been described. Millar et al. (1987) observed that a <u>pomona</u> DNA probe would react with <u>pomona</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u>, but not with other bacterial genera. LeFebvre (1987) described a <u>hardjo</u> probe which reacted with the <u>hardjo-bovis</u> strains, but not with other serovars known to be present in the United States. The evaluation of a <u>hardjo</u> DNA probe by Van Eys et al. (1988) indicated that the *in situ* method would allow visualization of leptospira morphology in addition to specific hybridization. The authors suggested that the sensitivity and specificity of hybridization with recombinant probes would allow detection and classification of the infecting serovar in one assay. Probes have been labeled with biotin (Van Eys et al., 1988) and radioisotopes (Millar et al., 1987; LeFebvre, 1987).

PART I THE EFFECT OF TRANSPORTATION TIME ON ISOLATION OF Leptospira interrogans FROM BOVINE KIDNEYS

THE EFFECT OF TRANSPORTATION TIME ON ISOLATION OF

Leptospira interrogans FROM BOVINE KIDNEYS

D. A. Miller, DVM, M. A. Wilson, BS, and G. W. Beran, DVM, PhD

From the National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Science and Technology, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture, Ames, IA 50010 (Miller, Wilson), and the Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Preventive Medicine, College of Veterinary Medicine, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011 (Beran).

SUMMARY

The probability of isolation of leptospires from infected tissues submitted to diagnostic laboratories was examined. Variable factors influencing isolation rates such as sampling techniques and sample preparation were considered. Leptospires were isolated from 95%, 90%, and 90% of experimentally and naturally infected bovine kidney tissues held in transport medium at 4 C for 3, 6, and 8 days respectively prior to inoculation of culture media.

INTRODUCTION

Leptospira infection is usually diagnosed in the laboratory by microscopic agglutination test (MAT) results from serum samples (Cole et al., 1973). The limitations of the MAT have been described (Stoenner, 1975; Stringfellow et al., 1983; Thiermann, 1984). Demonstration of leptospires by fluorescent antibody test (FAT) or isolation provides definitive evidence of infection (Ellis et al., 1981; Ellis et al., 1982). In addition, isolation of the organism provides the antigen needed for identification of the infecting serovar. Improvements in media formulations (Ellinghausen and McCullough, 1965; Johnson and Harris, 1967; Ellis et al., 1985) and isolation techniques (Ellis et al., 1981; Thiermann and Handsaker, 1985) have increased the recovery rate of leptospires in the laboratory.

Ellinghausen (1973) proposed the use of a diluent composed of 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) solution which is frequently used with inhibitors such as 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) as a transport medium for submission of samples to laboratories for leptospira isolation. A generally accepted principle is that specimens must be cultured as soon as possible after collection in order to isolate <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovars (Thiermann et al., 1984; Fairbrother, 1985). However, Michna (1959) reported recovery of serovar <u>canicola</u> from porcine kidney tissue at 12 days post mortem. Ho and Blackmore (1979) isolated serovar <u>pomona</u> from 7 of 9 naturally infected swine kidneys held at 0 C for 14 days and from 8 of 10 kidneys held at -15 C for 30 days. Ellis et al. (1982) have shown that leptospires can be isolated from a significant number of aborted bovine fetuses if proper

culture techniques are used, even though some fetuses may have undergone advanced autolysis. The rate of destruction of leptospires by urine and products of tissue autolysis has been shown to be more rapid during storage at 20 C than at 4 C (Fairbrother, 1985). Kirkbride (1984) stated that leptospires are more likely to remain viable if specimens are held at 4 C rather than being frozen.

The purpose of the present study was to determine the effect of transportation time on the recovery rate of leptospires from infected bovine kidney tissues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Kidneys from eight cattle experimentally infected with bovine serovar hardjo isolates and 400 bovine kidneys with gross lesions suggestive of leptospira infection (Amatredjo et al., 1976) obtained from a slaughter plant were collected for leptospira isolation. Of the experimentally infected cattle, one heifer was inoculated intravenously with a single dose of 10⁶ leptospires and seven heifers were inoculated by conjunctival installation of 10⁸ leptospires on four occasions (Days 1, 2, 3, and 21) (C. A. Bolin, National Animal Disease Center, Ames, IA, personal communication, 1988). Shedding of leptospires from the heifers was confirmed by culture or FAT of urine samples taken at irregular intervals between inoculation and euthanasia of the cattle at 2 to 4 months post-inoculation. Slaughter plant specimens were collected from mature cows and bulls which were recently culled from cow-calf operations because of age, reproductive failure, or other physical problems. Lesions observed in the slaughter plant specimens were interstitial nephritis, petechial hemorrhages, fibrosis, and infarctions.

Four specimens were taken from each kidney with 10 ml single-use syringes which had been modified by cutting the barrels off at a 45-degree angle. The syringes were inserted into the kidneys to a depth of 2 to 3 cm and were rotated to cut the tissue loose. The core samples which contained both cortical and medullary tissue were separated from the remainder of the kidney by prying them out with the tip of the modified syringe. Size of specimens ranged from 2.5 to 3.5 g. One specimen from each kidney was

cultured within 24 hours after collection. Three specimens were placed in polypropylene bottles containing 18 ml of 1% BSA solution with 200 ug/ml of 5-FU and held at 4 C for periods of 3, 6, and 8 days respectively before being cultured.

Specimens were cultured by the method described by Ellis et al. (1981) with some modifications. Specimens were placed in WhirlPaks^a with 30 ml of 1% BSA solution and were homogenized in a Stomacher 400.^b Three serial ten-fold dilutions of homogenates were made in 1% BSA solution and from each dilution 0.5 ml aliquots were inoculated into 9 ml quantities of polysorbate-80 bovine albumin (P80-BA) semisolid medium containing 200 ug/ml of 5-FU. Cultures were incubated at 29 C for 16 weeks and were examined by visual observation and darkfield microscopy on a weekly basis for 4 weeks and twice monthly thereafter. Isolates were subcultured in P80-BA medium immediately after darkfield confirmation of leptospira growth. Bacterial and fungal contaminants were removed from positive cultures by dilution (1:20) in P80-BA liquid medium and filtration through 0.45 or 0.22 um filters.^c Isolates were identified to the serovar level with agglutininabsorption tests as previously described (Kmety et al., 1970).

^aNasco, Ft. Atkinson, WI.

^bTekmar, Inc., Cincinnati, OH.

^cFalcon Filters; Becton, Dickinson, and Co., Cockeysville, MD.

RESULTS

Leptospires were isolated from all of 8 kidneys from experimentally infected cattle and from 12 (3%) of 400 kidneys obtained from the slaughter plant. All of 32 samples taken from experimentally infected cattle and 40 (83%) of 48 samples from naturally infected cattle were culturally positive. Leptospires were isolated from 17 (85%) of 20 positive tissues cultured on day 1, 19 (95%) on day 3, 18 (90%) on day 6, and 18 (90%) on day 8.

Leptospires were isolated from all specimens from experimentally infected cattle inoculated on days 1, 3, 6, and 8 (Table 1). Of the 12 positive slaughter plant specimens, leptospires were found in 9 (75%) of the cultures inoculated on day 1, 11 (92%) on day 3, 10 (83%) on day 6, and 10 (83%) on day 8 (Table 2). Eight (67%) of the 12 specimens were positive in cultures inoculated on all four days. Leptospires were found in first dilutions of all 20 positive cultures, in second dilutions of 11 cultures, and in third dilutions of 9 cultures, and were recovered from 4 contaminated cultures. Of the 12 isolates from slaughter plant specimens, 6 (50%) were identical to the <u>kennewicki</u> strain of the serovar <u>pomona</u>, 5 (42%) were identified as serovar <u>hardjo</u>, and 1 (8%) as serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> (Table 2).

Sample		Days Afte	r Collection	
No.	1	3	6	8
1	+	+	+	+
2	+	+	+	+
3	+	+	+	+
4	+	+	+	+
5	+	+	+	+
6	+	+	+	+
7	+	+	+	+
8	+	+	+	+

Table 1.	Culture	results	from	kidney	tissues	of	cattle	experimentally
	infected	d with se	erovai	r hardjo				

+ Leptospira isolated

Sample No.	Serovar Isolated	1	Days After C 3	ollection 6	8
S- 1	hardjo	+	+	+	+
S- 2	kennewicki	+	+	+	+
S- 3	kennewicki	+	+	+	+
S- 4	grippotyphosa	+	+	+	+
S- 5	kennewicki	n	+	n	n
S- 6	hardjo	+	+	+	+
S- 7	hardjo	+	+	+	+
S- 8	kennewicki	+	+	+	+
S- 9	hardjo	n	+	n	n
S-10	kennewicki	+	+	+	+
S-11	kennewicki	n	+	+	+
S-12	hardjo	+	n	+	+

Table 2. Culture results from bovine kidneys collected at slaughter

+ Leptospira isolated, n Negative

DISCUSSION

Delays of 3, 6, and 8 days between collection of samples and inoculation of media were used to simulate various lengths of time needed for transportation of specimens to a diagnostic laboratory. Isolation from 95% of positive tissues on day 3 and 90% on days 6 and 8 indicates that leptospires can be recovered from a relatively high percentage of infected kidney tissues held in transport medium under refrigeration. Most specimens are received in diagnostic laboratories within 3 days after collection. A summary of data from 277 submissions sent to the National Veterinary Services Laboratories for leptospira isolation from nine states during fiscal year 1987 indicated a range of 1 to 7 days (mean 2.2) between collection and receipt of specimens (D. A. Miller, National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Ames, IA, unpublished data, 1987). The results of this study indicate that the probability of isolation from infected tissues received within this range of time is relatively high.

Although specimens cannot be shipped under a controlled temperature of 4 C as was used in this study, they can be protected from undergoing severe autolytic changes by shipping them with ice packs in well-insulated containers. Protection of specimens from heat, the protective effect for leptospires of 1% BSA, and selective inhibitors which prevent overgrowth of other bacteria can provide the diagnostician with good quality specimens.

A difference was observed between the percentages of culturally positive samples from experimentally infected cattle (100%) and naturally

infected cattle (83%). There appear to be two possible explanations for this difference. First, the experimentally infected cattle were inoculated with serovar hardjo strains which had been passaged twice in P80-BA medium since they were originally isolated, and might have become less fastidious than other field strains due to medium adaptation. Secondly, there was probably a difference in stages of infection between the two groups. The experimentally infected cattle were euthanized at 2 to 4 months postinoculation, and were actively infected as evidenced by frequent demonstrations of leptospires in the urine by isolation or FAT. Amatredjo et al. (1976) observed that rates of identification of leptospires with culture or silver stain techniques were higher in acute clinical cases than in subclinical cases, whether experimental or natural. Limited histories of the naturally infected cattle indicated that they were culled from cow-calf operations because of age, reproductive failure, or other physical problems. The lesions observed in these culled animals were suggestive of chronic infections in which the number of leptospires is low and leptospires are not distributed uniformly throughout the kidney (Amatredjo et al., 1976). Urinary shedding in the chronically infected animal is often intermittent, and urine cultures are frequently negative. Sampling multiple sites of the kidney in this type of animal could be expected to increase the probability of isolation (Amatredjo et al., 1976; Michna et al., 1974).

REFERENCES

- Amatredjo, A., Campbell, R. S. F. and Trueman, K. F. 1976. A study of nephritis in beef cattle in North Queensland. Aust. Vet. J. 52:398-402.
- Cole, J. R., Sulzer, C. R. and Pursell, A. R. 1973. Improved microtechnique for the leptospiral microscopic agglutination test. Appl. Microbiol. 25:976-980.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1973. Growth temperatures, virulence, survival, and nutrition of leptospires. J. Med. Microbiol. 6:487-497.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. and McCullough, W. G. 1965. Nutrition of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>pomona</u> and growth of 13 other serotypes: Fractionation of oleic albumin complex and a medium of bovine albumin and polysorbate 80. Am. J. Vet. Res. 26:45-51.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J. and Cassells, J. 1981. Role of Cattle in the maintenance of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serotype <u>hardjo</u> infection in Northern Ireland. Vet. Rec. 108:555-557.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Neill, S. D., Ferguson, H. W. and Hanna, J. 1982. Bovine leptospirosis: Microbiological and serological findings in aborted fetuses. Vet. Rec. 110:147-150.
- Ellis, W. A., Montgomery, J. and Cassells, J. A. 1985. Dihydrostreptomycin treatment of bovine carriers of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar hardjo. Res. Vet. Sci. 39:292-295.
- Fairbrother, J. M. 1985. Effects of products of autolysis of tissue and urine on the viability, morphology, and antigenicity of <u>Leptospira</u> interrogans serovar pomona. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:189-194.
- Ho, H. F. and Blackmore, D. K. 1979. Effect of chilling and freezing on survival of <u>Leptospira</u> interrogans serovar pomona in naturally infected pig kidneys. N. Z. Vet. J. 27:121-123.
- Johnson, R. C. and Harris, V. G. 1967. Differentiation of pathogenic and saprophytic leptospires. I. Growth at low temperatures. J. Bacteriol. 94:27-31.
- Kirkbride, C. A. 1984. Leptospiral abortion. Pp. 54-76. In C. A. Kirkbride, ed. Laboratory Diagnosis of Abortion in Food Animals. American Association of Veterinary Laboratory Diagnosticians, Madison, WI.
- Kmety, E., Galton, M. M. and Sulzer, C. R. 1970. Further standardization of the agglutinin-absorption test in the serology of leptospires. Bull. Wld. Health Org. 42:733-738.

- Michna, S. W. 1959. The survival of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> in the renal tissue of a pig. Vet. Rec. 71:549-552.
- Michna, S. W., Ellis, W. and Dikken, H. 1974. The isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> from an aborting cow. Res. Vet. Sci. 17:133-135.
- Stoenner, H. G. 1975. Summary report on the 1975 survey for leptospirosis in the United States. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 79:145-149.
- Stringfellow, D. A., Brown, R. R., Hanson, L. E., Schnurrenberger, P. R. and Johnson, J. 1983. Can antibody responses in cattle vaccinated with a multivalent bacterin interfere with serologic diagnosis of disease? J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 182:165-167.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1984. Leptospirosis: Current developments and trends. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 184:722-725.
- Thiermann, A. B. and Handsaker, A. L. 1985. Experimental infection of calves with <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>: Conjunctival versus intravenous route of exposure. Am. J. Vet. Res. 46:329-331.
- Thiermann, A. B., McClellan, R. D. and Hill, H. T. 1984. Improved techniques for the isolation of leptospires from swine abortion cases. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 27:233-244.

PART II A SURVEY TO ESTIMATE THE PREVALENCE OF <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> INFECTION IN MATURE CATTLE IN THE UNITED STATES
A SURVEY TO ESTIMATE THE PREVALENCE OF <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> INFECTION IN MATURE CATTLE IN THE UNITED STATES

D. A. Miller, DVM, M. A. Wilson, BS, and G. W. Beran, DVM, PhD

From the National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Science and Technology, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture, Ames, IA 50010 (Miller, Wilson) and the Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Preventive Medicine, College of Veterinary Medicine, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011 (Beran).

SUMMARY

A total of 5,142 kidney tissue samples and 5,111 serum samples from mature cattle in 49 States and Puerto Rico were collected at slaughter. The range in ages of the cattle sampled was 1 to 16 years (mean 6.6). Leptospires were isolated from 88 (1.7%) of the kidney tissues, and 2,493 (49%) of the sera were positive against one or more of 12 leptospira antigens. Forty-one (0.8%) of the kidney tissues were positive in a leptospira fluorescent antibody test (FAT). Seventy-three (83%) of the isolates were identified as serovar hardjo, 11 (12.5%) as serovar pomona, and 4 (4.5%) as serovar grippotyphosa with agglutinin-absorption tests. With restriction endonuclease analysis (REA) methods, all isolates differed from reference serovars, but were identical to strains previously isolated from cattle or swine in the United States. Of the serovar hardjo isolates, 62 (85%) were identical to REA type hardjo-bovis A and 11 (15%) were identical to REA type hardjo-bovis B. Serovar pomona isolates were identical to the kennewicki type A (64%) or type B (36%) strains, and serovar grippotyphosa isolates were identical to the RM 52 strain. Isolation rates were significantly higher for beef cattle than for dairy cattle and higher for bulls than for cows. The combined culture and FAT results indicated that 2% of mature cattle sampled were renal carriers of leptospires.

INTRODUCTION

Since the 1950s, there have been many case reports describing abortions, weak and stillborn calves, infertility, hemolytic anemia, and mastitis associated with leptospira infection (Turner et al., 1958; Dacres and Kiesel, 1958; Sulzer et al., 1964; Diesch et al., 1967; Smith et al., 1972; Glosser et al., 1974; Hanson, 1984). However, the data published on prevalence and distribution of leptospira infection in cattle have been limited to cultural studies in small geographical areas and serological surveys.

For 20 years after the original isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>pomona</u> in 1948, <u>pomona</u> was generally accepted as the predominant serovar in cattle (Hanson and Brodie, 1967). Evidence supporting the etiologic role of other serovars began to accumulate in the 1950s and 1960s. Turner et al. (1958) documented the infection of a newborn calf in Alabama with serovar <u>canicola</u>. Roth and Galton (1960) described the isolation of serovar <u>hardjo</u> from cattle in Louisiana. Sulzer et al. (1964) and Hanson et al. (1965) reported isolations of serovar <u>hardjo</u> from cattle following abortions in Nebraska and Illinois, respectively. Hanson et al. (1964) isolated serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> from the urine of a cow 7 days after abortion in Illinois. Diesch et al. (1967) reported isolations of serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>hardjo</u> from aborting cattle in Iowa. Schnurrenberger et al. (1970) described isolations of serovars <u>hardjo</u> from beef cattle and <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> from dairy cattle in Illinois. Glosser et al. (1974) isolated serovar <u>swzajizak</u> from dairy cattle in Oregon with metritis,

anestrus, mastitis, agalactia, and stillbirths. The <u>kennewicki</u> strain of serovar <u>pomona</u> was isolated from cattle in Washington subsequent to a human outbreak of leptospirosis (Nelson et al., 1973). Serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>balcanica</u>, and <u>pomona</u> were isolated in a survey of slaughter cattle in Florida in which the overall leptospira isolation rate was 27% (White et al., 1982).

In a study of microbial causes of abortion in Michigan, leptospira antibodies were found in sera from 6 of 50 fetuses and leptospires were detected by darkfield examination in 3 of 98 aborted bovine fetuses (Moojen et al., 1983). Maestrone (1963) demonstrated leptospires with a fluorescent antibody test (FAT) in 5 of 21 bovine urine specimens and 7 of 10 aborted fetuses from suspected cases of leptospirosis. Leptospires were detected by FAT in 9 of 57 aborted fetuses in Massachusetts (Smith et al., 1967) and in 11 of 1,309 aborted calves in South Dakota (Kirkbride and Halley, 1982).

Serological surveys in Wisconsin (Ruedy et al., 1964; Lyle, 1967), Georgia (Cole et al., 1972), Florida (Rubin, 1977), Iowa (Nervig et al., 1980), and Arizona (Songer et al., 1983) have clearly shown that antibodies against serovar <u>hardjo</u> are widely distributed in the United States cattle population. A summary of serological test results from 18 states indicated a leptospira infection rate of 16% in cattle (Hanson, 1974). Stoenner's (1975) analysis of microscopic agglutination test results from 13 diagnostic laboratories indicated the prevalence of infections with serovars <u>pomona</u> and <u>hardjo</u> was greater in the southeastern and western states than

in the midwest, and the nationwide prevalence of serovar <u>hardjo</u> infections was greater than that of serovar <u>pomona</u>.

The purpose of the present study was the collection and analysis of statistically valid data from cultural, serological, and fluorescent antibody tests to estimate the prevalence of <u>L</u>. <u>interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The bovine population sampled in this survey consisted of mature cows and bulls recently culled from dairy and beef herds. A list of 1,455 Federally inspected packing plants which were processing mature cattle and the number of cattle slaughtered annually by each plant were obtained from the United States Department of Agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS). Data for plants in operation and the number of cattle slaughtered were updated quarterly during the survey. Plants to be sampled each week were randomly selected. The annual slaughter rates of the plants ranged from one to 270,000. For each 60,000 cattle slaughtered annually, one sample per week was requested. A total of 110 samples per week was requested from selected slaughter plants during the period February 23, 1986, through February 20, 1987. Instructions and materials for collection and submission of samples were mailed to the plants 2 weeks prior to the dates of sample collection. FSIS Inspectors-in-Charge (IICs) were asked to select a cow or bull at random on designated dates without regard for the presence or absence of disease signs for collection of a kidney tissue sample and a blood sample. Core samples of kidney tissue (2.5 to 3.5 g) were collected with modified 10 ml disposable syringes (Miller et al., 1989b) and 13 ml serum separation tubes were used for collection of blood samples. Kidney samples were placed in polypropylene bottles containing 18 ml of a transport medium composed of 1% BSA solution (Ellinghausen, 1973) with 200 ug/ml of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) (Johnson and Rogers, 1964). IICs furnished available information as to sex, type of animal (dairy or beef),

backtag and eartag numbers, state of origin, and estimated age for each animal sampled. Samples were shipped to the National Veterinary Services Laboratories (NVSL), Ames, Iowa, in styrofoam containers with ice packs by priority mail as soon as possible after collection.

Samples received from Monday through Friday of each week were processed immediately after receipt. Samples that arrived on weekends or holidays were held at 4 C and were processed on the next workday. Kidney tissues were cultured by the method described by Ellis et al. (1981) with some modifications. Tissues were removed from transport medium and homogenized (1:10) with a Stomacher 400^a in fresh transport medium. From the homogenate, three serial ten-fold dilutions were made in 1% BSA, and 0.5 ml of each dilution was inoculated into polysorbate 80-bovine albumin (P80-BA) semisolid medium (Ellinghausen and McCullough, 1965) with 200 ug/ml of 5-FU and T80/40/LH semisolid medium with 200 ug/ml of 5-FU and 20 ug/ml of naladixic acid (Ellis et al., 1985a). Each lot of medium was pretested for growth of leptospires by inoculation with serial ten-fold dilutions of field isolates of serovars hardjo and copenhageni recently passaged in hamsters (Ellinghausen, 1975). Lots of media were used only if growth of serovar hardjo could be achieved from an inoculum of 10 to 100 cells within 4 weeks. Procedures for incubation and examination of cultures and recovery of leptospires from contaminated cultures have been previously described (Miller et al., 1989b).

^aTekmar Inc., Cincinnati, OH.

Rabbit antisera against isolates were produced by the method described by Sulzer and Jones (1980) except that P80-BA medium was used rather than Fletcher's medium. Agglutinin-absorption tests were used to compare isolates with reference serovars for identification as previously described (Kmety et al., 1970). Isolates were also identified with the restriction endonuclease analysis (REA) method described by LeFebvre et al. (1985) as modified by Ellis (W. A. Ellis, Veterinary Research Laboratories, Belfast, Northern Ireland, personal communication, 1988). Genomic DNA of serovar hardjo and grippotyphosa isolates was treated with restriction enzyme Hha I, and that of serovar <u>pomona</u> with a combination of Hha I and Bgl II.^b In addition to the reference serovars hardjo Hardjoprajitno, pomona Pomona, and grippotyphosa Andaman, isolates were compared to hardjo-bovis type A and B strains of serovar hardjo, the kennewicki type A and B strains of serovar pomona, and the RM 52 strain of serovar grippotyphosa which were previously isolated from cattle or swine in the United States (Thiermann et al., 1984; Thiermann et al., 1985; Thiermann et al., 1986; C. A. Bolin, National Animal Disease Center, Ames, IA, personal communication, 1987).

Sera were separated from blood samples and were screened at a 1:100 dilution with the microscopic agglutination test (MAT) (National Veterinary Services Laboratories, 1987) against 12 antigens representative of the \underline{L} . <u>interrogans</u> serogroups known to occur in the United States (Table 2).

^bBethesda Research Laboratories, Rockville, MD.

Positive sera were titrated against reacting antigens in serial two-fold dilutions from 1:100 to 1:12,800.

Two ml aliquots of homogenates were stored at -70 C and were examined with a direct fluorescent antibody test (FAT) as previously described (Miller et al., 1989*a*) after completion of culture work. Samples were considered positive only if fluorescent cells with typical leptospira morphology were observed.

Serological and cultural prevalence rates among sexes, types, and ages of cattle were compared in chi-square tests of independence. Geometric mean serum titers (GMTs) were calculated for cattle from which tissue samples were culturally positive and negative. GMTs were tested for a significant difference with Student's t test.

RESULTS

A total of 5,142 kidney tissue samples and 5,111 serum samples were received from 49 States and Puerto Rico. No samples were received from Alaska. Less than 50 samples were received from each of 16 States and Puerto Rico. Eighty-two samples were collected from dairy bulls, 2,543 from dairy cows, 356 from beef bulls, and 2,161 from beef cows (Table 1). The age range of the cattle was 1 to 16 years (mean 6.6). A total of 4,754 (92%) of the samples were collected from cattle between 4 and 10 years of age. Time between collection of samples and receipt in the laboratory ranged from 1 to 14 days (mean 4.6).

A total of 2,493 (49%) of the sera were positive in the MAT against one or more serovars at dilutions \geq 1:100. Positives against more than one serovar were found in 1,609 (65%) of the positive sera. A total of 29% of the sera were positive against serovar <u>hardjo</u>, 23% against serovar <u>pomona</u>, 20% against serovar <u>copenhageni</u>, 14% against serovar <u>wolffi</u>, 11% against serovar <u>canicola</u>, and 6% against serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u>. Lower positive rates were observed against other serovars.

The percentage of positive sera was significantly higher for beef cattle (53%) than for dairy cattle (44%) (p < .001), and higher for cows (49%) than for bulls (43%) (p < .05). The highest rate of seropositives was seen in beef cows (55%), and the lowest rate in dairy bulls (33%). MAT results by serovar and type of cattle are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

Leptospires were isolated from 88 (1.7%) of the kidney tissues. Positive cultures were detected by darkfield examination from 10 to 46 days post-inoculation (mean 18.5). Isolations were made from 1 sample in T80/40/LH medium only, from 12 samples in P80-BA medium only, and from 75 samples in both media. Leptospires were found in first dilutions of 88 cultures, second dilutions of 65 cultures, and third dilutions of 39 cultures. Leptospires were recovered from 28 contaminated cultures.

A total of 73 (83%) of the isolates were identified as serovar <u>hardjo</u>, 11 (12.5%) as serovar <u>pomona</u>, and 4 (4.5%) as serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> with agglutinin-absorption tests. All of the isolates had REA patterns which differed from those of reference serovars (Figures 1 and 2). Sixty-two (85%) of the serovar <u>hardjo</u> isolates had REA patterns identical to <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A, and 11 (15%) were identical to <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B. All serovar <u>pomona</u> isolates differed from the reference strain in both the agglutinin-absorption test and REA. Seven (64%) were identical to <u>kennewicki</u> type A, and 4 (36%) were identical to <u>kennewicki</u> type B. All serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> isolates had REA patterns identical to the RM 52 strain.

Isolation rates were significantly higher for beef cattle samples than for dairy cattle samples (p < .001), and higher for bull samples than for cow samples (p < .001). The highest isolation rate was obtained from beef bull samples and the lowest rate from dairy cow samples (Table 3). Leptospires were isolated from cattle 2 to 12 years of age (mean 6.3) (Table 4).

	Dai	ry	Be		
State	Bulls	Cows	Bulls	Cows	Total
AL	0	12	6	51	69
AZ	0	6	0	10	16
AR	1	17	12	52	82
CA	7	134	19	55	215
CO	2	32	15	73	122
CT	0	14	0	0	14
DE	0	1	0	0	1
FL	1	37	4	28	70
GA	1	26	6	42	75
HI	0	2	4	1	7
ID	2	57	5	56	120
IL	4	44	2	23	73
IN	2	41	4	10	57
IA	4	106	8	76	194
KS	1	44	20	106	171
KY	3	61	13	50	127
LA	0	26	4	38	68
ME	0	13	2	2	17
MD	0	15	0	2	17
MA	0	17	1	0	18
MI	4	101	0	3	108
MN	10	282	10	32	334
MS	0	25	9	59	93
MO	2	70	16	103	191
MT	0	5	12	81	98

Table 1. Survey samples received by state and type of cattle

	Dairy Boof						
	Da	iry	B	eet			
State	Bulls	Cows	Bulls	Cows	Total		
NE	1	39	18	168	226		
NV	0	0	3	4	7		
NH	0	1	0	0	1		
NJ	1	8	0	1	10		
NM	0	26	3	34	63		
NY	4	180	2	7	193		
NC	1	26	5	26	58		
ND	3	39	4	54	100		
OH	0	68	3	13	84		
OK	0	33	24	128	185		
OR	0	25	7	34	66		
PA	5	176	7	17	205		
RI	0	1	0	0	1		
SC	0	4	2	10	16		
SD	1	64	19	121	205		
TN	3	58	6	52	119		
TX	6	78	60	428	572		
UT	0	21	4	14	39		
VT	0	20	1	0	21		
VA	1	39	4	18	62		
WA	1	62	4	33	100		
WV	0	12	0	2	14		
WI	6	364	0	10	380		
WY	1	6	2	31	40		
PR	4	5	6	3	18		
Total	82	2543	356	2161	5142		

Table 1.	(Continued)
----------	-------------

-	Serovar ^a	Cow	Beef Bull	Da Cow	iry Bull	No. Positive ^b	% Positive ^C
	AS	17	2	11	0	30	0.6
	AT	68	11	51	2	132	2.6
	BM	90	14	81	4	189	3.7
	BT	19	5	20	0	44	0.9
	CA	224	17	313	3	557	10.9
	GR	133	13	147	5	298	5.8
	HA	703	100	680	18	1501	29.4
	IC	453	38	519	4	1014	19.8
	PO	566	57	536	10	1169	22.9
	РҮ	97	12	116	2	227	4.4
	TA	53	7	59	3	122	2.4
	WO	382	61	281	13	737	14.4

Table 2. MAT results by serovar and type of cattle

^aAS <u>australis</u>, AT <u>autumnalis</u>, BM <u>ballum</u>, BT <u>bataviae</u>, CA <u>canicola</u>, GR <u>grippotyphosa</u>, HA <u>hardjo</u>, IC <u>copenhageni</u>, PO <u>pomona</u>, PY <u>pyrogenes</u>, TA <u>tarassovi</u>, WO wolffi.

 $^{b}1609$ (64.5%) of positive sera were positive against more than one serovar; positive ≥ 100 titer.

^CPercentage positive of total number of samples.

	Beef	Dairy	Total	
Cow	55 ^a (2.0) ^b	45 (0.9)	49 (1.4)	
Bull	45 (5.3)	33 (3.7)	43 (5.0)	
Total	53 (2.5)	45 (1.0)	49 (1.7)	

Table 3. Summary of serological and cultural results by type of cattle

apercentage of positive sera; positive ≥ 100 titer against 1 or more of 12 antigens.

 $^{\mathrm{b}}$ Percentage of isolates in parentheses = no. isolates divided by no. samples.



Figure 1. Electrophoretic patterns of a Hind III digest of lambda DNA (1); Hha I and Bgl II double digests of <u>kennewicki</u> type A reference (2), <u>kennewicki</u> type A isolate (3), <u>pomona</u> Pomona reference (4), <u>kennewicki</u> type B isolate (5), and <u>kennewicki</u> type B reference (6); and Hha I digests of <u>grippotyphosa</u> Andaman reference (7), <u>grippotyphosa</u> isolate (8), and <u>grippotyphosa</u> RM 52 reference (9)



Figure 2. Electrophoretic patterns of a Hind III digest of lambda DNA (1) and Hha I digests of <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A reference (2), <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A isolate (3), <u>hardjo</u> Hardjoprajitno reference (4), <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B isolate (5), and <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B reference (6) Differences in isolation rates by ages of cattle were not significant. Of 62 isolates from beef cattle, 52 (84%) were serovar <u>hardjo</u>, 6 (10%) were serovar <u>pomona</u>, and 4 (6%) were serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u>. Of 26 isolates from dairy cattle, 21 (81%) were serovar <u>hardjo</u> and 5 (19%) were serovar <u>pomona</u> (Table 5).

Forty-one (0.8%) of the kidney samples were positive in the FAT. The number of leptospires observed ranged from less than one to 100 per microscopic field at 250X magnification. More leptospires were observed in samples from which serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>pomona</u> were isolated (usually 20 to 50 per field) compared to the low numbers observed in samples from which serovar hardjo was isolated (1 to 5 per field).

With the exception of one sample from which serovar <u>pomona</u> was isolated, the sera from cattle which were culturally positive were also serologically positive. MAT titers ranged from 100 to 12,800 against <u>hardjo</u>, 1,600 to 12,800 against <u>pomona</u>, and 400 to 1,600 against <u>grippotyphosa</u> in cattle from which the respective serovars were isolated. A significant difference in GMTs for cattle from which companion tissue samples were culturally positive (879) and negative (119) was observed (p < .001). Of 85 samples which were both serologically and culturally positive, 72 (85%) of the sera exhibited the highest titer against the serovar which was isolated, 11 (13%) reacted to the same titer against both the serovar isolated and another serovar, and 2 (2%) reacted more strongly against another serovar than against the serovar isolated. Of 71 samples from which serovar <u>hardjo</u> was isolated and companion serum samples were available, 5 (7%) of

											_
Age (years)	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
No. Samples	77	188	411	1124	973	694	712	220	620	42	48
No. Isolates	3	8	8	20	12	9	15	2	7	1	3
Isolation Rate (%)	3.9	4.2	1.9	1.8	1.2	1.3	2.1	0.9	1.1	2.4	6.3

Table 4. Number of isolates and isolation rates by age of cattle

Cows 27	Bulls	Cows	Bulls	Total
27	15	18		
		10	2	62
8	2	1	-	11
(35)	(17)	(19)	(2)	(73)
3	1	3	-	7
2	-	1	1	4
(5)	(1)	(4)	(1)	(11)
3	1	-	-	4
43	19	23	3	88
	(35) 3 2 (5) 3 43	0 2 (35) (17) 3 1 2 - (5) (1) 3 1 43 19	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 5. Isolates by serovar and type of cattle

the sera were positive against serovar <u>hardjo</u> only, 47 (66%) were positive against serovars <u>hardjo</u> and <u>wolffi</u>, and 19 (27%) had MAT titers ranging from 100 to 6,400 against serovars <u>ballum</u>, <u>bataviae</u>, <u>canicola</u>, <u>copenhageni</u>, <u>pomona</u>, <u>pyrogenes</u>, <u>tarassovi</u>, and/or <u>wolffi</u> in addition to <u>hardjo</u>. A total of 52 (73%) of the sera had titers against only serovar <u>hardjo</u> and the closely related serovar <u>wolffi</u>. Of 11 samples from which serovar <u>pomona</u> was isolated, 1 (9%) serum was negative, 1 (9%) was positive against serovars <u>pomona</u> and <u>autumnalis</u>, and 9 (82%) were positive against multiple serovars, predominantly the serovars <u>autumnalis</u> and <u>copenhageni</u>, in addition to <u>hardjo</u>. Of four samples from which serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> was isolated, one serum was positive against serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u> only and three sera had multiple titers against serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and/or <u>wolffi</u>.

FAT positives were observed in 31 (35%) of 88 culturally positive samples and 10 samples which were culturally negative. Of 73 tissues from which serovar <u>hardjo</u> was isolated, 11 from which serovar <u>pomona</u> was isolated, and 4 from which serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> was isolated, 20 (27%), 8 (73%), and 3 (75%) were also FAT positive, respectively. Of the 40 FAT positive samples with companion sera, 5 (12%) of the sera were negative in the MAT and 35 (88%) were positive against multiple serovars, predominantly <u>canicola</u>, <u>grippotyphosa</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, and <u>pomona</u>.

DISCUSSION

Compared to the total United States cattle population, the collection of samples in proportion to the annual slaughter rates of individual plants led to a disproportionate number of samples being collected from dairy cattle in 1986 due to the sale of large numbers of dairy cattle through the USDA Dairy Termination Program in that year.

The seropositive rate (49%) observed in this study approximated that observed in 1986 in a summary of results from diagnostic samples from 25 states (Miller, 1986). One possible explanation for the fact that beef cattle had a higher seropositive rate and a higher isolation rate than dairy cattle is that beef cattle are often free ranging and are frequently exposed to stagnant water, rodents, and other wildlife carriers. Dairy cattle are more often kept in dry lot areas and may not have as much exposure to these sources of infection. Since dairy cattle are commonly artificially inseminated and beef cattle are commonly bred naturally, venereal transmission (Ellis et al., 1985a) could have been a contributing factor to the difference observed. Seroprevalences of serovars hardjo and pomona were also observed to be higher in beef cattle than in dairy cattle in Ontario (Prescott et al., 1988), but the opposite relationship has been demonstrated in serovar hardjo abortions in Ireland by cultural and immunofluoresence methods (Ellis et al., 1985b) and in serovar hardjo and pomona abortions in Australia by serological methods (Elder et al., 1985).

Antibodies against serovar hardjo were most commonly detected, followed by serovars pomona and copenhageni. This confirmed Stoenner's observation in 1975 that the nationwide seroprevalence of serovar hardjo was greater than that of serovar pomona. Since serovars hardjo and wolffi are closely related, the reaction of sera with wolffi antigen was probably cross-reactivity with serovar hardjo antibodies. For many years, titers against serovar sejroe were observed in bovine serum, but it was later shown that this reactivity could be absorbed with serovar hardjo antigen (Alexander and Evans, 1962). Some seropositives may have been due to residual antibodies from vaccination, although this variable could not be related to serological results since the vaccination status of cattle was unknown. Morter (1980) observed titers > 1,000 at 6 months post-inoculation in some cattle vaccinated with two doses of a pentavalent leptospira bacterin. Ris and Hamel (1982) reported geometric mean titers ranging from 1,300 to 10,000 at 2 to 3 months post-inoculation in calves vaccinated with a hardjo-pomona bacterin. Stringfellow et al. (1983) observed titers up to 3,200 in cattle vaccinated with a pentavalent bacterin, and noted that discrimination between post-infection and post-vaccination titers in individual animals might be difficult during a 20-week period following vaccination. Hodges and Day (1987) found that MAT titers ranging from 100 to 3,000 persisted for 7 to 23 weeks post-vaccination in heifers inoculated with a hardjo-pomona bacterin. Other seropositives in this study may have been due to residual antibodies in animals that were no longer renal carriers (Orr and Little, 1979; Hodges and Ris, 1974) or antibodies in animals with too few leptospires to be detected with culture or FAT methods (Miller

et al., 1989a). The GMTs of 879 for culturally positive cattle and 119 for culturally negative cattle could be interpreted as evidence that most cattle with titers of approximately 800 are infected and those with titers of approximately 100 are not. However, leptospires have been isolated from seronegative cattle (Ellis et al., 1981), and isolation attempts failed in some cattle with high titers in the present study.

The overall isolation rate was much lower than the seropositive rate and the isolation rate was higher for bulls than for cows. White et al. (1982) reported an isolation rate of 27% for Florida cattle at slaughter and also found the isolation rate below the seropositive rate (71%) and the isolation rate for steers (38%) greater than that for bulls (25%) and cows (12.5%). In a survey of Iowa cattle at slaughter, Thiermann (1983) reported an isolation rate of 6% for cows. Both of the previous studies were conducted in one slaughter plant over a limited period of time (3 months and 2 months, respectively) with a limited number of samples (306 and 204, respectively). In the present study, mature cattle were sampled in an effort to measure the rate of infection in animals used for reproduction. Other studies in Ireland (Ellis et al., 1981), England (Orr and Little, 1979), Quebec (Gregoire et al., 1987), and Australia (Skilbeck et al., 1988) have generally indicated that steers in confinement have higher rates of leptospira infection than brood cattle on pasture. Apparently, transmission occurs more rapidly and more extensively through these concentrated groups of cattle. Possible reasons for this could be increased chances for contact of urine with mucus membranes of the eyes, nose, and mouth and

retention of infective urine in pools on feedlot floors for prolonged periods. No relationship was apparent between ages of cattle and culturally positive status. The mean age of culturally positive cattle (6.3 years) was approximately the same as the mean age of all cattle sampled (6.6 years). Ellis et al. (1981) found a much higher prevalence of infection in younger cattle in Ireland and concluded that younger animals played an important role in the epidemiology of leptospira infection.

Serovar <u>hardjo</u> was most frequently isolated (83% of the isolates), followed by serovar <u>pomona</u> (12%). These findings agreed with the order but not the magnitude of seropositive rates: 29% and 23%, respectively. The serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> ranked third among isolates and fifth in seropositive rate, excluding <u>wolffi</u>. The third- and fourth-ranked serovars in seropositivity, <u>copenhageni</u> and <u>canicola</u>, were not isolated in this study, although they have been previously isolated from cattle in the United States (Turner et al., 1958; Miller, 1985). All isolates differed in the REA from the reference serovars which were isolated in other countries. This finding may have importance in future epidemiological studies, identification of isolates, and selection of antigens for serological tests and bacterins (Thiermann, 1984).

Leptospires were detected in 41 samples with the FAT, including 5 samples which were serologically negative and 10 samples which were culturally negative. Although the FAT detection rate of culturally positive samples was low (35%), leptospires were found in 10 samples which would not have otherwise been detected. Leptospires were detected with the combination of

culture and FAT methods in 98 (2%) of the kidney tissues. If the rate of renal infection was constant throughout the estimated 1986 mature cattle population of 47 million (Anonymous, 1986), it could be estimated that approximately one million mature cattle were renal carriers of leptospires in the United States during this period.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, A. D. and Evans, L. B. 1962. The significance of <u>Leptospira</u> sejroe agglutinins in bovine serums. Am. J. Vet. Res. 23:267-273.
- Anonymous. 1986. January Cattle Inventory Report. Publication No. LVGN 1 (286). National Agricultural Statistics Service, U. S. Dept. of Agriculture, Washington, DC.
- Cole, J. R., Pursell, A. R. and Peckham, J. C. 1972. Serologic incidence of leptospirosis in Georgia cattle. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 76: 635-644.
- Dacres, W. G. and Kiesel, G. K. 1958. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona from a bovine fetus. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 132:525-526.
- Diesch, S. L., McCulloch, W. F., Crawford, R. P., Bennett, P. C., and Braun, J. L. 1967. Epidemiologic studies of <u>Leptospira grippotyphosa</u> and <u>Leptospira hardjo</u> infections in Iowa cattle. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 71:195-205.
- Elder, J. K., Pepper, P. M., Hill, M. W. M. and Ward, W. H. 1985. The significance of leptospiral titres associated with bovine abortion. Aust. Vet. J. 62:258-262.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1973. Growth temperatures, virulence, survival, and nutrition of leptospires. J. Med. Microbiol. 6:487-497.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1975. Variable factors influencing the isolation of leptospires involving culture ingredients and testing. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 79:126-141.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. and McCullough, W. G. 1965. Nutrition of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>pomona</u> and growth of 13 other serotypes: Fractionation of oleic albumin complex and a medium of bovine albumin and polysorbate 80. Am. J. Vet. Res. 26:45-51.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J. and Cassells, J. 1981. Role of cattle in the maintenance of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serotype <u>hardjo</u> infection in Northern Ireland. Vet. Rec. 108:555-557.
- Ellis, W. A., Montgomery, J. and Cassells, J. A. 1985a. Dihydrostreptomycin treatment of bovine carriers of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>. Res. Vet. Sci. 39:292-295.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Bryson, D. G. and Mackie, D. P. 1985b. Bovine leptospirosis: Some clinical features of serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection. Vet. Rec. 117:101-104.

- Glosser, J. W., Sulzer, C. R., Reynolds, G. C. and Whitsett, D. K. 1974. Isolation of leptospiral serotype <u>szwajizak</u> from dairy cattle in Oregon. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 78:119-125.
- Gregoire, N., Higgins, R. and Robinson, Y. 1987. Isolation of leptospires from nephritic kidneys of beef cattle at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 48:370-371.
- Hanson, L. E. 1974. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 78:136-139.
- Hanson, L. E. 1984. Bovine leptospirosis and infertility. Proc. Am. Assoc. Bovine Pract. 16:159-162.
- Hanson, L. E. and Brodie, B. O. 1967. <u>Leptospira hardjo</u> infections in cattle. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 71:210-215.
- Hanson, L. E., Ellinghausen, H. C. and Marlowe, R. 1964. Isolation of <u>Leptospira grippotyphosa</u> from a cow following an abortion. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 117:495-497.
- Hanson, L. E., Schnurrenberger, P. R., Marshall, R. B. and Sherrick, G. W. 1965. Leptospiral serotypes in Illinois cattle and swine. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 69:164-169.
- Hodges, R. T. and Day, A. M. 1987. Bovine leptospirosis: The effects of vaccination on serological responses as determined by complement fixation and microscopic agglutination tests. N. Z. Vet. J. 35:61-64.
- Hodges, R. T. and Ris, D. R. 1974. Complement fixing and agglutinating antibody responses and leptospiruria in calves inoculated with <u>Leptospira</u> serotypes <u>pomona</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, <u>copenhageni</u>, or <u>ballum</u>. N. Z. Vet. J. 22:25-30.
- Johnson, R. C. and Rogers, P. 1964. 5-Fluorouracil as a selective agent for growth of leptospirae. J. Bacteriol. 87:422-426.
- Kirkbride, C. A. and Halley, L. 1982. Immunofluorescent and ELISA techniques as aids in diagnosing bovine leptospirosis. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 25:345-356.
- Kmety, E., Galton, M. M. and Sulzer, C. R. 1970. Further standardization of the agglutinin-absorption test in the serology of leptospires. Bull. Wld. Health Org. 42:733-738.
- LeFebvre, R. B., Foley, J. W. and Thiermann, A. B. 1985. Rapid and simplified protocol for isolation and characterization of leptospiral chromosomal DNA for taxonomy and diagnosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 22: 606-608.

- Lyle, W. E. 1967. Leptospirosis serology in Wisconsin cattle and swine. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 71:206-209.
- Maestrone, G. 1963. The use of an improved fluorescent antibody procedure in the demonstration of leptospira in animal tissues. Can. J. Comp. Med. Vet. Sci. 27:108-112.
- Miller, D. A. 1985. National Reference Center for Leptospirosis. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 28:313-320.
- Miller, D. A. 1986. National Reference Center for Leptospirosis: Summary of diagnostic activities Sept. 1, 1985 - Aug. 31, 1986. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 90:207-216.
- Miller, D. A., Wilson, M. A. and Kirkbride, C. A. 1989a. Evaluation of leptospira fluorescent antibody conjugates for general diagnostic use. J. Vet. Diag. Invest. 1: in press.
- Miller, D. A., Wilson, M. A. and Beran, G. W. 1989b. Part I The effect of transportation time on isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> from bovine kidneys. *In* The prevalence of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States. M. S. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, IA.
- Minette, H. P. 1964. Leptospirosis in rodents and mongooses on the Island of Hawaii. Am. J. Trop. Med. 13:826-832.
- Moojen, V., Roberts, A. W. and Carter, G. R. 1983. Microbial causes of abortion in Michigan. Vet. Med. Sm. Anim. Clin. 78:102-106.
- Morter, R. L. 1980. Serology in cattle vaccinated with leptospirosis bacterins. Mod. Vet. Pract. 61:611-614.
- National Veterinary Services Laboratories. 1987. Microtiter technique for detection of leptospira antibodies. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 91: 65-73.
- Nelson, K. E., Ager, E. A., Galton, M. M., Gillespie, R. W. and Sulzer, C. R. 1973. An outbreak of leptospirosis in Washington state. Am. J. Epidemiol. 98:336-347.
- Nervig, R. M., Beran, G. W. and Hill, H. T. 1980. Bovine Leptospirosis in Iowa: A serological survey. Iowa State Vet. 51:62-64.
- Orr, H. S. and Little, T. W. A. 1979. Isolation of leptospira of the serotype <u>hardjo</u> from bovine kidneys. Res. Vet. Sci. 27:343-346.
- Prescott, J. F., Miller, R. B., Nicholson, V. M., Martin, S. W. and Lesnick, T. 1988. Seroprevalence and association with abortion of leptospirosis in cattle in Ontario. Can. J. Vet. Res. 52:210-215.

- Ris, D. R. and Hamel, K. L. 1982. An unusual response in cattle after use of a commercial leptospiral combined <u>hardjo-pomona</u> vaccine. N. Z. Vet. J. 30:115-116.
- Roth, E. E. and Galton, M. M. 1960. Isolation and identification of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> from cattle in Louisiana. Am. J. Vet. Res. 21:422-427.
- Rubin, H. L. 1977. Serological incidence of leptospirosis in Florida cattle. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 81:197-200.
- Ruedy, D. D., Lindauer, R. L. and Lindauer, E. E. 1964. <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> survey. Am. J. Vet. Res. 25:273-274.
- Schnurrenberger, P. R., Hanson, L. E. and Martin, R. J. 1970. Leptospirosis: Long-term surveillance on an Illinois farm. Am. J. Epidemiol. 92:223-239.
- Skilbeck, N. W., Forsyth, W. M. and Dohnt, M. 1988. Bovine leptospirosis: Microbiological and histological findings in cattle at slaughter. Aust. Vet. J. 65:73-75.
- Smith, R. E., Reynolds, I. M. and Clark, G. W. 1967. Immunofluorescence in the diagnosis of bovine fetal leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 57:517-526.
- Smith, R. E., Reynolds, I. M., Clark, G. W. and Milbury, J. A. 1972. Bovine Leptospirosis in Massachusetts. Research Bulletin No. 600. University of Massachusetts at Amherst College of Food and Natural Resources, Agricultural Experiment Station. 30 pp.
- Songer, J. G., Chilelli, C. J., Marshall, M. M., Noon, T. H. and Meyer, R. 1983. Serologic survey for leptospirosis in Arizona beef cattle in 1981. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:1763-1764.
- Stoenner, H. G. 1975. Summary report on the 1975 survey for leptospirosis in the United States. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 79:145-149.
- Stringfellow, D. A., Brown, R. R., Hanson, L. E. and Schnurrenberger, P. R. 1983. Can antibody responses in cattle vaccinated with a multivalent leptospiral bacterin interfere with serologic diagnosis of disease? J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 182:165-167.
- Sulzer, C. R. and Jones, W. L. 1980. Leptospirosis: Methods in Laboratory Diagnosis. (Revised edition). Publication no. (CDC)80-8275. Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA. 40 pp.
- Sulzer, C. R., Shotts, E. B., Olsen, C. D., Galton, M. M. and Stewart, M. A. 1964. Leptospirosis due to serotype <u>hardjo</u> in cattle. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 144:888-890.

- Thiermann, A. B. 1983. Bovine leptospirosis: Bacteriologic versus serologic diagnosis of cows at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:2244-2245.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1984. Leptospirosis: Current developments and trends. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 184:722-725.
- Thiermann, A. B., McClellan, R. D. and Hill, H. T. 1984. Improved techniques for the isolation of leptospires from swine abortion cases. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 27:233-244.
- Thiermann, A. B., Handsaker, A. L., Moseley, S. L. and Kingscote, B. 1985. New method for classification of leptospiral isolates belonging to serogroup Pomona by restriction endonuclease analysis: serovar <u>kennewicki</u>. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:585-587.
- Thiermann, A. B., Handsaker, A. L., Foley, J. W., White, F. H. and Kingscote, B. F. 1986. Reclassification of North American leptospiral isolates belonging to serogroups Mini and Sejroe by restriction endonuclease analysis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 47:61-66.
- Turner, L. W., Roberts, C. S., Wiggins, A. M., Alexander, A. D. and Murphy, L. C. 1958. <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> infection in a newborn calf. Am. J. Vet. Res. 19:780-784.
- White, F. H., Sulzer, C. R. and Engel, R. W. 1982. Isolations of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>balcanica</u>, and <u>pomona</u> from cattle at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 43:1172-1173.

PART III RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> PREVALENCE RATES IN CATTLE AND REGIONAL, CLIMATIC, AND SEASONAL FACTORS RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> PREVALENCE RATES IN CATTLE AND REGIONAL, CLIMATIC, AND SEASONAL FACTORS

D. A. Miller, DVM, M. A. Wilson, BS, and G. W. Beran, DVM, PhD

From the National Veterinary Services Laboratories, Science and Technology, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture, Ames, IA 50010 (Miller, Wilson), and the Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Preventive Medicine, College of Veterinary Medicine, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011 (Beran).

SUMMARY

The distribution of <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovars and prevalence rates based on serological and cultural results from mature cattle were compared by state and region of the United States. Relationships between isolation rates and time of collection, mean temperature, and mean precipitation were examined. Isolation rates and seropositive rates were significantly higher for Southeastern, South Central, and Pacific Coastal Regions. The <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A, <u>kennewicki</u>, and <u>grippotyphosa</u> isolates appeared to be randomly distributed. The <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B isolates came from a southern area of the country from Georgia to New Mexico. This report is believed to contain the first recorded isolation of serovar <u>hardjo</u> from Hawaii. Although no significant relationship was demonstrated between isolation rates and month or season of the year, seroprevalence rates for summer, fall, and winter were significantly higher than for spring. Regional isolation rates were related more to mean temperature than to mean precipitation levels.

INTRODUCTION

Environmental factors have been frequently shown to influence the occurrence of leptospirosis (Torten, 1979). In addition to direct contact, transmission of leptospirosis may occur through exposure to infective materials in environments which permit survival of leptospires (Ellis, 1986). Generally, the survival of pathogenic leptospires outside the host requires a warm, moist environment with a pH that is near neutral (Michna, 1970; Ellis, 1986). Direct sunlight, dessication, and high salinity are rapidly detrimental to leptospires (Michna, 1970). Survival of serovar pomona has been demonstrated for 42 days in soil under simulated winter conditions (Hellstrom and Marshall, 1978), 183 days in wet soil, and 94 days in river water (Okazaki and Ringen, 1957). Other studies have demonstrated significant variation in length of survival of various serovars depending on the pH of soil or water (Smith and Self, 1955; Smith and Turner, 1961). Leptospires can survive longer in areas with high moisture and abundant vegetation than in areas with low moisture and little shade to protect them from direct sunlight (Karaseva et al., 1973). Areas of high rainfall and high levels of subsurface water and areas near the equator have become endemic zones (Torten, 1979). Kingscote (1970) observed that leptospirosis was more common in areas with clay soil, and correlated the prevalence of leptospirosis with the type of underlying bedrock in different areas of Canada. The purpose of the present study was to examine the relationships between leptospira serological and cultural prevalence rates

in cattle and regional, climatic, and seasonal factors in the United States.
MATERIALS AND METHODS

The methods of sample collection, cultural and serological techniques, and identification of isolates used in a survey to estimate the prevalence of <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States have been described (Miller et al., 1989). For purposes of this study, all sera which exhibited a microscopic agglutination test (MAT) titer \geq 100 against one or more of 12 L. interrogans serovars were considered positive.

Data from the previous survey were used to determine the state of origin and the month in which samples were collected. Isolation rates were calculated by dividing the number of isolates by the total number of samples per month, season of the year, and state of origin. For purposes of this study, the seasons were considered to be March through May (Spring), June through August (Summer), September through November (Fall), and December through February (Winter). Regional prevalence rates were determined by the sums of serological and cultural results from individual states.

Cultural and serological prevalence rates by month, season, and region were compared in chi-square tests of independence. Correlation coefficients (r) were calculated to examine the relationships between regional isolation rates and 55-year averages of mean temperature (Anonymous, 1986*a*) and mean precipitation (Anonymous, 1986*b*) (Table 1). Student's t tests were used to determine the significance of correlation coefficient values.

Region	Mean Temperature (degrees F)	Mean Precipitation (inches)		
Northeastern	46.93	41.27		
North Central	45.02	22.79		
Southeastern	62.23	51.05		
South Central	61.84	33.97		
Northern Plains	48.89	36.04		
Rocky Mountain	48.60	13.45		
Pacific Coastal	53.50	26.96		

Table 1. Mean temperature and precipitation by region^{a,b}

^aAnonymous, 1986a.

^bAnonymous, 1986b.

RESULTS

Significantly higher percentages of positive samples were seen in sera from Southeastern, South Central, and Pacific Coastal Regions than from Northeastern, North Central, Northern Plains, and Rocky Mountain Regions of the United States (p < .001) (Figure 1). Seropositive rates for summer, fall, and winter were significantly higher than for spring (p < .001) (Table 3).

Leptospires were isolated from samples from 27 (55%) of the 49 states from which samples were received. The ll <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B isolates came from a southern area of the United States including Georgia, Mississippi, Louisiana, Texas, Oklahoma, Kansas, and New Mexico. The more common <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A isolates (62) did not appear to be distributed according to any particular pattern, but originated from 24 states including Hawaii. The <u>kennewicki</u> types A and B and serovar <u>grippotyphosa</u> isolates also appeared to be randomly distributed (Figure 2). Among states from which 50 or more samples were received, isolation rates above the mean of this group (2.3%) were obtained from Oklahoma, Washington, Missouri, Tennessee, Virginia, Kentucky, Oregon, Alabama, Louisiana, Texas, and Georgia. A summary of the number of isolates and isolation rates by state of origin is presented in Table 2. Isolation rates were significantly higher for the South Central, Southeastern, and Pacific Coastal Regions than for other regions of the United States (p < .001) (Figure 3).

The isolation rate was highest from samples collected in October (2.7%) and lowest from samples collected in May (0.7%) (Figure 4). Isolation rates were higher from samples collected in summer and fall than in winter and spring (Table 3). Forty-four (50%) of the isolates were obtained from samples collected between July and October. Differences in isolation rates by month and season were not significant.

There appeared to be a linear relationship between isolation rates and mean regional temperatures (r = .83; p < .05), but a similar relationship was not apparent between isolation rates and mean regional precipitation levels (r = .34).



Figure 1. Leptospira seroprevalence by region



Figure 2. Distribution of isolates by serovar and state

. No les Isola 2 4 1 2 1 1	o. Isolat ates Rate 2.9 1.9 1.4 2.7 ¹ 0.8	(%)
les Isola 2 4 1 2 1 1	ates Rate 2.9 1.9 1.4 2.7 ¹ 0.8	(%)
2 4 1 2 1 1	2.9 1.9 1.4 2.7	
4 1 2 1 1	1.9 1.4 2.7	
1 2 1 1	1.4 2.7 ¹	
2 1 1	2.7	
1	0.8	
1	0.8	
	0.0	
1	0.5	
3	1.8	
4	3.1	
2	2.9	
1	1.1	
7	3.7	
4	1.8	
1	1.6	
2	1.0	
8	4.3	
2	3.0	
4	2.0	
4	2.0	
4	3.4	
16	2.8	
	1	c
2	1	0
2 1		
2 1 2	3.2	
2 1 2 4	3.2 4.0	
2 1 2 4 4	3.2 4.0 1.1	
2 1 2 4 4 1	3.2 4.0 1.1	D
	2	

Table 2. Number of isolates and isolation rates by state of origin

 $^{\rm a}{\rm Less}$ than 50 samples received from these states.

^bInsufficient data for accurate estimates.







Figure 4. Isolation rates by month

Season	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter
Isolation				
Rate (%)	1.1	1.9	2.3	1.5
Seropositive				
Rate (%)	41.4	51.7	49.3	51.5

Table 3. Isolation rates and seropositive rates by season of the year

DISCUSSION

The high seropositive rate in the Southeastern Region of the country observed in this study has been previously recognized (Cole et al., 1972; Rubin, 1977), and was equaled or exceeded only by the South Central and Pacific Coastal Regions.

Findings in the present study were in agreement with those of Thiermann et al. (1986), who observed that <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type A was the most common serovar <u>hardjo</u> isolate in North America. The type A isolates seemed to be randomly distributed throughout the country, including one isolate from Hawaii. Although the closely related serovar <u>sejroe</u> has been isolated in Hawaii (Minette, 1964), this is believed to be the first reported isolation of serovar <u>hardjo</u> from that state. All of the <u>hardjo-bovis</u> type B isolates came from states in a southern area of the country from Georgia to New Mexico. Thiermann et al. (1986) also reported evidence that type B occurred in the southern part of the United States in their description of serovar <u>hardjo</u> isolates from Florida. In the present study, no pattern of distribution was apparent for serovar <u>kennewicki</u> or <u>grippotyphosa</u> isolates.

Although 50% of the isolates were recovered from samples collected between July and October and isolation rates for the summer-fall period were higher than for the winter-spring period, differences were not statistically significant. However, the significantly higher seropositive rates of summer, fall, and winter compared to spring indicated some seasonal influence on prevalence rates. It might be expected that more cattle would

become infected in warmer seasons of the year when conditions are favorable for survival of leptospires in surface water and animal waste (Michna, 1970; Ellis, 1986). Once cattle become infected, they may retain their renal carrier status for months or years (Thiermann, 1982) and leptospira infection may be detected by sampling chronic carriers during any season of the year.

Isolation rates appeared to be related more to regional temperature than to precipitation levels. The Southeastern, South Central, and Pacific Coastal Regions of the United States are recognized as areas of higher mean temperature (Anonymous, 1986*a*) and isolation rates for these regions were significantly higher than for other regions. No significant relationship was apparent between isolation rates and mean regional precipitation levels. Torten (1979) suggested that high levels of precipitation were not required for the occurrence of leptospirosis in his observation that oases in arid lands and deserts may become well-defined endemic zones by introduction of carrier animals.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous. 1986a. State, regional, and national monthly and annual temperature weighted by area for the contiguous United States, January 1931-December 1985. Historical Climatology Series 4-1. National Climatic Data Center, Asheville, NC. 72 pp.
- Anonymous. 1986b. State, regional, and national monthly and annual precipitation weighted by area for the contiguous United States, January 1931-December 1985. Historical Climatology Series 4-2. National Climatic Data Center, Asheville, NC. 72 pp.
- Cole, J. R., Pursell, A. R. and Peckham, J. C. 1972. Serologic incidence of leptospirosis in Georgia cattle. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 76: 635-644.
- Ellis, W. A. 1986. Leptospirosis. J. Sm. Anim. Pract. 27:683-691.
- Hellstrom, J. S. and Marshall, R. B. 1978. Survival of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>pomona</u> in an acidic soil under simulated New Zealand field conditions. Res. Vet. Sci. 25:29-33.
- Karaseva, E. V., Chernukha, Y. G. and Piskunova, L. A. 1973. Results of studying the time of survival of pathogenic <u>Leptospira</u> under natural conditions. J. Hyg. Epidemiol. Microbiol. Immunol. 17:339-345.
- Kingscote, B. F. 1970. Correlation of bedrock type with the geography of leptospirosis. Can. J. Comp. Med. 34:31-37.
- Michna, S. W. 1970. Leptospirosis. Vet. Rec. 86:484-496.
- Miller, D. A., Wilson, M. A. and Beran, G. W. 1989. Part II A survey to estimate the prevalence of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States. *In* The prevalence of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> infection in mature cattle in the United States. M. S. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, IA.
- Minette, H. P. 1964. Leptospirosis in rodents and mongooses on the island of Hawaii. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 13:826-832.
- Okazaki, W. and Ringen, L. M. 1957. Some effects of various environmental conditions on the survival of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona. Am. J. Vet. Res. 18: 219-223.
- Rubin, H. L. 1977. Serological incidence of leptospirosis in Florida cattle. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 81:197-200.
- Smith, C. E. G. and Turner, L. H. 1961. The effect of pH on the survival of leptospires in water. Bull. Wld. Health Org. 24:35-43.

- Smith, D. J. W. and Self, H. R. M. 1955. Observations on the survival of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>australis</u> A in soil and water. J. Hyg.(Cambridge) 53: 436-444.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1982. Experimental leptospiral infections in pregnant cattle with organisms of the Hebdomadis serogroup. Am. J. Vet. Res. 43:780-784.
- Thiermann, A. B., Handsaker, A. L., Foley, J. W., White, F. H. and Kingscote, B. F. 1986. Reclassification of North American leptospiral isolates belonging to serogroups Mini and Sejroe by restriction endonuclease analysis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 47:61-66.
- Torten, M. 1979. Leptospirosis. Pp. 363-421. In J. H. Steele, H. Stoenner, W. Kaplan and M. Torten, eds. CRC Handbook Series in Zoonoses. Section A: Bacterial, Rickettsial and Mycotic Diseases. Vol. 1. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

GENERAL SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

The isolation of leptospires from 90 to 95% of bovine kidney tissues held under refrigeration in transport medium provided a basis for the methods of sample collection and submission for the prevalence survey. The difference between isolation rates from naturally and experimentally infected cattle was believed to be due to a lack of uniform distribution of leptospires in chronically infected kidneys. Since the sampling methods resulted in isolation of leptospires from 83% of naturally infected kidney tissues, it was expected that the same percentage would be detected in kidney tissues collected at random by the same methods in the prevalence survey. Based on this hypothesis, the 1.7% isolation rate would represent 83% of the total number of infected cattle, which would be 2%. This is the infection rate actually detected by the combination of cultural and FAT results.

Samples were collected from Federally inspected slaughter plants for two reasons: (1) most cattle are slaughtered in Federally inspected plants, and (2) the FSIS agency provided a network of communication with all plants under its authority and had the necessary data for plants in operation and number of cattle slaughtered. Less than 7% of mature cattle slaughtered in 1986 were slaughtered in state-inspected plants (Federal-State Relations Staff, FSIS, Washington, DC, personal communication, 1988) and these plants had no effective communication system in the form of a central organization. The state of origin of each animal sampled in the prevalence survey was taken from backtag and eartag numbers or the IIC's records, and in very few cases were there doubts as to the state of origin of a particular animal. In those cases, the location of the slaughter plant was used as the state of origin.

The high rate of seropositives detected in the survey and the predominance of antibodies against serovar hardjo have been previously recognized. Although the vaccination history of cattle was unknown, many of the seropositives were believed to be due to residual antibodies from vaccination since companion tissue samples were neither culture- nor FATpositive. Cross-reactivity among serovars was apparent in the reaction of some sera with as many as nine antigens. Serovars hardjo, pomona, and grippotyphosa have been previously recognized as bovine pathogens. The overall infection rate of 2%, the identification of 83% of the isolates as serovar hardjo, the regional distribution of isolates, and the isolation of serovar hardjo from Hawaii have not been previously reported. No relationship between infection rates and ages of cattle was apparent. The recognition that all isolates differed from the reference serovars may provide valuable information for epidemiological studies and selection of antigens for serological tests and bacterin production. Identification of isolates with the REA method not only saved 50% in time required, but allowed the identification of subtypes within recognized serovars.

Historically, leptospirosis has occurred more frequently in humans and animals in areas of high rainfall and temperature. The results of this study are in partial agreement. Mean temperature appeared to be useful in predicting which regions of the country would have higher infection rates.

Although higher infection rates were detected in some regions with higher mean rainfall levels, mean precipitation alone was not an accurate predictor of infection rates. Although the seroprevalence rates for summer, fall, and winter were significantly higher than for spring, no significant differences were detected in isolation rates among samples collected in different months or seasons of the year.

Future studies should be directed toward the estimation of prevalence and identification of serovars in swine, horses, and wildlife, the chain of transmission between wildlife carriers and domestic animals, and a more specific serological test for diagnostic and surveillance purposes.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adler, B., Murphy, A. M., Locarnini, S. A. and Faine, S. 1980. Detection of specific anti-leptospiral immunoglobulins M and G in human serum by solid-phase enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 11: 452-457.
- Adler, B., Faine, S. and Gordon, L. M. 1981. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) as a serological test for detecting antibodies against <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> in sheep. Aust. Vet. J. 57:414-417.
- Adler, B., Cousins, D. V., Faine, S. and Robertson, G. M. 1982. Bovine IgM and IgG response to <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> as measured by enzyme immunoassay. Vet. Microbiol. 7:577-585.
- Adler, B., Faine, S., Christopher, W. L. and Chappell, R. J. 1986. Development of an improved selective medium for isolation of leptospires from clinical material. Vet. Microbiol. 12:377-381.
- Ainsworth, A. J., Lester, T. L. and Capley, G. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies to <u>Leptospira</u> interrogans serovar pomona. Can. J. Comp. Med. 49:202-204.
- Alexander, A. D. 1985. <u>Leptospira</u>. Pp. 473-478. In E. H. Lennette, A. Balows, W. J. Hausler and H. J. Shadomy, eds. Manual of Clinical Microbiology. 4th edition. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC.
- Alexander, A. D. and Rule, P. L. 1986. Penicillins, cephalosporins, and tetracyclines in treatment of hamsters with fatal leptospirosis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 30:835-839.
- Alexander, A. D., Stoenner, H. G., Wood, G. E. and Byrne, R. J. 1962. A new pathogenic <u>Leptospira</u>, not readily cultivated. J. Bacteriol. 83: 754-760.
- Alston, J. M. and Broom, J. C. 1958. Leptospirosis in Man and Animals. E. and S. Livingstone, Edinburgh, Scotland. 367 pp.
- Amatredjo, A. and Campbell, R. S. 1975. Bovine leptospirosis. Vet. Bull. 43:875-891.
- Arimitsu, Y., Kobayashi, S., Akama, K. and Matuhasi, T. 1982. Development of a simple serological method for diagnosing leptospirosis: A microcapsule agglutination test. J. Clin. Microbiol. 15:835-841.

- Aycardi, E., Rivera, B., Torres, B. and De Bohorquez, V. 1982. Experimental infection with a <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> strain isolated from cattle of the eastern plains of Colombia. Vet. Microbiol. 7:545-550.
- Babudieri, B. 1958. Animal reservoirs of leptospires. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 70:393-413.
- Babudieri, B. 1961. Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis. Bull. Wld. Health Org. 24:45-58.
- Babudieri, B. 1971. Proposed standardization of the agglutinationadsorption test for Leptospira. Bull. Wld. Health Org. 44:795-810.
- Bahaman, A. R., Marshall, R. B. and Hellstrom, J. S. 1984. A serological study of bovine leptospirosis in the district of Taranaki. N. Z. Vet. J. 32:134-136.
- Bahaman, A. R., Ibrahim, A. L. and Adam, H. 1987. Serological prevalence of leptospiral infection in domestic animals in West Malaysia. Epidemiol. Infect. 99:379-392.
- Baker, J. A. and Little, R. B. 1948. Leptospirosis in cattle. J. Exp. Med. 88:295-307.
- Baldwin, C. J. and Atkins, C. E. 1987. Leptospirosis in dogs. Comp. Cont. Educ. Pract. Vet. 9:499-507.
- Ballard, S. A., Adler, B., Millar, B. D., Chappel, R. J., Jones, R. T. and Faine, S. 1984. The immunoglobulin response of swine following experimental infection with <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>pomona</u>. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 256:510-517.
- Banfi, E., Cinco, M., Delia, S., Castagnari, L., Vullo, V., Mastroianni, C. M. and Contini, C. 1984. New trends in the rapid serodiagnosis of leptospirosis. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 257:503-507.
- Berg, H. C. and Turner, L. 1979. Movement of microorganisms in viscous environments. Nature 278:349-351.
- Berman, S. J., Tsai, C., Holmes, K., Fresh, J. W. and Watten, R. H. 1973. Sporadic anicteric leptospirosis in South Vietnam. Ann. Int. Med. 79: 167-173.
- Bey, R. F. and Johnson, R. C. 1978a. Humoral immune response of dogs vaccinated with leptospiral pentavalent outer envelope and whole culture vaccines. Am. J. Vet. Res. 39:831-836.
- Bey, R. F. and Johnson, R. C. 1978b. Humoral immune responses of cattle vaccinated with leptospiral pentavalent outer envelope and whole culture vaccines. Am. J. Vet. Res. 39:1109-1114.

- Bey, R. F. and Johnson, R. C. 1978c. Protein-free and low-protein media for the cultivation of <u>Leptospira</u>. Infect. Immun. 19:562-569.
- Biancifiori, F. and Cardaras, P. 1983. Enzyme-linked immunoassay in the diagnosis of leptospirosis in domestic animals using peroxidaseconjugated protein-A. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 6:57-65.
- Boerner, F. and Lukens, M. 1941. A complement fixation technic for the diagnosis of Weil's disease. Am. J. Med. Technol. 7:194-201.
- Boulanger, P. and Robertson, A. 1961. Fluorescein-labeled antibody technique for the demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona. Can. J. Comp. Med. Vet. Sci. 25:299-306.
- Bowdoin, C. D. 1942. A new disease entity(?). J. Med. Assoc. Georgia 31: 437-442.
- Bragger, J. M. and Adler, B. 1976. A card test for the serodiagnosis of human leptospirosis. J. Clin. Pathol. 29:198-202.
- Braun, J. L. 1961. Epidemiology of leptospirosis in Iowa: A study of sporadic and epidemic cases. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 138:532-536.
- Bridges, C. H. 1958. Bovine fetal leptospirosis. Southwestern Vet. 12: 271-274.
- Broughton, E. S. and Flack, L. E. 1986. The susceptibility of a strain of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serogroup Icterohaemorrhagiae to amoxycillin, erythromycin, lincomycin, tetracycline, oxytetracycline, and minocycline. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 261:425-431.
- Bryans, J. T. 1955. Studies on equine leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 45: 16-50.
- Burdin, M. L. 1963. Renal histopathology of leptospirosis caused by <u>Leptospira</u> <u>grippotyphosa</u> in farm animals in Kenya. Res. Vet. Sci. 4: 423-430.
- Calero, C. M., Reinhard, K. R. and Owen, C. R. 1957. Leptospirosis of man in the Isthmus of Panama. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 6:1054-1060.
- Cameron, G. L. 1977. The susceptibility of New Zealand isolates of <u>Leptospira</u> to three antibiotics. N. Z. Med. J. 86:93-94.
- Carbrey, E. A. and Packer, R. A. 1961. The detection of antibody against <u>Leptospira</u> pomona in composite herd milk samples. Am. J. Vet. Res. 22: 573-579.

- Carlos, R. S., Medina, C. S., Dumag, P. U. and Topacio, T. M. 1979. Serological incidence of leptospirosis and leptospiral serotypes among livestock farms. Int. J. Zoonoses 6:61-65.
- Carter, P. L. and Ryan, T. J. 1975. New microtechnique for the leptospiral microscopic agglutination test. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2:474-477.
- Carter, M. E., Cordes, D. O., Holland, J. T., Lewis, S. F. and Lake, D. E. 1982. Leptospirosis: II. Investigation of clinical disease in dairy cattle in the Waikato district of New Zealand. N. Z. Vet. J. 30:136-140.
- Cockburn, T. A., Vavra, J. D., Spencer, S. S., Dann, J. R., Peterson, L. J. and Reinhard, K. R. 1954. Human leptospirosis associated with a swimming pool, diagnosed after eleven years. Am. J. Hyg. 60:1-7.
- Coffin, D. L. and Maestrone, G. 1962. Detection of leptospires by fluorescent antibody. Am. J. Vet. Res. 23:159-164.
- Coghlan, J. D. and Kmety, E. 1987. A new serovar <u>mogdeni</u> of serogroup Tarassovi of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> isolated from a sewage plant in England. Epidemiol. Infect. 99:373-377.
- Cole, J. R., Sulzer, C. R. and Pursell, A. R. 1973. Improved microtechnique for the leptospiral microscopic agglutination test. Appl. Microbiol. 25:976-980.
- Cole, J. R., Ellinghausen, H. C. and Rubin, H. L. 1979. Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis of domestic animals: Microscopic agglutination microtiter procedure. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 83:189-195.
- Cole, J. R., Sangster, L. T., Sulzer, C. R., Pursell, A. R. and Ellinghausen, H. C. 1982. Infections with <u>Encephalitozoon</u> <u>cuniculi</u> and <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovars <u>grippotyphosa</u> and <u>ballum</u>, in a kennel of foxhounds. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 180:435-437.
- Cook, J. E., Coles, E. H., Garner, F. M. and Luna, L. G. 1971. Using scrapings from formalin-fixed tissues to diagnose leptospirosis by fluorescent-antibody techniques. Stain Technol. 46:271-274.
- Cook, J. E., Coles, E. H. and Garner, F. M. 1972. Detecting leptospires in formalin-fixed hamster tissues by fluorescent antibody techniques. Am. J. Vet. Res. 33:277-282.
- Cordes, D. O., Carter, M. E., Townsend, K. G., Lewis, S. F. and Holland, J. T. S. 1982. Leptospirosis: I. Clinical investigation of the infection in dairy cattle in the Waikato district of New Zealand. N. Z. Vet. J. 30:122-124.

- Cousineau, J. G. and McKiel, J. A. 1961. In vitro sensitivity of <u>Leptospira</u> to various antimicrobial agents. Can. J. Microbiol. 7:751-758.
- Cousins, D. V., Robertson, G. M. and Hustas, L. 1985. The use of the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to detect the IgM and IgG antibody response to <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>pomona</u>, and tarassovi in cattle. Vet. Microbiol. 10:439-450.
- Cox, C. D. 1955. Hemolysis of sheep erythrocytes sensitized with leptospiral extracts. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 90:610-615.
- Cox, C. D. and Larson, A. D. 1957. Colonial growth of leptospirae. J. Bacteriol. 73:587-589.
- Cursons, R. T. and Pyke, P. A. 1981. Diffusion in gel-enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay: A new serological test for leptospirosis. J. Clin. Pathol. 34:1128-1131.
- Daniels, W. B. and Grennan, H. A. 1943. Pretibial fever. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 122:361-365.
- David, R. and Barkay, S. 1976. Anterior uveitis and leptospirosis. Ann. Ophthalmol. 8:958-962.
- Dawe, D. L., Schotts, E. B., Brown, J. and Sulzer, C. R. 1976. Comparison of microscopic agglutination, passive hemagglutination and serum neutralization tests for the detection of leptospira antibodies. Proc. Int. Pig Vet. Soc. 4:DD8.
- Deas, W. 1981. Non-brucella abortion in cattle. In Practice 3(2):14-19.
- DeLange, J. F., Gummow, B., Turner, G. V. and Redman, A. R. 1987. The isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>pomona</u> and related serological findings associated with a mixed farming unit in the Transvaal. Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res. 54:119-121.
- Diesch, S. L. 1971. Survival of leptospires in cattle manure. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 159:1513-1517.
- Diesch, S. L. 1980. Leptospirosis vaccination and titer evaluation. Mod. Vet. Pract. 61:905-908.
- Diesch, S. L., McCulloch, W. F., Crawford, R. P., Bennett, P. C. and Braun, J. L. 1967. Epidemiologic studies of <u>Leptospira grippotyphosa</u> and <u>Leptospira hardjo</u> infections in Iowa cattle. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 71:195-205.

- Durfee, P. T. and Allen, J. D. 1980. Serological titres of dairy cows over a 63-week period following natural infection with <u>Leptospira</u> interrogans serovar hardjo. Aust. Vet. J. 56:574-579.
- Edwards, G. A. and Domm, B. M. 1966. Leptospirosis: Part II. Med. Times 94:1086-1095.
- Elder, J. K., Pepper, P. M., Hill, M. W. and Ward, W. H. 1985. The significance of leptospiral titres associated with bovine abortion. Aust. Vet. J. 62:258-262.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1973. Growth temperatures, virulence, survival, and nutrition of leptospires. J. Med. Microbiol. 6:487-497.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1975. Variable factors influencing the isolation of leptospires involving culture ingredients and testing. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 79:126-141.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1979. Laboratory practices involving the leptospiral microscopic agglutination microtiter test. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 83:163-179.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. 1982. Growth, cultural characteristics, and antibacterial sensitivity of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>. Cornell Vet. 73:225-239.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. and McCullough, W. G. 1965. Nutrition of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>pomona</u> and growth of 13 other serotypes: Fractionation of oleic albumin complex and a medium of bovine albumin and polysorbate 80. Am. J. Vet. Res. 26:45-51.
- Ellinghausen, H. C. and Painter, G. M. 1976. Growth, survival, stability, and virulence of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serotype <u>canicola</u>. J. Med. Microbiol. 9:29-37.
- Elliott, K. G. 1988. A simple step to enhance the demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> in Young's Warthin-Starry technique. Stain Technol. 63:122-124.
- Ellis, W. A. 1986. Leptospirosis. J. Sm. Anim. Pract. 27:683-692.
- Ellis, W. A. and Michna, S. W. 1976. Bovine leptospirosis: A serological and clinical study. Vet. Rec. 99:387-391.
- Ellis, W. A. and Michna, S. W. 1977. Bovine leptospirosis: Experimental infection of pregnant heifers with a strain belonging to the Hebdomadis serogroup. Res. Vet. Sci. 22:229-236.

- Ellis, W. A. and Thiermann, A. B. 1986. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>bratislava</u> from sows in Iowa. Am. J. Vet. Res. 47:1458-1460.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J. and Cassells, J. 1981. Role of cattle in the maintenance of <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serotype <u>hardjo</u> infection in Northern Ireland. Vet. Rec. 108:555-557.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Neill, S. D. and Hanna, J. 1982a. Bovine leptospirosis: Serological findings in aborting cows. Vet. Rec. 110: 178-180.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Neill, S. D., Ferguson, H. W. and Hanna, J. 1982b. Bovine leptospirosis: Microbiological and serological findings in aborted fetuses. Vet. Rec. 110:147-150.
- Ellis, W. A., McParland, P. J., Bryson, D. G. and McNulty, M. S. 1985*a*. Leptospires in pig urogenital tracts and fetuses. Vet. Rec. 117:66-67.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Cassells, J. A., Neill, S. D. and Hanna, J. 1985b. Excretion of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> following calving. Res. Vet. Sci. 39:296-298.
- Ellis, W. A., O'Brien, J. J., Bryson, D. G. and Mackie, D. P. 1985c. Bovine leptospirosis: Some clinical features of serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection. Vet. Rec. 117:101-104.
- Ellis, W. A., Montgomery, J. and Cassells, J. A. 1985d. Dihydrostreptomycin treatment of bovine carriers of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar hardjo. Res. Vet. Sci. 39:292-295.
- Everard, C. O. R., Sulzer, C. R., Bhagwandin, L. J., Fraser-Chanpong, G. M. and James, A. C. 1980. Pathogenic leptospira isolates from the Caribbean islands of Trinidad, Grenada, and St. Vincent. Int. J. Zoonoses 7:90-100.
- Everard, C. O. R., Edwards, C. N., Webb, G. B., White, H. S. and Nicholson, G. D. 1984. The prevalence of severe leptospirosis among humans on Barbados. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 78:596-603.
- Faine, S. 1965. Silver staining of spirochaetes in single tissue sections. J. Clin. Pathol. 18:381-382.
- Faine, S. 1982. Guidelines for the Control of Leptospirosis. Publ. No. 67. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. 171 pp.
- Faine, S. and Stallman, N. D. 1982. Amended descriptions of the Genus <u>Leptospira</u> Noguchi 1917 and the Species <u>L. interrogans</u> (Stimson 1907) Wenyon 1926 and <u>L. biflexa</u> (Wolbach and Binger 1914) Noguchi 1918. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 32:461-463.

- Faine, S., Adler, B., Christopher, W. and Valentine, R. 1984. Fatal congenital human leptospirosis. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 257:548.
- Fairbrother, J. M. 1984. Serological interrelationship of <u>Leptospira</u> serovar and genus-specific antigens by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 20:1089-1093.
- Fairbrother, J. M. 1985a. Antibody response to genus- and serovarspecific leptospiral antigens in <u>Leptospira</u>-infected cows. Am. J. Vet. Res. 46:1422-1426.
- Fairbrother, J. M. 1985b. Effects of autolysis of tissue and urine on the viability, morphology, and antigenicity of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar pomona. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:189-194.
- Flint, S. H. and Liardet, D. M. 1980. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> interrogans serovar hardjo from bovine urine. N. Z. Vet. J. 28:55.
- Freund, S. 1947. Leptospirosis in cattle in Palestine. J. Comp. Pathol. 57:62-66.
- Galton, M. M. 1966. Leptospiral serotype distribution lists according to host and geographic area. Center for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA. Pp. 4-23.
- Galton, M. M., Powers, D. K., Hall, A. D. and Cornell, R. G. 1958. A rapid macroscopic-slide screening test for the serodiagnosis of leptospirosis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 19:505-512.
- Galton, M. M., Sulzer, C. R., Santa Rosa, C. A. and Fields, M. J. 1965. Application of a microtechnique to the agglutination test for leptospiral antibodies. Appl. Microbiol. 13:81-85.
- Giestfield, J. G. 1975. Leptospirosis in the United States, 1971-1973. J. Infect. Dis. 131:743-745.
- Gillespie, R. W. and Ryno, J. 1963. Epidemiology of leptospirosis. Am. J. Publ. Health 53:950-955.
- Glosser, J. W., Sulzer, C. R., Reynolds, G. C. and Whitsett, D. K. 1974. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> serotype <u>szwajizak</u> from dairy cattle in Oregon. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 78:119-125.
- Gochenour, W. S., Smadel, J. E., Jackson, E. B., Evans, L. B. and Yager, R. H. 1952. Leptospiral etiology of Ft. Bragg fever. Publ. Health Rep. 67:811-813.
- Gochenour, W. S., Yager, R. H., Wetmore, P. W. and Hightower, J. A. 1953. Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis. Am. J. Publ. Health 43:405-410.

- Goley, A. F., Alexander, A. D., Thiel, J. F. and Chappell, V. E. 1960. A case of human infection with <u>Leptospira mini georgia</u>. Publ. Hlth. Rep. 75:922-924.
- Gorman, G. W., McKeever, S. and Grimes, R. D. 1962. Leptospirosis in wild mammals from southwestern Georgia. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 11:518-524.
- Gregoire, N., Higgins, R. and Robinson, Y. 1987. Isolation of leptospires from nephritic kidneys of beef cattle at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 48:370-371.
- Hadlow, W. J. and Stoenner, H. G. 1955. Histopathological findings in cows naturally infected with <u>Leptospira</u> pomona. Am. J. Vet. Res. 16: 45-56.
- Hale, J. M. and Cathey, C. W. 1958. <u>Leptospira pomona</u>. J. Okla. Med. Assoc. 51:470-472.
- Hancock, G. A., Wilks, C. R., Kotiw, M. and Allen, J. D. 1984. Leptospiruria in cattle exposed to natural challenge with <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar hardjo. Aust. Vet. J. 61:54-56.
- Hanson, L. E. 1973. Immunologic problems in bovine leptospirosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 163:919-921.
- Hanson. L. E. 1976a. Pathogenesis of leptospirosis. Pp. 295-306. In R. C. Johnson, ed. The Biology of Parasitic Spirochetes. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Hanson, L. E. 1976b. Bovine leptospirosis. J. Dairy Sci. 59:1166-1170.
- Hanson, L. E. 1981. Leptospirosis diseases of cattle in the tropics. Pp. 207-223. In M. Ristic and I. McIntyre, eds. Diseases of Cattle in the Tropics. Martinus Nijhoff, Boston, MA.
- Hanson, L. E. 1982. Leptospirosis in domestic animals: The public health perspective. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 181:1505-1509.
- Hanson, L. E. 1984. Bovine leptospirosis and infertility. Proc. Am. Assoc. Bovine Pract. 16:159-162.
- Hanson, L. E., Ellinghausen, H. C. and Marlowe, R. 1964a. Isolation of <u>Leptospira grippotyphosa</u> from a cow following an abortion. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 117:495-497.
- Hanson, L. E., Mansfield, M. E. and Andrews, R. D. 1964b. Epizootiology of enzootic leptospirosis in a cattle herd. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 68:136-146.

- Hanson, L. E., Martin, R. J., Gibbons, R. W. and Schnurrenberger, P. R. 1969. Equine leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 73:169-180.
- Hanson, L. E., Reynolds, H. A. and Evans, L. B. 1971a. Leptospirosis in swine caused by serotype grippotyphosa. Am. J. Vet. Res. 32:855-860.
- Hanson, L. E., Diesch, S., Lyle, W. E., Roberts, C. S., Bishop, J. R., Rosner, S. F., Morter, R. L., Smith, R. E., Stoenner, H. B. and Stalheim, O. H. 1971b. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 75:160-161.
- Hanson, L. E., Tripathy, D. N. and Killinger, A. H. 1972. Current status of leptospirosis immunization in swine and cattle. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 161:1235-1243.
- Hanson, L. E., Tripathy, D. N., Evans, L. B. and Alexander, A. D. 1974. An unusual leptospira, serotype <u>illini</u> (a new serotype). Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 24:355-357.
- Hartman, E. G. 1984. Epidemiological aspects of canine leptospirosis in the Netherlands. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 258:350-359.
- Hartman, E. G., Van Houten, M., Van der Donk, J. A. and Frik, J. F. 1984a. Serodiagnosis of canine leptospirosis by solid-phase enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 7:33-42.
- Hartman, E. G., Van Houten, M, Van der Donk, J. A. and Frik, J. F. 1984b. Determination of specific anti-leptospiral immunoglobulins M and G in sera of experimentally infected dogs by solid-phase enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 7:43-51.
- Hathaway, S. C. and Little, T. W. A. 1983. Epidemiological study of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> infection in second calf dairy cows. Vet. Rec. 112: 215-218.
- Hathaway, S. C., Little, T. W. A., Headlam, S. A. and Stevens, A. E. 1983. Infection of free-living carnivores with leptospires of the Australis serogroup. Vet. Rec. 113:233-235.
- Hathaway, S. C., Marshall, R. B., Little, T. W. A., Headlam, S. A. and Winter, P. J. 1985. Differentiation of reference strains of leptospires of the Pomona serogroup by cross-agglutination absorption and restriction endonuclease analysis. Res. Vet. Sci. 39:145-150.
- Heath, C. W., Alexander, A. D. and Galton, M. M. 1965. Leptospirosis in the United States. N. Engl. J. Med. 273:915-922.

- Herr, S., Riley, A. E., Neser, J. A., Roux, D. and De Lange, J. F. 1982. <u>Leptospira interrogans serovar pomona</u> associated with abortion in cattle: Isolation methods and laboratory animal histopathology. Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res. 49:57-62.
- Higgins, R. and Cayouette, P. 1978. Serological diagnosis of leptospirosis in the Province of Quebec. Can. Vet. J. 19:13-16.
- Higgins, R., Hoquet, F., Marsolais, G., Montpetit, C., Elazhary, Y., Morin, M., Bois, J. M. and Ethier, R. 1981. Diagnostic des avortements infectieux chez les bovins laitiers. Can. J. Comp. Med. 45:159-166.
- Higgins, R. J., Harbourne, J. F., Little, T. W. and Stevens, A. E. 1980. Mastitis and abortion in dairy cattle associated with leptospira of the serotype hardjo. Vet. Rec. 107:307-310.
- Hirschberg, N., Maddry, L. and Hines, M. 1956. Laboratory services in the diagnosis of leptospirosis. Am. J. Publ. Health 46:45-53.
- Hoag, W. G. and Bell, W. B. 1954a. Bovine leptospiral meningitis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 124:379-380.
- Hoag, W. G. and Bell, W. B. 1954b. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona from a bovine eye. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 125:381-382.
- Hoag, W. G., Gochenour, W. S. and Yager, R. H. 1953. Leptospiral macroscopic agglutinating antigens. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 83:490-494.
- Hoare, R. J. and Claxton, P. D. 1972. Observations on <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> infection in New South Wales. Aust. Vet. J. 48:228-232.
- Hodges, R. T. 1973. A complement fixation test for the serological diagnosis of leptospirosis in pigs experimentally infected with serotype pomona. N. Z. Vet. J. 21:1-6.
- Hodges, R. T. 1974. The use of a polyvalent antigen in complement fixation tests for bovine leptospirosis. N. Z. Vet. J. 22:21-24.
- Hodges, R. T. and Carter, M. E. 1979. An evaluation of the semi-automated complement fixation test and the microscopic agglutination test for the serological diagnosis of bovine leptospirosis. N. Z. Vet. J. 27:101-102.
- Hodges, R. T. and Ekdahl, M. O. 1973. Use of a fluorescent antibody technique for the serological differentiation of leptospiral serotypes in cultures and in bovine urine. N. Z. Vet. J. 21:109-115.

- Hodges, R. T. and Ris, D. R. 1974. Complement fixing and agglutinating antibody responses and leptospiruria in calves inoculated with <u>Leptospira</u> serotypes <u>pomona</u>, <u>hardjo</u>, <u>copenhageni</u>, or <u>ballum</u>. N. Z. Vet. J. 22:25-30.
- Hodges, R. T. and Weddell, W. 1977. Adaptation of a complement fixation test for large scale serological diagnosis of bovine leptospirosis. N. Z. Vet. J. 25:261-262.
- Hookey, J. V., Waitkins, S. A. and Palmer, M. 1987. The immunofluorecent detection of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serogroup Icterohaemorrhagiae serovar <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> infections in human tissues. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 4:25-27.
- Hovind-Hougen, K. 1979. Leptospiraceae, a new family to include <u>Leptospira</u> Noguchi 1917 and <u>Leptonema</u> gen. nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 29:245-251.
- Hovind-Hougen, K., Ellis, W. A. and Birch-Andersen, A. 1981. <u>Leptospira</u> <u>parva</u> sp. nov.: Some morphological and biological characters. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 250:343-354.
- Howarth, J. A. 1956. A macroscopic tube-agglutination test for leptospirosis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 17:789-792.
- Huhn, R. G., Claus, K. D. and Macheak, M. E. 1970. Vaccination of cattle with <u>Leptospira</u> pomona bacterins: II. Potency assays using the hamster passive protection test. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 74:178-196.
- Huhn, R. G., Hanson, L. E., Killinger, A. H. and Cardella, M. A. 1975. Immunity to leptospirosis: <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serotype <u>pomona</u> bacterins in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 36:59-65.
- Hussaini, S. N. 1976. A comparative study on the use of whey and serum for microscopic agglutination test for the detection of leptospira antibodies. Br. Vet. J. 132:621-626.
- Inada, R., Ido, Y., Hoki, R., Kaneko, R. and Ito, H. 1916. The etiology, mode of infection, and specific therapy of Weil's disease (Spirochetosis icterohaemorrhagica). J. Exp. Med. 23:377-402.
- Jeghers, H. J., Houghton, J. D. and Foley, J. A. 1934. Weil's disease. Arch. Pathol. 20:447-476.
- Johnson, R. C. and Faine, S. 1984. The Genus <u>Leptospira</u>. Pp. 62-67. In N. R. Kreig and J. G. Holt, eds. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. Vol. 1. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD.

- Johnson, R. C. and Harris, V. G. 1967a. Differentiation of pathogenic and saprophytic leptospires: I. Growth at low temperatures. J. Bacteriol. 94:27-31.
- Johnson, R. C. and Harris, V. G. 1967b. Antileptospiral activity of serum: II. Leptospiral virulence factor. J. Bacteriol. 93:513-519.
- Johnson, R. C. and Muschel, L. H. 1966. Antileptospiral activity of serum: I. Normal and immune serum. J. Bacteriol. 91:1403-1409.
- Johnson, R. C. and Rogers, P. 1964. 5-Fluorouracil as a selective agent for growth of leptospirae. J. Bacteriol. 87:422-426.
- Johnson, R. C. and Sieter, C. 1976. The leptospira and their cultivation: A monograph. Reheis Chemical Co., Phoenix, AZ. 13 pp.
- Johnson, R. C., Walby, J. K., Henry, R. A. and Auran, N. E. 1973. Cultivation of parasitic leptospires: Effect of pyruvate. Appl. Microbiol. 26:118-119.
- Jones, C. J., Taylor, K. D., Myers. D. M., Turner, L. H. and Everard, C. O. 1982. Pathogenic <u>Leptospira</u> isolates from the Caribbean island of Barbados. Int. J. Zoonoses 9:138-146.
- Jones, C. J., Sulzer, K. R., Everard, C. O., Vaughn, A. W. and Innis, V. A. 1984. <u>bim</u>, a new serovar of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> isolated from a dog in Barbados. J. Clin. Microbiol. 19:946.
- Jungherr, E. 1944. Bovine leptospirosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 105: 276-281.
- Kelen, A. E. and Labzoffsky, N. A. 1960. Studies on latex agglutination test for leptospirosis. Can. J. Microbiol. 6:463-473.
- Kiktenko, V. S., Balashov, N. G. and Rodina, V. N. 1976. Leptospirosis infection through insemination of animals. J. Hyg. Epidemiol. Microbiol. Immunol. 20:207-213.
- Killinger, A. H., Taylor, P. L., Huhn, R. G., Hanson, L. E. and Mansfield, M. E. 1976. Immunity to leptospirosis: Renal changes in vaccinated cattle given challenge inoculum. Am. J. Vet. Res. 37:93-94.
- Kingscote, B. 1985a. The diagnosis of <u>Leptospira</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection in cattle in Canada. Can. Vet. J. 26:270-274.
- Kingscote, B. F. 1985b. <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection in cattle in the South Okanagan District of British Columbia. Can. Vet. J. 26:328-332.

- Kirkbride, C. A. 1984. Leptospiral abortion. Pp. 54-76. In C. A. Kirkbride, ed. Laboratory Diagnosis of Abortion in Food Animals. American Association of Veterinary Laboratory Diagnosticians, Madison, WI.
- Kirkbride, C. A. and Halley, L. 1982. Immunofluorescent and ELISA techniques as aids in diagnosing bovine leptospirosis. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 25:345-356.
- Kirkwood, D. and Horning, D. 1923. Spirochetosis icterohaemorrhagica. Vet. Med. 18:936-937.
- Kita, E., Iwata, A. and Takamura, M. 1960. Studies on bovine leptospirosis in Japan: IV. Bovine hemoglobinuria occuring in cattle in the northern part of Hyogo prefecture, and isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>australis</u> A from cattle. Jpn. J. Vet. Sci. 22:259-264.
- Lai, K. N., Aarons, I., Woodroffe, A. J. and Clarkson, A. R. 1982. Renal lesions in leptospirosis. Aust. N. Z. J. Med. 12:276-279.
- Lawrence, J. J. 1955. The lysis of leptospires by antiserum. Aust. J. Exp. Biol. 33:91-102.
- LeFebvre, R. B. 1987. DNA probe for detection of the <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> genotype <u>hardjo-bovis</u>. J. Clin. Microbiol. 25:2236-2238.
- LeFebvre, R. B., Foley, J. W. and Thiermann, A. B. 1985. Rapid and simplified protocol for isolation and characterization of leptospiral chromosomal DNA for taxonomy and diagnosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 22: 606-608.
- LeFebvre, R. B., Thiermann, A. B. and Foley, J. 1987. Genetic and antigenic differences of serologically indistinguishable leptospires of serovar hardjo. J. Clin. Microbiol. 25:2094-2097.
- Lepherd, E. E. 1969. The use of formolised antigen as a screening test for leptospiral antibodies in horses. Aust. Vet. J. 45:46-49.
- Lyle, W. E., Brown, L. N., Bryner, J. H., Hanson, L. E., Kirkbride, C. A. and Larsen, A. B. 1972. Recommended uniform diagnostic procedures for qualifying bulls for the production of semen. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 15:455-473.
- Mackintosh, C. G., Marshall, R. B. and Broughton, E. S. 1980. The use of a <u>hardjo-pomona</u> vaccine to prevent leptospiruria in cattle exposed to natural challenge with <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>. N. Z. Vet. J. 28:174-177.

- Maestrone, G. 1963a. The use of an improved fluorescent antibody procedure in the demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> in animal tissues. Can. J. Comp. Med. Vet. Sci. 27:108-112.
- Maestrone, G. 1963b. Demonstration of leptospiral and viral antigens in formalin-fixed tissues. Nature 197:409-410.
- Mailloux, M., Mazzonelli, J. G. and Dufresne, Y. 1984. Application of an immuno-enzyme technique to titration of antibodies in leptospirosis: ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay). Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 257:511-513.
- Malkin, K. 1984. Enhancement of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>hardjo</u> agglutination titers in sheep and goat serum by heat inactivation. Can. J. Comp. Med. 48:208-210.
- Marshall, R. B. 1976. The route of entry of leptospires into the kidney tubules. J. Med. Microbiol. 9:149-152.
- Marshall, R. B., Wilton, B. E. and Robinson, A. J. 1981. Identification of <u>Leptospira</u> serovars by restriction-endonuclease analysis. J. Med. Microbiol. 14:163-166.
- Martin, R. J., Hanson, L. E. and Schnurrenberger, P. R. 1967. Leptospiral interspecies infections on an Illinois farm. Publ. Health Rep. 82:75-83.
- Martone, W. J. and Kaufmann, A. F. 1979. Leptospirosis in humans in the United States, 1974-1978. J. Infect. Dis. 140:1020-1022.
- Mazzonelli, J. 1984. Advances in bovine leptospirosis. Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epizoot. 3:775-808.
- Mazzonelli, J., De Mazzonelli, G. D. and Mailloux, M. 1984. Evaluation of leptospiral protein-free medium. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 258:27-31.
- McCrumb, F. R., Stockard, J. L., Robinson, C. R., Turner, L. H., Levis, D. G., Maisey, C. W., Kelleher, M. F., Gleiser, C. A. and Smadel, J. E. 1957. Leptspirosis in Malaya: I. Sporadic cases among military and civilian personnel. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 6:238-256.
- McDonald, N. R. and Rudge, J. M. 1957. Prevention of leptospirosis in young calves by vaccinating their dams in late pregnancy. N. Z. Vet. J. 5:83-99.
- Meyer, K. F., Eddie, B. and Stewart-Anderson, B. 1938. Canine, murine, and human leptospirosis in California. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 38: 17-19.

- Michin, N. A. and Azinov, S. A. 1937. [Spirochetal jaundice of cattle in North Caucasus]. Vet. Bull. 7:419 (Abstract).
- Michna, S. W. 1967. Animal leptospirosis in the British Isles. Vet. Rec. 80:394-401.
- Michna, S. W. 1970. Leptospirosis. Vet. Rec. 86:484-496.
- Michna, S. W. and Ellis, W. A. 1973. Incidence of antibodies for leptospirosis in dogs in Glasgow, and a comparison of the conventional (Schuffner's) and rapid microscopical agglutination (RMAT) tests. Vet. Rec. 93:633-634.
- Millar, B. D., Chappel, R. J. and Adler, B. 1987. Detection of leptospires in biological fluids using DNA hybridisation. Vet. Microbiol. 15:71-78.
- Miller, D. A. 1985. National Reference Center for Leptospirosis. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 28:313-320.
- Miller, D. A., Wilson, M. A. and Kirkbride, C. A. 1989. Evaluation of multivalent leptospira fluorescent antibody conjugates for general diagnostic use. J. Vet. Diag. Invest. 1: in press.
- Milner, A. R., Jackson, K. B., Woodruff, K. and Smart, I. J. 1985. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for determining specific immunoglobulin M in infections caused by <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar hardjo. J. Clin. Microbiol. 22:539-542.
- Minette, H. P. 1964. Leptospirosis in rodents and mongooses on the island of Hawaii. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 13:826-832.
- Morris, J. A. and Hussaini, S. N. 1974. Characterization of the antibodies detected by the microscopic agglutination test for bovine leptospirosis. J. Hyg. (Cambridge) 73:425-432.
- Morris, J. A., Gill, J. E. and Hussaini, S. N. 1977. An examination of the antibodies active in the indirect haemagglutination test for bovine leptospirosis. Br. Vet. J. 133:17-24.
- Morter, R. L. 1972. Comments on control of leptospiral infections. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 160:637-639.
- Morter, R. L. 1980. Serology in cattle vaccinated with leptospirosis bacterins. Mod. Vet. Pract. 61:611-614.
- Morter, R. L., Diesch, S., Hanson, L. E., Huddelson, J. F., Ringen, L. M., Roberts, C. S., Smith, R. E., Stalheim, O. H., Stoenner, H. B. and Twiehaus, M. J. 1967. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 71:216-217.

- Morter, R. L., Diesch, S., Hanson, L. E., Huddelson, J. F., Ringen, R. M., Roberts, C. S., Smith, R. F., Stalheim, O. H., Stoenner, H. B. and Twiehaus, M. J. 1968. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Livest, Sanit, Assoc. 72:195-196.
- Moulton, J. E. and Howarth, J. A. 1957. The demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> in hamster kidneys by means of fluorescent antibody. Cornell Vet. 47:524-532.
- Muraschi, T. F. 1958. Latex-leptospiral agglutination test. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 99:235-238.
- Murphy, L. C., Cardeilhac, P. T., Alexander, A. D., Evans, L. B. and Marchwicki, R. H. 1958. Prevalence of agglutinins in canine serums to serotypes other than <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> and <u>Leptospira</u> <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u>: Report of isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona from a dog. Am. J. Vet. Res. 19:145-151.
- Myers, D. M. 1975. Efficacy of combined furazolidone and neomycin in the control of contamination in <u>Leptospira</u> cultures. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 7:666-671.
- National Veterinary Services Laboratories. 1987. Microtiter technique for detection of leptospira antibodies. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 91: 65-73.
- Negi, S. K., Myers, W. L. and Segre, D. 1971a. Antibody response of cattle to <u>Leptospira pomona</u>: I. Development of a hemagglutination test to measure IgG and IgM classes of antibodies. Am. J. Vet. Res. 32:1907-1913.
- Negi, S. K., Myers, W. L. and Segre, D. 1971b. Antibody response of cattle to <u>Leptospira pomona</u>: Response as measured by hemagglutination, microscopic agglutination, and hamster protection tests. Am. J. Vet. Res. 32:1915-1920.
- Nelson, K. E., Ager, E. A., Galton, M. M., Gillespie, R. W. and Sulzer, C. R. 1973. An outbreak of leptospirosis in Washington state. Am. J. Epidemiol. 98:336-347.
- Nervig, R. M. and Garrett, L. A. 1979. Use of furosemide to obtain urine samples for leptospiral isolation. Am. J. Vet. Res. 40:1197-1200.
- Nicolescu, M. and Andreescu, N. 1984. May human leptospirosis develope as a chronic infection? Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 257:531-534.
- Noguchi, H. 1918. Morphological characteristics and nomenclature of <u>Leptospira</u> (<u>Spirocheta</u>) <u>icterohaemorrhagiae</u> (Inada and Ido). J. Exp. Med. 27:575-592.

- Oie, S., Koshiro, A., Konishi, H. and Yoshii, Z. 1986. In vitro evaluation of combined usage of fosfomycin and 5-fluorouracil for selective isolation of Leptospira species. J. Clin. Micobiol. 23:1084-1087.
- Orr, H. S. and Little, T. W. A. 1979. Isolation of leptospira of the serotype hardjo from bovine kidneys. Res. Vet. Sci. 27:343-346.
- Palmer, M., Waitkins, S. A. and Zochowski, W. 1984. Survival of leptospires in commercial blood culture systems. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 257: 480-487.
- Pappas, M. G., Ballou, W. R., Gray, M. R., Takafuji, E. T., Miller, R. N. and Hockmeyer, W. T. 1985. Rapid serodiagnosis of leptospirosis using the IgM-specific DOT-ELISA: Comparison with the microscopic agglutination test. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 34:346-354.
- Pathy, M. S. 1960. Infection with different species of leptospires in husband and wife. J. Clin. Pathol. 13:165-167.
- Podgwaite, G. D., Tourtellotte, M. E., Jacobs, R. E., Helmboldt, C. F., Easterbrooks, H. L., Williams, L. F., Jungherr, E. L. and Plastridge, W. N. 1955. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona from three aborted bovine fetuses. Vet. Med. 50:164-165.
- Pot, A. W. and Dornickx, C. G. J. 1936. The complement fixation test in the diagnosis of Weil's disease. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 43:367-372.
- Prescott, J. F. and Nicholson, V. M. 1988. Antimicrobial drug susceptibility of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> isolated from cattle. Can. J. Vet. Res. 52:286-287.
- Randall, R. and Cooper, H. K. 1944. The golden hamster (<u>Cricetus</u> <u>auratus</u>) as a test animal for the diagnosis of leptospirosis. Science 100:133-134.
- Randall, R., Wetmore, P. W. and Warner, A. R. 1949. Sonic-vibrated leptospirae as antigens in the complement fixation test for the diagnosis of leptospirosis. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 34:1411-1415.
- Rao, A. S. and Murthy, B. S. 1983. Rapid plate test for serodiagnosis of leptospirosis. Indian Vet. J. 60:683-689.
- Redetzke, K. A. and McCann, M. J. 1980. Isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> from desert rodents of west Texas. J. Wildl. Dis. 16:333-337.
- Ris, D. R. 1974. Limitations of the use of 5-fluorouracil as a selective agent for the isolation of leptospirae. Appl. Microbiol. 27:270-271.
- Ris, D. R. and Hamel, K. L. 1978. The detection of leptospirae in cattle urine. N. Z. Vet. J. 26:246,255-256.

- Ris, D. R. and Hamel, K. L. 1982. An unusual serological response in cattle after use of a commercial leptospiral combined <u>hardjo-pomona</u> vaccine. N. Z. Vet. J. 30:115-116.
- Roberts, S. J. 1958. A study of leptospirosis in a large artificial insemination stud. Cornell Vet. 48:363-371.
- Robertson, A. and Boulanger, P. 1963. Comparison of the complement fixation test and the microscopic agglutination test (agglutination-lysis) for the detection of leptospiral serogroup antibodies. Can. J. Comp. Med. Vet. Sci. 27:113-120.
- Robertson, M. H., Clarke, I. R., Coghlan, J. D. and Gill, O. N. 1981. Leptospirosis in trout farmers. Lancet 2:626-627.
- Robinson, A. J., Ramadass, P., Lee, A. and Marshall, R. B. 1982. Differentiation of subtypes within <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>balcanica</u>, and <u>tarassovi</u> by bacterial restriction-endonuclease analysis (BRENDA). J. Med. Microbiol. 15:331-338.
- Rosenberg, B. L. 1951. Canicola fever. Am. J. Med. 11:75-91.
- Roth, E. E. 1964. Leptospirosis in wildlife in the United States. Sci. Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 101:211-218.
- Roth, E. E. and Galton, M. M. 1960. Isolation and identification of <u>Leptospira hardjo</u> from cattle in Louisiana. Am. J. Vet. Res. 21:422-427.
- Roth, E. E., Lindner, D. and Adams, W. V. 1961. The use of agar plates as an aid for the isolation of leptospires. Am. J. Vet. Res. 22:308-312.
- Roth, E. E., Adams, W. V., Sanford, G. E., Greer, B. and Mayeux, P. 1962. <u>Leptospira paidjan</u> (Bataviae serogroup) isolated from nutria in Louisiana. Publ. Health Rep. 77:583-587.
- Rothstein, N. 1957. Studies on the immunochemistry of leptospires: II. Heterogenetic relationship between leptospires and other microorganisms. J. Immunol. 79:276-280.
- Rule, P. L. and Alexander, A. D. 1986. Gellan gum as a substitute for agar in leptospiral media. J. Clin. Microbiol. 23:500-504.
- Ryan, T. J., Marshall, R. B., Edwards, J. D. and Stevenson, B. J. 1977. Isolation of leptospires from the vitreous humor of aborted piglets. N. Z. Vet. J. 25:352.
- Ryan, T. J., Hellstrom, J. S. and Penniket, J. H. 1982. Leptospirosis in dairy farmers: Prevention by vaccination of cattle. N. Z. Vet. J. 30: 107-108.
- Sandhu, T. S. and White, F. H. 1972. Evaluation of a macroscopic plate test and an indirect immunofluorescence test to detect leptospiral antibodies in bovine serum. Can. J. Comp. Med. 36:34-37.
- Santa Rosa, C. A., Sulzer, C. R. and Castro, A. F. 1972. A new leptospiral serotype in the Bataviae group, isolated in Sao Paulo, Brazil. Am. J. Vet. Res. 33:1719-1721.
- Santa Rosa, C. A., Sulzer, C. R., Giorgi, W., da Silva, A. S., Yanaguita, R. M. and Labao, A. O. 1975. Leptospirosis in wildlife in Brazil: Isolation of a new serotype in the Pyrogenes group. Am. J. Vet. Res. 36:1363-1365.
- Schaeffer, M. 1951. Leptospiral meningitis: Investigation of a waterborne epidemic due to L. pomona. J. Clin. Invest. 30:670-671.
- Schmid, G. P., Steere, A. C., Kornblatt, A. N., Kaufmann, A. F., Moss, C. W., Johnson, R. C., Hovind-Hougen, K., and Brenner, D. J. 1986. Newly recognized <u>Leptospira</u> species ("<u>Leptospira</u> <u>inadai</u>" serovar <u>lyme</u>) isolated from human skin. J. Clin. Microbiol. 24:484-486.
- Schnurrenberger, P. L., Hanson, L. E. and Martin, R. J. 1970. Leptospirosis: Long-term surveillance of an Illinois farm. Am. J. Epidemiol. 92: 223-239.
- Schonberg, A. 1983. Growth of 10 <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovars using polyvinylpyrrolidone(PVP)-treated tween in protein-free medium. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 254:540-544.
- Schonberg, A., Caldas, E. M., Sampaio, M. B., Costa, E. and Plank, S. J. 1980. Leptospirin: An intradermic test for the diagnosis of leptospirosis. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. A 247:114-123.
- Schonberg, A., Brem, S., Staak, C. and Kampe, U. 1986. Leptospirosis in the Federal Republic of Germany: Preliminary results of a 1984 animal investigation program. Pp. 205-209. In W. A. Ellis and T. W. A. Little, eds. The Present State of Leptospirosis Diagnosis and Control. Martinus Nijhoff, Boston, MA.
- Schotts, E. B. 1976. Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis. Pp. 209-223. In R. C. Johnson, ed. The Biology of Parasitic Spirochetes. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Schuffner, W. and Mochtar, A. 1926. Microbiology: Experiments on the differential characteristics of <u>Leptospira</u> strains with introductory remarks on the process of agglutination. Proc. K. Ned. Akad. Wet. (Amsterdam) 30:25-32.

- Sheldon, W. H. 1953. Leptospiral antigen demonstrated by the fluorescent antibody technic in human muscle lesions of <u>Leptospira</u> icterohaemorrhagiae. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 84:165-167.
- Shenberg, E. 1967. Growth of pathogenic <u>Leptospira</u> in chemically defined media. J. Bacteriol. 93:1598-1606.
- Shenberg, E., Birnbaum, S., Rodrig, E. and Torten, M. 1977a. Dynamic changes in the epidemiology of canicola fever in Israel. Am. J. Epidemiol. 105:42-48.
- Shenberg, E., Bitnun, S. and Birnbaum, S. H. 1977b. Leptospirosis among dairy workers in the Valley of Jezreel: First recorded isolation of Leptospira hardjo in Israel. Israel J. Med. Sci. 13:377-384.
- Shive, R. J., Green, S. S., Evans, L. B. and Garner, F. M. 1969. Leptospirosis in Barbary Apes (<u>Macaca sylvana</u>). J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 155: 1176-1178.
- Skilbeck, N. W., Forsyth, W. M. and Dohnt, M. 1988. Bovine leptospirosis: Microbiological and histological findings in cattle at slaughter. Aust. Vet. J. 65:73-75.
- Slee, K. J. and Skilbeck, N. W. 1983. Bovine abortion associated with <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> infection. Aust. Vet. J. 60:204-206.
- Sleight, S. D. 1965. The role of penicillin and streptomycin in the prevention of transmission of bovine leptospirosis by artificial insemination. Am. J. Vet. Res. 26:365-368.
- Sleight, S. D., Atallah, O. A. and Steinbauer, D. J. 1964. Experimental Leptospira pomona infection in bulls. Am. J. Vet. Res. 25:1663-1668.
- Smith, R. E. 1973. Comments on bovine leptospirosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 163:921-922.
- Smith, R. E., Hench, E. C. and Reynolds, I. M. 1966. Experimental leptospirosis in pregnant ewes: VI. Immunofluorescence in the diagnosis of fetal leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 56:640-647.
- Smith, R. E., Reynolds, I. M. and Clark, G. W. 1967. Immunofluorescence in the diagnosis of bovine fetal leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 57:517-526.
- Smith, R. E., Reynolds, I. M. and Clark, G. W. 1970. Experimental leptospirosis in pregnant ewes: VII. Pathogenesis of fetal infection and mechanism of abortion. Cornell Vet. 60:40-52.

- Smith, T. F., Wold, A. D., Fairbanks, V. F., Washington, J. A. and Wilkowske, C. J. 1979. Pseudospirochetes, a cause of erroneous diagnoses of leptospirosis. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 72:459-463.
- Solarzano, R. F. 1967. A comparison of the rapid macroscopic slide agglutination test with the microscopic agglutination test for leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 57:239-249.
- Songer, J. G. and Thiermann, A. B. 1988. Leptospirosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 193:1250-1254.
- South, P. J. and Stoenner, H. G. 1974. The control of outbreaks of leptospirosis in beef cattle by simultaneous vaccination and treatment with dihydrostreptomycin. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 78:126-130.
- Spradbrow, P. B. and Seawright, A. A. 1963. <u>Leptospira pomona</u> infection in calves. Aust. Vet. J. 39:423-433.
- Stalheim, O. H. V. 1965. Leptospiral lysis by lipids of renal tissue and milk. J. Bacteriol. 89:545.
- Stalheim, O. H. V. 1969. Chemotherapy of renal leptospirosis in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 30:1317-1323.
- Stalheim., O. H. V. 1976. Chemotherapy and immunization in the control of leptospirosis in domestic animals. Pp. 156-166. In VII Inter-American Meeting on Foot-and-Mouth Disease and Zoonoses Control. Scientific Publication No. 316. Pan American Health Organization, Washington, DC.
- Starbuck, E. B. and Ward, T. G. 1942. Comparison of a recently developed macroscopic agglutination test for the diagnosis of leptospiral jaundice with the standard microscopic test. J. Infect. Dis. 70:88-91.
- Stevens, A. E., Headlam, S. A., Pritchard, D. G., Thorns, C. J. and Morris, J. A. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies for diagnosis of infection with <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u> by immunofluorescence. Vet. Rec. 116:593-594.
- Stiles, W. W. and Sawyer, W. A. 1942. Leptospiral infection (Weil's disease) as an occupational hazard. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 118:34-38.
- Stimson, A. M. 1907. Note on an organism found in yellow-fever tissue. Publ. Health Rep. 22:541.
- Stoenner, H. G. 1953. A capillary-tube test for leptospirosis. Am. J. Hyg. 57:316-327.

- Stoenner, H. G. 1954. Application of the capillary tube test and a newly developed plate test to the serodiagnosis of bovine leptospirosis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 15:434-439.
- Stoenner, H. G. 1972. Application of serologic findings to the diagnosis of leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 76:622-634.
- Stoenner, H. G. 1976. Treatment and control of leptospirosis. Pp. 375-388. In R. C. Johnson, ed. The Biology Of Parasitic Spirochetes. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Stoenner, H. G. and Glosser, J. W. 1975. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 79:142-144.
- Stoenner, H. G., Hadlow, W. J. and Ward, J. K. 1963. Neurologic manifestations of leptospirosis in a dairy cow. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 142: 491-493.
- Stringfellow, D. A., Brown, R. R., Hanson, L. E., Schnurrenberger, P. R. and Johnson, J. 1983. Can antibody responses in cattle vaccinated with a multivalent leptospiral bacterin interfere with serologic diagnosis of disease? J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 182:165-167.
- Stuart, R. D. 1956. The importance of urinary antibodies in the diagnosis of leptospirosis. Can. J. Microbiol. 2:288-297.
- Sulzer, C. R. 1975. Leptospiral serotype distribution lists according to host and geographic area, July 1966 to July 1973. Center for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA.
- Sulzer, C. R. and Jones, W. L. 1973a. A modified semi-micro method for the test for leptospirosis. Health Lab. Sci. 10:13-17.
- Sulzer, C. R. and Jones, W. L. 1973b. Evaluation of a hemagglutination test for human leptospirosis. Appl. Microbiol. 26:655-657.
- Sulzer, C. R. and Jones, W. L. 1980. Leptospirosis: Methods in Laboratory Diagnosis. HEW Publication No. (CDC)80-8275 (revised edition). Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA. 40 pp.
- Sulzer, K., Pope, V. and Rogers, F. 1984. New leptospiral serotypes (serovars) from the Western Hemisphere isolated during 1964 through 1970. Rev. Latinoam. Microbiol. 24:15-17.
- Swart, K. S., Wilks, C. R., Jackson, K. B. and Hayman, J. A. 1983. Human leptospirosis in Victoria. Med. J. Aust. 1:460-463.
- Szatalowicz, F. T., Griffin, T. P. and Stunkard, J. A. 1969. The international dimensions of leptospirosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 155: 2122-2132.

- Szyfres, B. 1976. The problem of leptospirosis in developed and developing countries. Bull. Pan Am. Health Org. 10:110-125.
- Takase, H. and Yanagawa, R. 1988. Opsonic effect of monoclonal antibodies against <u>Leptospira interrogans</u> serovar <u>copenhageni</u>. Vet. Microbiol. 16: 167-180.
- Taylor, P. L., Hanson, L. E. and Simon, J. 1970. Serologic, pathologic, and immunologic features of experimentally induced leptospiral nephritis in dogs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 31:1033-1049.
- TeBrugge, L. A. and Louw, H. N. 1985. Addition of rabbit serum to EMJH medium improves isolation of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>. Onderstepoort J. Vet. Res. 52:53-54.
- Terpstra, W. J., Ligthart, G. S. and Schoone, G. J. 1985. ELISA for the detection of specific IgM and IgG in human leptospirosis. J. Gen. Microbiol. 131:377-385.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1980. Cross-reaction and incomplete cross-protection among leptospires of the Hebdomadis serogroup. Proc. Amer. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 23:263-280.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1981a. The Norway Rat as a selective chronic carrier of Leptospira icterohaemorrhagiae. J. Wildl. Dis. 17:39-43.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1981b. Use of solid medium for isolation of leptospires of the Hebdomadis serogroup from bovine milk and urine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 42:2143-2145.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1982. Experimental leptospiral infections in pregnant cattle with organisms of the Hebdomadis serogroup. Am. J. Vet. Res. 43: 780-784.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1983a. Bovine leptospirosis: Bacteriologic versus serologic diagnosis of cows at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:2244-2245.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1983b. Evaluation of the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) as a new method for serological diagnosis of bovine leptospirosis. Proc. Int. Symp. Vet. Lab. Diag. 3:97-103.
- Thiermann, A. B. 1984. Leptospirosis: Current developments and trends. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 184:722-725.
- Thiermann, A. B. and Ellinghausen, H. C. 1981. Evaluation of different lots of bovine serum albumin, critical component of leptospira isolation medium. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 24:287-298.

- Thiermann, A. B. and Ellis, W. A. 1986. Identification of leptospires of veterinary importance by restriction endonuclease analysis. Pp. 91-104. In W. A. Ellis and T. W. A. Little, eds. The Present State of Leptospirosis Diagnosis and Control. Martinus Nijhoff, Boston, MA.
- Thiermann, A. B. and Garrett, L. A. 1983. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antibodies to <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovars hardjo and pomona in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:884-887.
- Thiermann, A. B., McClellan, R. D. and Hill, H. T. 1984. Improved techniques for the isolation of leptospires from swine abortion cases. Proc. Am. Assoc. Vet. Lab. Diag. 27:233-244.
- Thiermann, A. B., Handsaker, A. L., Moseley, S. L. and Kingscote, B. 1985. New method for classification of leptospiral isolates belonging to serogroup Pomona by restriction endonuclease analysis: serovar <u>kennewicki</u>. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:585-587.
- Thiermann, A. B., Handsaker, A. L., Foley, J. W., White, F. H. and Kingscote, B. F. 1986. Reclassification of North American leptospiral isolates belonging to serogroups Mini and Sejroe by restriction endonuclease analysis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 47:61-66.
- Torten, M. 1979. Leptospirosis. Pp. 363-421. In J. H. Steele, H. Stoenner, W. Kaplan and M. Torten, eds. CRC Handbook Series in Zoonoses. Section A: Bacterial, Rickettsial and Mycotic Diseases. Vol. 1. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Torten, M., Shenberg, E. and Van Der Hoeden, J. 1965. The role of birds in the epidemiology of leptospirosis. Trop. Geogr. Med. 17:353-358.
- Tripathy, D. N., Hanson, L. E. and Krumrey, W. A. 1971. An *in vitro* growth inhibition test for leptospiral neutralization. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 75:138-143.
- Tripathy, D. N., Hanson, L. E., Nervig, R. M., Cardella, M. A. and Mansfield, M. E. 1976. Evaluation of the immune reponse of cattle to single and multiple vaccination with a polyvalent leptospiral bacterin. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 80:173-181.
- Tripathy, D. N., Hanson, L. E. and Jones, F. C. 1980. Growth of Hebdomadis group leptospires in solid medium. Am. J. Vet. Res. 41: 1153-1154.
- Tripathy, D. N., Hanson, L. E., Mansfield, M. E. and Thilsted, J. P. 1981. Pathogenesis of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona in lactating sows and transmission to piglets. Proc. U. S. Anim. Health Assoc. 85:188-191.
- Turner, L. H. 1970. Leptospirosis III: Maintenance, isolation and demonstration of leptospires. Trans. Roy. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 64:623-646.

- Turner, L. W., Roberts, C. S., Wiggins, A. M., Alexander, A. D. and Murphy, L. C. 1958. <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> infection in a newborn calf. Am. J. Vet. Res. 19:780-784.
- Van Der Hoeden, J. 1955. A milk agglutination test in leptospirosis. Cornell Vet. 45:190-192.
- Van Eseltine, W. P., Adams, M. M., Prochazka, J. K. and Wooley, R. E. 1967. Nutritional requirements of leptospirae: II. A chemically defined medium supporting growth of <u>Leptospira pomona</u>. Bull. Georgia Acad. Sci. 25:222-242.
- Van Eys, G. J. J. M., Zaal, J., Schoone, G. J. and Terpstra, W. J. 1988. DNA hybridization with <u>hardjo-bovis</u>-specific recombinant probes as a method for type discrimination of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovar <u>hardjo</u>. J. Gen. Microbiol. 134:567-574.
- Vogel, H. and Hutner, S. H. 1961. Growth of <u>Leptospira</u> in defined media. J. Gen. Microbiol. 26:223-230.
- Wadsworth, A., Langworthy, H. V., Stewart, F. C., Moore, A. C. and Coleman, M. B. 1922. Infectious jaundice occuring in New York state. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 78:1120-1121.
- Waltman, W. D. and Dawe, D. L. 1983. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antileptospiral antibodies in swine sera. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:1120-1122.
- Walton, J. R. 1985. Zoonoses. Pig News Inform. 6:21-24.
- Ward, M. K., McDaniel, M. B., Tatum, H. W., Starr, L. E. and Williams, H. R. 1956. An epidemic of canicola fever in man with the demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> infection in dogs, swine and cattle: II. Laboratory studies. Am. J. Hyg. 64:59-69.
- Watt, G., Padre, L. P., Tuazon, M. L., Calubaquib, C., Santiago, E., Ranoa, C. P. and Laughlin, L. W. 1988. Placebo-controlled trial of intravenous penicillin for severe and late leptospirosis. Lancet 1:433-435.
- White, F. H. and Ristic, M. 1959. Detection of <u>Leptospira pomona</u> in guinea pig and bovine urine with fluorescein-labeled antibody. J. Infect. Dis. 105:118-123.
- White, F. H., Stoliker, H. E. and Galton, M. M. 1961. Detection of leptospires in naturally infected dogs, using fluorescein-labeled antibody. Am. J. Vet. Res. 22:650-654.
- White, F. H., Sulzer, K. R. and Engel, R. W. 1982. Isolations of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>interrogans</u> serovars <u>hardjo</u>, <u>balcanica</u>, and <u>pomona</u> from cattle at slaughter. Am. J. Vet. Res. 43:1172-1173.

- Williams, H. R., Murphy, W. J., McCroan, J. E., Starr, L. E. and Ward, M. K. 1956. An epidemic of canicola fever in man with the demonstration of <u>Leptospira</u> <u>canicola</u> infection in dogs, swine, and cattle. Am. J. Hyg. 64:46-58.
- Winearls, C. G., Chan, L., Coghlan, J. D., Ledingham, J. G. and Oliver, D. O. 1984. Acute renal failure due to leptospirosis: Clinical features and outcome in six cases. Q. J. Med. 212:487-495.
- Wisseman, C. L., Traub, R., Gochenour, W. S., Smadel, J. E. and Lancaster, W. E. 1955. Leptospirosis of man and animals in urban, rural and jungle areas of southeast Asia. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 4:29-40.
- Wolff, J. W. 1954. The Laboratory Diagnosis of Leptospirosis. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL. 99 pp.
- Wooley, R. E. and Van Eseltine, W. P. 1968. Nutritional requirements of leptospirae: IV. Vitamin requirements of <u>Leptospira</u> pomona and its growth in a minimal medium. J. Infect. Dis. 118:206-214.
- Yasuda, P. H., Steigerwalt, A. G., Sulzer, K. R., Kaufmann, A. F., Rogers, F. and Brenner, D. J. 1987. Deoxyribonucleic acid relatedness between serogroups and serovars in the Family Leptospiraceae with proposals for seven new Leptospira species. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 37:407-415.
- York, C. J. 1952. A complement-fixation test for leptospirosis in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 13:117-120.
- York, C. J., Cramer, A. A., Crouse, A. E., George, J. L., Stoenner, H., Tunnicliff, E. A. and Saulman, E. E. 1957. Report of the committee on leptospirosis. Proc. U. S. Livest. Sanit. Assoc. 61:151-157.
- Zygmont, S. M. C. 1981. A study of selected bacteria in wild swine in the southeastern United States and Hawaii. M. S. Thesis. University of Georgia, Athens, GA. 51 pp.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Appreciation is expressed to Drs. R. A. Dappen and C. A. Bolin and Inspectors-in-Charge of the USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service for collection and submission of specimens; M. B. Fetters, Drs. L. V. Salas and L. A. Wilbur, R. A. Rameyer, D. M. Gross, J. L. Bungert and others of the NVSL Biometrics Staff, the Biological Materials Processing Section, C. E. Evans, G. E. Barger, B. E. Lindholm, L. M. Oehlerking, K. L. Janes, and L. L. Perton for technical assistance.